

DOCTORAL THESIS

Envisioning Institutional Pathways for Cosmolocal Production: A Near-future Landscape Through Science and Technology Parks

Nikiforos Tsiouris

TALLINNA TEHNIKAÜLIKOOL TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY TALLINN 2025 TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY DOCTORAL THESIS 3/2025

Envisioning Institutional Pathways for Cosmolocal Production: A Near-future Landscape Through Science and Technology Parks

NIKIFOROS TSIOURIS



TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY School of Business and Governance Ragnar Nurkse Department of Innovation and Governance This dissertation was accepted for the defence of the degree 03/12/2024

Supervisor:	Professor Vasileios Kostakis School of Business and Governance Tallinn University of Technology Tallinn, Estonia
Co-supervisor:	Professor Wolfgang Drechsler School of Business and Governance Tallinn University of Technology Tallinn, Estonia
Opponents:	Professor Dimitrios Dalakoglou Faculty of Social Sciences Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam Amsterdam, The Netherlands
	Professor Petar Jandrić Department of Informatics and Computing Zagreb University of Applied Sciences Zagreb, Croatia

Defence of the thesis: 29/01/2025, Tallinn

Declaration:

Hereby I declare that this doctoral thesis, my original investigation and achievement, submitted for the doctoral degree at Tallinn University of Technology has not been submitted for doctoral or equivalent academic degree.

Nikiforos Tsiouris

signature



Copyright: Nikiforos Tsiouris, 2025 ISSN 2585-6898 (publication) ISBN 978-9916-80-244-1 (publication) ISSN 2585-6901 (PDF) ISBN 978-9916-80-245-8 (PDF) DOI https://doi.org/10.23658/taltech.3/2025 Printed by Koopia Niini & Rauam

Tsiouris, N. (2025). Envisioning Institutional Pathways for Cosmolocal Production: A Near-future Landscape Through Science and Technology Parks [TalTech Press]. https://doi.org/10.23658/taltech.3/2025

TALLINNA TEHNIKAÜLIKOOL DOKTORITÖÖ 3/2025

Kosmolokaalse tootmise institutsionaalsete teede kavandamine: lähituleviku maastik teadus- ja tehnoloogiaparkide kaudu

NIKIFOROS TSIOURIS



Contents

List of publications	6
Author's contribution to the publications	7
Abbreviations	8
Preface	9
Introduction: Scope, aim and structure of the thesis	0
1 Theoretical background 12 1.1 Cosmolocal production in a nutshell 12 1.2 Science and technology park, an institution not without its challenges 13 1.3 Critical futures studies and near-future landscape 15	2 3
2 Methodological approach	6
3 A near-future landscape through science and technology parks203.1 Elements of the near-future landscape223.1.1 Open-source enterprises223.1.2 Makerspace223.1.3 Co-working space223.1.4 Credit union and bank co-op233.1.5 Energy community223.1.6 Agrivoltaic facility243.1.7 Universities and other research-related institutions243.2 Dimensions of the near-future landscape253.2.1 Open-source technologies and convivial innovation253.2.2 Sustainable business and participatory governance263.2.4 Beyond global versus local27	0222333445566
4 Concluding remarks	8
References	0
Acknowledgements	6
Abstract	7
Lühikokkuvõte	8
Appendix	9
Curriculum vitae	7
Elulookirjeldus	8

List of publications

The list of author's publications, on the basis of which the thesis has been prepared:

- I Priavolou, C., Tsiouris, N., Niaros, V., & Kostakis, V. (2021). Towards sustainable construction practices: how to reinvigorate vernacular buildings in the digital era?. *Buildings*, 11(7), 297. ETIS 1.1.
- II Priavolou, C., Troullaki, K., Tsiouris, N., Giotitsas, C., & Kostakis, V. (2022). Tracing sustainable production from a degrowth and localisation perspective: A case of 3D printers. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 376, 134291. ETIS 1.1.
- III Kostakis, V., & **Tsiouris, N.** (2024). How to unite local initiatives for a more sustainable global future. *Sustainable Futures, 7*, 100187. **ETIS 1.1.**
- IV **Tsiouris, N.** (2024). An Alternative Approach to Science and Technology Parks. *Postdigital Science and Education*, 1-16. **ETIS 1.1.**

Author's contribution to the publications

Contribution to the papers in this thesis are:

- I The author of the thesis contributed in this article with insights due to his engineering background and his previous experience with digital technologies in construction. The author was involved in the following processes: writing, reviewing and editing the final manuscript, coordinating the revisions, project administration and visualization.
- II The author of the thesis contributed to the theoretical framework, developing the degrowth and localization aspects of the theory. The author was involved in analysing the data gathered from the interviews and their interpretation, drafting the manuscript and revising the final accepted version.
- III The author of the thesis was responsible for project administration, addressing the reviews and revising the final manuscript. The authors collaborated and combined insights from their fieldwork with grassroots initiatives that organize around the commons.
- IV The author of the thesis was solely responsible for the research design and development, the conduction of case study research, the write-up and revisions of the manuscript and correspondence.

Abbreviations

BIM	Building Information Modelling
CNC	Computer Numerically Controlled
DGML	Design Global, Manufacture Local
FDM	Fused Deposition Modeling
FFF	Fused Filament Fabrication
FOSS	Free and Open-Source Software
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
ICT	Information Communication Technologies
LCA	Life Cycle Assessment
МСТ	Matrix of Convivial Technology
R&D	Research and Development
OBS	Open Building Systems
OCS	Open Construction Systems
STP	Science and Technology Park
3D	Three-dimensional

Preface

Prior to pursuing a doctoral degree in social sciences, I was most recently involved in two different fields: civil engineering and football. However unrelated these two domains may seem, they share a crucial, devastating connection. They are both major contributors to the unprecedented existential crisis humanity is facing. Civil engineering through building construction is one of the most wasteful, polluting and emissions-intensive industries, accounting for 39% of global carbon emissions (Abergel et al., 2017). Similarly, football provides a magnified view, due to its popularity, of the steep socio-economic inequalities that deepen uncontrollably. A prime example is the Qatar 2022 World Cup, which involved corruption scandals, vast environmental damage and social controversies due to the proven exploitation of migrant workers (Paché, 2020).

From day one in engineering school, we were instilled with the idea that engineers are problem-solvers, specialists in providing the optimal cost- and time-efficient solutions for each project. It was as if cost and time were the only objective parameters that mattered. Civil engineering is a vast field, ranging from house construction to highways, bridges, and underwater tunnels. It carries huge implications not only for individuals' lives but for entire societies and their ecosystems. How can such complex and multifaceted issues be reduced to merely a cost- and time-efficiency problem?

Instead of nurturing new generations of engineers to bloom by stimulating critical thinking, engineering schools cultivate a monoculture of 'efficient' project managers – neutral, objective implementers. But humans can be neither neutral nor objective. Engineering practitioners and educators are often fond of the idea that technique is neutral and demands experts who know what needs to be done (Saltelli et al., 2020). Meanwhile, the dense web of trade-offs, conflicting interests and externalities are implicitly ignored or explicitly disregarded (Taleb, 2012).

However, I cannot ignore or disregard issues that largely contribute to the exploitation of humans and all other natural life. This conviction has led me to pursue a PhD in social sciences, where I aim to follow a pathway that makes me part of the solution, not the problem. Through my doctoral research, I seek to understand and address these systemic challenges, though I am not sure how well, if at all, I am fulfilling this purpose. Nevertheless, I will certainly keep trying. After all, even amid grave challenges, we are staggering forward.

Introduction: Scope, aim and structure of the thesis

Our society, under prevalent institutional settings, seems to have reached a point where it is difficult to admit that we do not have a solution for every problem (Guimarães Pereira & Funtowicz, 2015). Evidently though, we have yet to solve the unprecedented environmental and socio-economic challenges that humanity faces, including climate crisis, resource depletion, and deepening global inequalities (Lange et al., 2020; Sovacool et al., 2020). There is now certainty that the prevailing modus operandi of technology development and production models, burdened with profit-maximization, planned obsolescence, and environmentally harmful practices, is exacerbating rather than mitigating these issues (Kostakis et al., 2018; **III**; **IV**). The gravity of this crisis has spurred interest in alternative paradigms that could foster more sustainable and fairer forms of technological innovation.

This thesis was motivated by academic, professional, and social experiences that prompted an exploration of alternative approaches to technology development. Through interactions with diverse communities, it became apparent that such alternatives already exist, leading to the decision to study one in particular. This thesis examines a production configuration that leverages global knowledge to enable communities to fulfill their needs through the co-management of shared resources while minimizing their socio-environmental impact – cosmolocal production (Kostakis 2023a; Troullaki et al., 2022; III). Furthermore, it attempts to outline the contours of an institution that could foster such a configuration: a science and technology park (STP). STPs have traditionally catalyzed technology development by serving as clusters of innovation and multi-stakeholder collaboration (Laspia et al., 2021). They are socio-technical infrastructures where technology, governance, and business converge, making them suitable experimental testbeds for an emerging production configuration.

This thesis is situated within social sciences, specifically in the field of science and technology studies. Its impetus has arisen from the need for sustainable technology development amidst a grave socio-environmental crisis. It focuses on cosmolocal production, which has been investigated in various settings: the construction sector (I), the 3D printers' supply chain (II), and an ecosystem of grassroots initiatives (III). Cosmolocal production embeds multiple elements that have been receiving increasing attention for their sustainability potential, such as open-source technologies, convivial innovation, needs-based design, and localized manufacturing.

At the core of this thesis is cosmolocal production, and one of the main challenges is its uptake at an institutional level. This thesis focuses on positioning cosmolocal production within an institutional setting – specifically, an STP. The choice of STPs derives from participatory action research with a grassroots STP-focused initiative (**IV**). However, STPs are not the final destination of this thesis; they are rather the vehicle to elaborate on the technology, business, and governance implications of cosmolocal production.

Drawing on Ostrom's work (1990; 2010; 2017), I understand an STP as a polycentric institution – a system of governance with multiple centers of decision-making that are formally independent of each other. These decision-making centers operate with some degree of autonomy but also interact under an overarching set of rules (Aligica & Tarko, 2012). STPs fit the description of a polycentric institution due to their multi-stakeholder character and complex inter- and intra-organizational processes and relations (IV).

To outline the contours of cosmolocal production within an STP, I employ the near-future landscape, a device used in critical future studies. These studies call for a

deeper examination of the assumptions, worldviews, and power structures shaping our perceptions of the future (Slaughter, 2002). They emphasize that the future is not predetermined but actively created through our present choices. Future possibilities are shaped by long-standing social patterns and dominant cultural frameworks (Inayatullah, 1998). By surfacing and questioning the deeper layers of the status quo, we can open up new avenues for transformative change. Near-future landscapes create accessible scenarios through visual images, highlighting fundamental choices and outcomes. They may help better grasp the current predicament and identify strategies for addressing it (Bowden, 2021; Slaughter, 1997).

The main research question of this thesis is: How can cosmolocal production be institutionalized to foster sustainable socio-technical futures? Two secondary research questions that contribute to addressing the main one are the following:

- How do the principles of openness and localization in cosmolocal production impact environmental sustainability and technology development? (Articles I, II)
- What institutional arrangements and governance mechanisms could support the development of cosmolocal production? (Article III, IV)

The synthesis of the main findings is situated within broader debates about transitions toward more sustainable socio-technical systems. While acknowledging the challenges of scaling alternative approaches within dominant capitalist frameworks, the thesis argues that they offer promising pathways for technology development better aligned with pressing sustainability imperatives. The main objective is to provide a preliminary, evidence-informed understanding of cosmolocal production's sustainability dynamics in an institutional setting.

The remaining introductory part of the thesis proceeds as follows. Section 2 elaborates on the opportunities and implications of cosmolocal production, examines the institutional nature of an STP and its limitations, and introduces the theoretical tools of critical futures studies and the perspective of near-future landscapes. Section 3 describes the methodological approach and unravels the connections between the four articles. Section 4 illustrates a near-future landscape for STPs, describes its various elements, and delves into its different dimensions. Section 5 summarizes the findings and suggests areas for future research.

1 Theoretical background

1.1 Cosmolocal production in a nutshell

Cosmolocal production represents an emerging production configuration that combines global knowledge sharing with localized manufacturing to address pressing socio-environmental challenges (Kostakis et al., 2023a; III). This approach leverages digital commons and distributed production capabilities to create a more sustainable and equitable mode of economic organization.

At its core, cosmolocal production is grounded in the concept of the commons, i.e., social systems for collectively managing shared resources (Ostrom, 1990). It extends this notion to the digital realm, fostering global communities that collaboratively develop open-source designs, knowledge, and software as part of a digital commons (Kostakis et al., 2023a; **IV**). Simultaneously, physical production occurs locally, considering specific contextual needs and constraints.

This configuration aims to reduce material and energy footprints by enabling communities to produce goods on demand, without outsourcing negative impacts to distant ecosystems (Kostakis et al., 2023a). It utilizes the efficiency of global knowledge networks while preserving the autonomy and resilience of local production systems – an approach termed 'mid-tech' (Kostakis et al., 2023b; III).

Cosmolocal production aligns closely with the concept of conviviality as articulated by Ivan Illich (1973). Conviviality, if translated to the technology realm, emphasizes on sufficiency and creativity, design for affordability and durability, tacit knowledge, capacity building and localization (Ralph, 2021; I, II). By democratising access to knowledge and means of production, communities are enabled to shape tools according to their needs and values (Kostakis et al., 2023a; I, III).

Examples of cosmolocal initiatives span various domains, including open-source agricultural machinery, e.g., L'Atelier Paysan, prosthetics, e.g., OpenBionics, renewable energy systems, e.g., Wind Empowerment and space technologies, e.g., Libre Space Foundation (III). These projects demonstrate how global collaboration could empower local communities to develop appropriate technologies that enhance autonomy, resilience and sustainability.

However, cosmolocal production is not without tensions. While it may reduce reliance on global supply chains, it still depends on large-scale, energy-intensive digital infrastructures such as the Internet (III). Moreover, scaling these initiatives requires navigating complex political and institutional implications. Rather than upscaling, cosmolocal production brings forth how actors actively and deliberately work to reshape the boundaries between scales to better engage with and influence various social, economic, and political processes (Grillitsch et al., 2024; Kostakis et al., 2024b).

As with any emergent phenomenon, new policy and regulatory frameworks are necessary to enable cosmolocal production. This could be assisted by more in-depth case studies of its institutional implications and by the thorough documentation and standardization of its processes (II). But also in the cases of already successful cosmolocal examples, concerns have been raised about these initiatives being co-opted by the prevalent capitalist system (Agrawal, 2002; Bauwens & Jandrić, 2021; IV).

Despite these challenges, cosmolocal production offers a promising pathway towards a more inclusive and sustainable economic model. By fostering a production configuration based on the commons and prioritizing local needs over profit maximization, it suggests a response to the relentlessly growth-oriented logic of capitalist production (Kostakis et al., 2023a; Robra et al., 2020; III). As such, cosmolocal production represents an important area for further research and experimentation in the pursuit of post-growth economic alternatives.



Figure 1: The cosmolocalism structural framework with its functions (e.g., knowledge transfer), spatial dimensions (e.g., local/global, rural/urban), and main fields of activity (e.g., agriculture, digital technologies) (Kostakis et al., 2023a; III).

1.2 Science and technology park, an institution not without its challenges

STPs are multi-stakeholder institutions that aim to enhance regional economic and social impact by promoting innovation and competitiveness among associated businesses and knowledge institutions (Link & Scott, 2007; IASP, 2017). They typically provide specialized infrastructure and services while fostering connections between universities, research institutes, and private organizations.

STPs employ various strategies to support technology and business development. Based on their operational approaches and focus, three distinct types can be identified. Certain STPs are research-oriented, focused on R&D activities. They include research infrastructure such as laboratories for private use and maintain strong ties with universities and research institutes. The second type prioritizes the establishment of collaborations providing shared facilities and extensive amenities. These facilitate partnerships and offer a range of administrative and consulting services. The third approach is business-oriented and its scope is to support startups through business development services, incubation services, and access to investors for funding acquisition (McCarthy et al., 2018, Ng et al., 2019).

The management and organizational structures of STPs have evolved beyond the traditional university-led approach to include various public-private partnership models. While early parks were primarily university initiatives aimed at commercializing research and generating income from land resources, modern STPs often operate under more complex governance structures involving multiple stakeholders from academia, industry, and government (Zhang, 2005). This evolution reflects their expanding role as innovation policy instruments aimed at enhancing regional economic development.

STPs have traditionally aspired to catalyze high-tech innovation and economic growth through the agglomeration and collaboration of research institutions, start-ups, and established technology firms (Laspia et al., 2021). They often focus on rapidly developing high-tech fields like biotechnology, information technology, and advanced materials (UNIDO, 2021; **IV**). While the predominant technology and business development model of STPs has managed to fulfil its purpose to a certain degree, it also indicates significant limitations in terms of social and environmental sustainability.

The conventional STP approach has a narrow focus on high-tech. It emphasizes cutting-edge technology and rapid commercialization which often leads to neglecting other forms of innovation, including social innovation and appropriate technologies adapted to local contexts (Kerschner et al., 2018). The focus on generating high-tech intellectual property and growth-oriented startups often aligns STPs with the dominant economic paradigm that prioritizes private profit over broader social and ecological well-being (IV).

The development of high-tech products often involves resource-intensive processes with significant environmental costs throughout their lifecycles (Lange et al., 2020; Sovacool et al., 2020). Researchers recognize a strong turn to sustainable practices in STPs' strategic policies but still a lacking implementation. Additionally, there is increasing interest from STP administration to become more extroverted toward the local society (da Costa Mineiro et al., 2024). Decision-making and access tend to be restricted to a limited set of stakeholders from academia, industry and government, excluding broader community participation (**IV**). At the same time, benefits tend to accrue mainly to a small group of highly educated knowledge workers, executives and investors (Bakouros et al., 2002; Massey & Wield, 2003).

These limitations suggest the need to reimagine STPs for the future. Research suggests that polycentric systems, characterized by multiple centers of decision-making, could be more effective in addressing complex challenges than centralized approaches (Andersson & Ostrom, 2008; Rothstein, 1998). Applied to STPs, this could mean developing more diverse and inclusive governance structures that involve a wider range of stakeholders, including local communities, civil society organizations and individuals (Ostrom, 2009). This approach resonates with the effectiveness of community-managed resources and the importance of considering multiple scales and outcomes beyond mere economic growth (Benkler, 2006; Ostrom, 1990; Schlager et al., 1994).

Furthermore, a polycentric institution should consider and address the interplay between social and ecological factors (Aligica & Tarko, 2012; Ostrom, 2010). For STPs, this could translate into a greater focus on developing technologies and innovations that address both social and environmental challenges. By incorporating a more decentralized approach, STPs could evolve into more resilient, adaptive, and inclusive institutions.

1.3 Critical futures studies and near-future landscape

Building upon critical futures studies and social constructionist perspectives (Slaughter, 2002), I leverage specific tools from the broader field to explore potential futures for STPs and cosmolocal production. This approach is grounded in the perspective that our external reality is a social construction based on beliefs and worldviews (Slaughter, 2002). Slaughter (1993) argued that future studies methods needed to focus on the inner world of individuals and societies, moving beyond traditional methods such as megatrend analysis and environmental scanning, which often overlook deeper realities.

A particularly useful concept in this context is the near-future landscape (Slaughter, 1997). Near-future landscapes are visual or conceptual representations of possible near-term futures that highlight fundamental choices and outcomes. These accessible scenarios could help stakeholders better grasp current predicaments and identify strategies for addressing them, making them especially valuable in exploring the future of a socio-technical infrastructure such as an STP.

Near-future landscapes illuminate otherwise abstract ideas and summarize a wide range of propositional or interpretative knowledge about the near-term future in ways that can be more clearly comprehended (Bowden, 2021; Slaughter, 1997). When applied to project cosmolocal production within an STP, near-future landscapes can forcefully express particular points of view about potential futures, illustrating areas of danger and opportunity. Similarly to maps, they help us plan ahead, anticipate problems, design strategies, and 'steer' in particular directions (Slaughter, 1997).

By employing near-future landscapes, we can make complex ideas about the future of STPs and cosmolocal production more accessible and engaging to a wider audience. This approach allows us to graphically represent interconnected aspects of the near-future context and portray contrasting forces at work in the technological and social environment. Near-future landscapes attempt to resolve certain limitations of textual representation, albeit imperfectly, yet in ways that are comprehensible to broad sections of the community (Bowden, 2021).

When done well, near-future landscapes can illuminate aspects of possible futures for STPs and cosmolocal production, and then tie these back to assumptions, ways of thinking, and decisions in the present (Slaughter, 2002). This can potentially stimulate wider consideration of challenges and more thoughtful decision-making about the implications of different pathways for STP development and cosmolocal production.

This approach aligns with the critical perspective of this thesis, as it encourages us to question existing assumptions and actively imagine alternative futures. By creating a near-future landscape for STPs that foster a cosmolocal approach, we can explore how these institutions and practices might evolve to foster more sustainable, democratic, and inclusive forms of innovation and production.

Furthermore, by uniting as a professional community and establishing formal structures to legitimize, professionalize, and promote future work, we can develop social foresight capacity (Slaughter, 2003). In the context of STPs and cosmolocal production, as I will later elaborate, this could mean bringing together diverse stakeholders – from academics and policymakers to community members and entrepreneurs – to collectively envision and collaborate towards more sustainable futures.

2 Methodological approach

At the core of this thesis are open-source technologies, cosmolocal production and the commons. I employed a qualitative methodological approach to examine how an institution like STPs could develop a mutually beneficial relationship with the aforementioned emerging phenomena, fostering their culmination while reaping their benefits. My methodology is designed to capture the complexity and diversity of these emerging practices offering an identification of, on the one hand, positive patterns and principles and, on the other hand, acknowledging challenges and limitations. Qualitative methods include semi-structured questionnaires (II, IV), interviews (II, IV), tools such as the Matrix of Convivial Technology (MCT) (I, II), and in-situ observations of relevant practices (III, IV). Throughout my research progression, I drew insights by gathering empirical data and I employed a participatory approach where case participants become contributing researchers and, hence, experts who can contribute to understanding the underlying processes (Reilly, 2010). The anticipated outcome of this methodological approach is the development of nuanced responses to the research questions. These findings are expected to contribute to the "ongoing social dialog about the problems and risks we face and how things may be done differently" (Flyvbjerg, 2001, p. 61).

Article I investigates the sustainability of the construction sector, which is one of the most wasteful, polluting and emissions-intensive industries (Abergel et al., 2017). The article conducts a comprehensive review of the challenges posed by conventional construction practices and assembles the potentialities of open-source convivial technologies and cosmolocal production for the construction sector. On that front, the article builds on three previously investigated cases of open construction systems, i.e. the Hexayurt, the Open Source Ecology Microhouse and the WikiHouse (Priavolou, 2018) and three interlocked elements for conviviality, i.e. modularity, sharing and adaptability (I). Consequently, Article I configures a framework of open construction systems that could foster a more democratic, inclusive and sustainable construction sector. To mitigate the ambiguity entailed in the concept of conviviality, the normative schema of MCT was employed.

Table
1.
Dimensions
and
levels
of
the
MCT
(I).
Adapted
from:

https://www.andrereichel.de/2019/05/20/artificial-intelligence-convivial-technology/.
Image: Conversion of the state of the state

Dimensions Levels	Materials	Production	Use	Infrastructure
Relatedness	Organization distributed	Creative Input	Supports trust/community	Sustains trust/community
	Need-driven	Need-driven	Allows creativity	Connects eco-processes
	Bottom-up control	Bottom-up Control	Creates beauty	Bottom-up control
	Local traditions	Local traditions	Self-determination	Simplifies care
Access	Open	Open	Open	Usable by anyone
	Low cost	Producer-owned	Usable by anyone	Low cost
	Supports skill building	Supports skill building	Local knowledge	Comprehensible
	Comprehensible	Local knowledge	Transforms constraints	Transforms constraints
Adaptability	Everyday tools	Everyday tools	Repairable by skill	Repairable by skill
	Small scale	Small scale	Independent use possible	Locally operable
	Everywhere possible	Permantently changeable	Permanently changeable	Permanently changeable
	Standardized materials	Modular	Encourages diversity	Encourages diversity
Bio-Interaction	Improving soil/water	Improving soil/water	Improving soil/water	Improving soil/water
	Supports clean air	Supports clean air	Supports clean air	Supports clean air
	Biodegradable	Biodegradable	Biodegradable	Biodegradable
	Nonviolent	Nonviolent	Nonviolent	Nonviolent
Appropriateness	Renewable	Frugal material use	Sustains sufficiency	Frugal material use
	Locally available	Standardized tools	Re-used	Sustains sufficiency
	Re-useable	Joyful worktime	Joyful time	Joyful time
	Durable	Byproducts are used	Durable	Local settings

Scaling down from the general, i.e., construction sector, Article II delves into the more specific, i.e., the supply chain of 3D printers. This article examines the production of 3D printers and the sustainability potentialities of the different production processes, ranging from open-source and locally manufactured to industrially produced. Article II makes a comparative assessment of the various production processes focusing on desktop 3D printers, specifically the Fused Filament Fabrication (FFF) technology which is one of the most widely used and commercialized 3D printing applications. First, a literature review of sustainability assessments around the 3D printing technology was conducted, followed by a preliminary round of 12 interviews. The first iteration of interviews with do-it-yourself enthusiasts, individuals from maker communities, and 3D printing enterprises delivered a tentative understanding of the current status at the EU level. The inquiry focused on the manufacturing, use, maintenance and open-source elements of the 3D printers' production process. For the second round of interviews, the study was narrowed down to Greece considering the country-level specificities of technology production and supply chain management. The second round was guided by the MCT tool and consisted of 6 semi-structured interviews with makerspaces and fab labs. The six organizations cover an array of interests and functions:

- 1. A fab lab and MakerBot reseller
- 2. A digital innovation hub for prototyping and education
- 3. A research collective focused on experimentation and education
- 4. A makerspace developing innovative prototypes
- 5. A makerspace offering prototyping and manufacturing services
- 6. An open-source 3D printing company building customisable Prusa i3 variants

Article **II** identifies four key elements differentiating the 3D printer production process, two in the design and two in the manufacturing phase, which emerged from the interviews and complementary discussions and are informed by the literature. The elements are: the type of license; the availability of documentation; the availability of a kit option for local assembly; and the capacity for local manufacturing. The different

studied 3D printer cases are assessed on whether they satisfy these four elements to distinguish hotspots and areas of improvement regarding the sustainability potentialities of cosmolocal production.

After drawing insights into the construction sector and the supply chain of 3D printers, Article III adopts an ecosystemic approach and delves deeper into cosmolocal production building on desk research and experience from the field. The article critically examines existing positivist narratives around technology development such as green growth and ecomodernism, challenging the reliance on high-tech innovations for addressing socio-environmental crises. Drawing knowledge from various fields and integrating diverse strands of thought including political ecology, STS, and sustainability studies, Article III presents a normative framework for technology development based on cosmolocal production. While the article does not employ empirical data or quantitative analysis, the theoretical arguments are grounded on a plethora of paradigmatic cases from the commons realm, illustrating the benefits of cosmolocal production principles in dispersed initiatives around the globe. The methodological approach in Article III allows the exploration of potential future pathways and policy implications. Future research could build on the conceptual foundation in this article and proceed to its empirical validation by further assessing the existing and/or new cases.

Article IV builds on the insights of the previous three articles, projecting them in the confined context of an STP. The study employs an exploratory case study methodology to examine an alternative approach to STPs (Yin, 2009). The research focuses on a grassroots initiative called OpenTechPark-Citizens for Open-Tech in the Region of Epirus, Greece. I adopt a participatory approach to case study research, where case participants contribute as researchers and experts. The study is based on personal observations and interpretations after documenting a year-and-a-half-long public deliberation involving various stakeholders and experts and holding iterative cycles of participant feedback to co-configure a normative framework for a commons-oriented STP, emphasising inclusivity and socio-environmental sustainability.

The cultural background of the researchers involved and the geographic limitations of the study, primarily conducted within the European context, are important factors to acknowledge as they have influenced this thesis. Each issue under examination carries political, economic, and social connotations, which this research project endeavors to comprehend while providing an in-depth analysis. Neglecting the impact of ethical and cultural specificities of different publics in the global arena can lead to significant errors in both research and practice (Saltelli et al., 2020). Consequently, investigating similar initiatives in diverse socio-economic contexts, particularly in non-Western countries, and drawing from a more diverse pool of researchers could yield additional valuable insights and perspectives.

The corpus of publications underpinning this research utilizes a diverse array of theoretical and analytical frameworks, from political ecology and engineering studies to critical technology theory and social sciences. This theoretical pluralism, in conjunction with the synthesis of data derived from case studies, brings forth a comprehensive range of perspectives. Consequently, the thesis does not only contribute to the existing body of knowledge but could also provide foundational elements for future interdisciplinary research and practical applications in sustainable technology and business development (Demaria et al., 2023; Gatto, 2020; Kothari et al., 2019).

Table 2. Overview of the four articles comprising the thesis.

Articles	Methodological approach	Outcome
I, II	Empirical engagement with sustainability issues in two illustrative sectors	Empirical underpinnings of the challenges of cosmolocal production
111	Conceptual engagement with a commons-based technology framework	Cosmolocal production as a configuration to transcend sustainability challenges
IV	Empirical exploration of an STP from a cosmolocal production perspective	Groundwork necessary for cosmolocal production to emerge in an institutional setting

3 A near-future landscape through science and technology parks

STPs have long been viewed as key drivers of innovation and economic development (Lecluyse et al., 2019; Vásquez-Urriago et al., 2016). Emerging at the intersection of academia, industry and government, they aim to foster knowledge transfer, support high-tech entrepreneurship, and stimulate regional growth (Albahari et al., 2017; Xie et al., 2018; Sandoval Hamón et al., 2024). Hundreds of STPs have been developed around the globe since becoming a prevalent paradigm of technology and business development (Sandoval Hamón et al., 2024; IV). However, there is a growing recognition that the prevalent STP model may be inadequate for addressing the complex challenges we face, from climate change and biodiversity loss to rising inequalities and threats to democracy (IV).

This thesis argues that we need to fundamentally rethink the purpose and structure of STPs, and subsequently all of our institutions. Drawing on critical futures studies and polycentric governance, it proposes a more pluralistic vision that moves beyond the focus on high-tech development and profit maximization. Instead, I explore how STPs could embrace and further congeal a cosmolocal framework to become hubs for more democratic, inclusive and sustainable forms of innovation.

Building on investigations of cosmolocal production and the institutional aspect of STPs, this thesis attempts to sketch an alternative near-future landscape through STPs. This vision moves beyond the conventional high-tech, profit-driven model to embrace more polycentric, democratic and sustainable approaches. It aims to illustrate the wider ecosystem of an STP that incorporates desirable and normative dimensions of cosmolocal production. A participatory design approach was employed to create this near-future landscape. Since this representation is inspired within a Western context, it is inherently partial and imperfect, while certain practices and elements discussed may not be universally applicable. However, examining this landscape may bring forth underlying assumptions, values, and expressions of a worldview that could be useful for research and action in other parts of the world (Slaughter, 1997; Slaughter, 2002).

The following near-future landscape (Figure 2) comprises a cosmolocal ecosystem with various interconnected elements that enhance the different technology, business and governance dimensions of STPs. These elements in conjunction with their relevant dimensions do not aim to offer an exhaustive, singular pathway but a more pluralistic configuration that could mitigate present and future challenges. The envisioned cosmolocal STP aims to instigate transformative additions to existing STPs and inspire an alternative approach to the design and implementation of future ones.



Figure 2. Near-future landscape.

3.1 Elements of the near-future landscape

The elements presented below derive from the four articles comprising this thesis (I, II, III, IV) and could carry positive spillovers in an STP context. Similarly to the near-future landscape, the list is partial and imperfect. It can be further enriched and/or modified to more suitably address different needs and conditions.

3.1.1 Open-source enterprises

Open-source enterprises represent an emerging model of organization that challenges conventional business paradigms (Pazaitis & Kostakis, 2022; Robra et al., 2020). They may adopt the form of cooperatives or other organizational structures. These enterprises focus on developing open-source technologies and providing relevant market services. They embody a shift towards more sustainable and democratic approaches to innovation and production (Kostakis et al., 2023a; Robra et al., 2023).

Open-source enterprises emerge from and contribute to digital commons of knowledge, software, and design. They tend to form collaborative networks with other organizations, creating market value around these shared resources while supporting livelihoods for producers of the commons. This approach aligns with the principles of cosmolocal production, combining global knowledge sharing with localized manufacturing (Kostakis et al., 2023a; Troullaki et al., 2022).

In the near-future landscape presented above, open-source enterprises could benefit from the support of shared infrastructures such as makerspaces, co-working spaces, and educational institutions. These spaces could serve as hubs for collaboration, knowledge exchange, and the incubation of new ideas which is integral for the STPs paradigm (Esteves et al., 2021; Lecluyse et al., 2019; **IV**). They facilitate the development and market introduction of open-source innovations, fostering meaningful social relationships and cross-pollination of ideas (Kohtala, 2017; Taylor et al., 2016).

Regarding sustainable technology development, open-source enterprises may focus on producing a broad range of technologies. There are multiple cases to be drawn from fields such as agriculture, energy, prosthetics and space technologies that exemplify the potential of the open-source approach to address pressing socio-environmental challenges (Giotitsas, 2019; Kostakis et al., 2018; III).

3.1.2 Makerspace

Makerspaces represent a key element in the envisioned cosmolocal near-future landscape. These shared infrastructures serve as small-scale workspaces offering access to localized manufacturing technologies, including CNC machines, 3D printers, and various tools for crafting and prototyping (Kohtala, 2017; Niaros et al., 2017; II, III).

Makerspaces have been enablers in community collaboration, knowledge sharing, and localized manufacturing (Kohtala, 2017; Kostakis et al., 2023a; II). They could fulfil functions that are crucial for an STP environment, by serving as hubs for diverse stakeholders, including students, researchers, community members, and organizations, to converge and exchange knowledge, develop informal or formal relationships, and collaborate on creating innovative solutions (Poonjan & Tanner, 2020; IV).

While makerspaces have not yet reached the scale to rival mass production, they have demonstrated significant potential in empowering individuals and communities to create custom devices tailored to local or personal needs (Kohtala, 2017; Taylor et al., 2016; II, III). Makerspaces in the envisioned STP ecosystem would support and coordinate a range

of activities, from educational workshops to maintenance and repair services (Niaros et al., 2017; II, III). Additionally, makerspaces within STPs could facilitate the production of various artefacts to be utilized on-site, e.g., a small-scale wind-turbine or an Arduino smart metre (Kostakis et al., 2024a; Troullaki et al., 2022; III).

3.1.3 Co-working space

A co-working space is a shared professional environment wherein individuals from diverse backgrounds congregate to fulfil their professional duties. This arrangement facilitates economic efficiency and offers opportunities for formal and informal networking thereby promoting interdisciplinary collaboration and the cross-pollination of ideas (Capdevila, 2015). This workspace setting could be appealing to independent researchers, remote employees and location-flexible professionals. Beyond their physical aspect, co-working spaces enable the cultivation of a collaborative community and creates a sense of collective purpose among its constituents (Mitev et al., 2019).

3.1.4 Credit union and bank co-op

Credit unions and bank co-ops are two examples of cooperative financial institutions. Credit unions are not-for-profit member-owned financial cooperatives that operate democratically with each member having an equal vote, and the membership is usually connected with geographic proximity. What differentiates credit unions from bank co-ops is that the latter are for-profit organizations that provide services to both members and non-members (McKillop et al., 2020). Unlike traditional commercial banks, both cooperative financial models do not seek to maximize profits. They try to bolster and secure local economic resilience by channelling surplus earnings back to members through various strategies, e.g., favorable loan rates and higher savings returns (McKillop et al., 2020). Within the STP ecosystem, these cooperative financial institutions could support startups, social enterprises and other initiatives, while also promoting financial literacy among its members. Additionally, as STPs seek to boost sustainable business development and local economic impact (Ratinho & Henriques, 2010; Xie et al., 2018), credit unions and bank co-ops could play an incremental role towards serving this aim (Fiordelisi & Mare, 2014).

3.1.5 Energy community

STPs tend to host organizations that largely depend on digital technologies and infrastructure (Xie et al., 2018; **IV**). These organizations, due to their high-tech nature, often require energy-intensive processes (Lange et al., 2020). Therefore, to satisfy the large energy demand more sustainably, the envisioned cosmolocal STP could include an energy community. The energy community, or energy co-op, is formed by members who collectively self-produce energy, having substantial ownership and control over their energy resources which embodies the principles of cosmolocal production (Kostakis et al., 2024; **III**).

The energy community operates as a commons, a socio-technical system through which stakeholders collectively manage their shared energy resources (Kostakis et al., 2024a; Ostrom, 1990). In the context of STPs, the cooperative could comprise various stakeholders and interested parties, fulfilling both their energy needs and those of the shared infrastructures. It could include small and medium enterprises, civil society organizations, public buildings, and households. The energy community can produce power through multiple means, depending on local context and conditions, ranging from

rooftop solar panels and small-scale water mills to wind turbines, agrivoltaic systems, and biomass facilities.

Beyond energy production, the co-op could engage in energy-saving initiatives, demand-side flexibility and efficiency projects, buildings retrofitting and electric mobility (Kostakis et al., 2024a). To enhance grid flexibility and ensure stability, it could utilize community-owned energy storage systems, facilitate peer-to-peer energy trading, and employ open-source smart energy management systems (Giotitsas et al., 2020; Troullaki et al., 2022).

The energy cooperative model aligns with the principles of energy justice and the goals of STPs in fostering sustainable innovation (Sandoval et al., 2024; **IV**). The emphasis on local, community-owned renewable energy production and democratic governance, energy co-ops can potentially address many of the injustices inherent in conventional, centralized energy systems (Giotitsas et al., 2020).

Within an STP ecosystem, the energy co-op encompasses and collaborates with other elements such as makerspaces and open-source enterprises. This relationship could enable the development and implementation of innovative energy solutions. Also, participation in wider networks of energy cooperatives could create opportunities for knowledge sharing and collective advocacy at national and international levels.

3.1.6 Agrivoltaic facility

The STP's energy co-op could be partially supported by an agrivoltaic facility. Agrivoltaic describes the dual nature that characterizes a plot of land used for both solar energy production and agricultural purposes (Trommsdorff et al., 2021). An agrivoltaic facility opens up many possibilities beyond solely energy production such as food production, establishment of a community garden, livestock feeding and beekeeping. This approach enhances land use efficiency and also demonstrates the potential for integrating renewable energy generation with agricultural activities, addressing multiple sustainability challenges at once.

3.1.7 Universities and other research-related institutions

Universities and other research-related institutions play a crucial role in an STP ecosystem. They serve as centers of innovation, collaboration and knowledge development (Albahari et al., 2017; Link, 2016; Poonjan & Tanner, 2020). The close interconnection of an STP with such institutions potentially creates multiple spillovers for the engaged stakeholders and establishes a mutually favorable relationship (Díez-Vial & Fernández-Olmos, 2015; Vedovello, 1997). Research-related institutions could benefit substantially by collaborating closely with other elements of the STP, such as open-source enterprises and makerspaces, to drive innovation in sustainable technologies and practices. Hence, pursuing not only technical but also socio-technical experiments through a co-creation process with the active engagement of local communities (Trencher et al., 2014; Trencher et al., 2017).

Organizations that cooperate closely with academic and other research institutions are better positioned to benefit from knowledge spillovers, thereby enhancing their innovative capacity (Díez-Vial & Fernández-Olmos, 2015). They develop a mutual understanding which allows stakeholders to more easily identify opportunities and incorporate research-generated knowledge. For instance, entities such as the association of social enterprises or the Open Technologies Alliance, drawn from the Greek context, are included in the cosmolocal near-future landscape because they could serve as nodes for the diffusion of knowledge and enablement of collaborations between stakeholders.

The knowledge transfer occurs not only through formal mechanisms but also through informal encounters and meetings (Poonjan & Tanner, 2020). A complex web of interactions is woven, which enhances a rich ecosystem of knowledge exchange and innovation, benefiting those who actively participate and contribute to this collaborative network.

3.2 Dimensions of the near-future landscape

The dimensions of the near-future landscape touch upon notions that are integral pillars of an STP, i.e., technology, innovation, business, governance and infrastructure (Link & Scott, 2007; McCarthy et al., 2018). It is an attempt to provide a tentative framework that accommodates the inclusion of the elements of the near-future landscape and elaborates on how these elements could prove beneficial in an STP context.

3.2.1 Open-source technologies and convivial innovation

Rather than focusing primarily on proprietary technologies which amplify path dependencies and planned obsolescence, STPs could prioritize the development of open-source hardware and software (IV). The open-source model enables collaborative development and free sharing of designs, which could accelerate innovation while keeping technologies accessible and adaptable (Kostakis et al., 2018; II, III). Technology development strongly resonates with innovation, which dominates public views about growth and future developments (Robra et al., 2023) and is an integral dimension of STPs (Anton-Tejon et al., 2024; Vásquez-Urriago et al., 2016). However, the conventional 'one size fits all' approach often followed in STPs has proven ineffective regarding social and environmental sustainability (Albahari et al., 2023; Hobbs et al., 2017; Tödtling & Trippl, 2005).

Research has shown that open-source technologies enhance innovation, empower communities through collaboration, and strengthen local economic and social impact (Hemel & Larrimore Ouellette, 2018; Robra et al., 2023). Examples can be found across diverse fields, including agriculture, building construction, renewable energy, and space technologies (Giotitsas, 2019; I, III). The benefits of open-source extend beyond technical aspects, influencing business and governance through enhanced conviviality, accessibility, and sustainability (I, II). However, the transition from proprietary to open-source and localized manufacturing faces significant challenges. Open-source encompasses varying degrees of openness, making it difficult to clearly distinguish between what is truly open-source and what is not. This ambiguity creates vulnerability to openwashing and the risk of co-optation by commercial interests (Bauwens & Jandrić, 2021; Pazaitis & Kostakis, 2022; II).

The recognition of open-source technologies has grown substantially across various sectors. Globally renowned media outlets like The Economist and Forbes, but also major consulting corporations such as Deloitte and PricewaterhouseCoopers have acknowledged open-source as a viable alternative to traditional proprietary models (Pazaitis & Kostakis, 2022; IV). Enabling humans to regain a degree of agency and control over the technology they are using, allows for a significant part of the production to be localized and achieve an optimal synthesis between the efficiency of high-tech and the resilience of low-tech solutions (Kostakis et al., 2023b; III).

By fostering convivial innovation, shared resource management, and local production, STPs could become a beacon towards more sustainable and equitable modes of production in the face of current environmental and socioeconomic crises (Robra et al.,

2020; I, II, III). This proposition resonates deeply with multiple elements of the cosmolocal near-future landscape such as the open-source enterprises and the different types of shared infrastructures. For instance, the agrivoltaic facility could serve as a practical demonstration of open-source technologies and convivial innovation within the STP ecosystem. It could provide opportunities for collaborative research, education, and community engagement, further reinforcing the STP's role as a polycentric institution fostering sustainable socio-technical futures through harnessing a pluriverse of alternatives (Demaria et al., 2023; Hemel & Larrimore Ouellette, 2018).

3.2.2 Sustainable business and participatory governance

STPs, influenced by the dominant economic paradigm, have cultivated a monoculture in terms of business development (Hobbs et al., 2017; Laspia et al., 2021; Xie et al., 2018). The cosmolocal near-future landscape suggests a more pluralistic approach could mitigate some challenges while creating opportunities for a more sustainable and inclusive entrepreneurship. To that end, a deep cultural transformation is required, moving away from the notion of business as a profit-maximizing entity and towards the business as a social entity (Nesterova & Buch-Hansen, 2023; Nesterova & Robra, 2022).

STPs, having intrinsically a strong polycentric aspect, comprise a plethora of different stakeholders connected with complex relationships. In the spirit of letting all flowers bloom, an STP could actively support the development of business models that adopt sustainable practices for society and the environment such as social enterprises and cooperatives. While still evolving, such entities focus on resilience, local impact and tend to function more democratically (Pazaitis & Drechsler, 2020; Scholz & Schneider, 2016; **IV**). In the cosmolocal near-future landscape, the various suggested elements, e.g., open-source enterprises, bank co-op, and energy communities, attempt to address burning issues while deploying fairer and more sustainable business practices (Gatto, 2020).

The business side of STPs has significant spillovers also to its governance. Cooperative models tend to adopt participatory governance and organize around social and environmental global issues (Pazaitis et al., 2017). They aim to maximize, not profit, but public value through sharing knowledge and infrastructures (Benkler, 2006; Pazaitis & Drechsler, 2020). Participatory governance is inherent in such entities and, in the context of an STP, it could offer a pathway that mitigates inter- and intra-organizational tensions. Participatory governance permeates all the elements of the near-future landscape, from the management of the shared infrastructures to the interconnection between the multitude of organizations involved in an STP.

The envisioned near-future landscape includes multiple elements which create a welcoming environment and aim to enhance sustainable business and participatory governance. Be it the various co-ops or the governance of shared resources, individuals and communities are urged to be involved in the decision-making as peers, in a less hierarchical manner. Also, through these interactions, the exchange of sustainable business practices and the creation of sustainable business coalitions is facilitated.

3.2.3 Shared infrastructures

Shared infrastructures are physical spaces designed for communal use that play a crucial role in the cosmolocal near-future landscape for STPs. Infrastructures are not merely technical systems but are predominantly social elements that tend to embed deep social needs and interests (Dalakoglou, 2016). These spaces serve multiple functions, acting as meeting points, incubating knowledge exchange, and enabling both formal and informal

relationships. By fostering an environment where people from diverse fields and backgrounds come together to create and innovate, shared infrastructures could become the backbone of a vibrant STP ecosystem (Kostakis et al., 2023a; II, IV).

In the envisioned near-future STP, shared infrastructures could take various forms as depicted in the above-described elements, each serving a specific purpose while contributing to the overall collaborative environment. Other than the makerspace, the co-working space and the agrivoltaic facility described above, an STP could include, for example, a daycare center for the creative engagement of children supporting the work-life balance of individuals. Also, elements such as the bank co-op or the energy community produce a vast amount of data. Therefore, a shared data center could facilitate the storage and management of these data. Not to dismiss of course that data ownership and security are challenging issues that need to be confronted as such by the involved stakeholders. Also, ensuring proper use and maintenance of shared facilities, as well as, the development of an inclusive set of protocols for resource allocation and access could arise as troublesome issues (Kohtala, 2017; Kostakis et al., 2023a; II).

The value of these shared infrastructures extends beyond their practical functions. They could significantly impact the resource intensity of technology development processes by mutualising resources and reducing logistics (I, III). The provision for spaces where diverse stakeholders can interact, experiment, and co-create, can help break down barriers between different disciplines, sectors, and organizations. It is a possible instigator for a more inclusive and resilient approach to technology development and convivial innovation. Shared infrastructures serve as the physical embodiment of the collaborative, open, and sustainable ethos that underpins the cosmolocal approach.

3.2.4 Beyond global versus local

The presented cosmolocal near-future landscape is not confined to the spatial limits of the STP infrastructure. It extends and develops far beyond these limits outlining the contours of an interconnected cosmolocal ecosystem. STPs often adopt an introverted approach, functioning isolated and substantially hindering their local impact and overall effectiveness (da Costa Mineiro et al., 2024; Lecluyse et al., 2019; **IV**).

STPs attempt to address multifaceted, complex problems. The guiding principle of the above-depicted cosmolocal ecosystem is that problems involving multiple levels, e.g., local, regional, national, and global, require contributions to each of these levels (Adler, 2005). To that end, the near-future landscape adopts a polycentric approach and moves beyond the traditional dichotomy of global versus local, acknowledging that while local needs and conditions are integral, they exist within and are influenced by broader networks and systems.

As part of a cosmolocal ecosystem, the STP functions as a nexus, facilitating the flow of knowledge, resources, and innovations across multiple spatial levels. Its boundaries become more fluid and permeable, taking a more distributed, decentralized form. The diverse stakeholders, initiatives, and individuals within the cosmolocal ecosystem engage and communicate, not only within their immediate network but also with similar ecosystems globally (Kostakis et al., 2023a; III). A rich tapestry of interactions is enabled, where local solutions can be shared and adapted across different contexts, and global challenges can be mitigated through coordinated local actions. These interactions are crucial for any institution that aims to interact with its extended environment (Parker, 2023).

4 Concluding remarks

This thesis set out to explore how cosmolocal production could be institutionalized to foster sustainable socio-technical futures, through three key lines of inquiry. First, examining the impact of openness and localization principles on sustainability and technology development. Second, investigating supportive institutional arrangements and governance mechanisms. Third, synthesizing these insights to comprehend broader future institutionalization pathways.

The empirical investigations in construction and 3D printing (Articles I, II) revealed both opportunities and challenges of openness and localization. These principles demonstrated potential for enhancing environmental sustainability through reduced material and energy footprints, enabled by on-demand localized manufacturing and global knowledge sharing. In construction, open-source approaches showed promise for democratizing technology development while incorporating vernacular wisdom. The 3D printing case highlighted how localized manufacturing could reduce supply chain impacts, though dependencies on energy-intensive digital infrastructures remain a challenge.

Regarding institutional arrangements and governance mechanisms (Articles III, IV), the research identified several key elements needed to support cosmolocal production. These include participatory governance structures, shared infrastructures like makerspaces, and cooperative business models that prioritize social and environmental value over profit maximization. The case study of STPs demonstrated how existing institutions could be reimagined to incorporate these elements, though tensions with dominant economic paradigms persist.

The alternative vision for STPs represents one potential pathway for institutionalizing cosmolocal production. It moves beyond conventional high-tech and profit-maximization focus to embrace more democratic and sustainable approaches to technology development. Key institutional features encompass polycentric governance enabling multiple centers of decision-making, shared infrastructures supporting collaborative production, open knowledge commons fostering innovation, local-global linkages facilitating knowledge exchange while preserving autonomy, and cooperative business models prioritizing sustainability.

However, significant challenges remain. Cosmolocal production continues to depend on energy-intensive infrastructures. Questions of scalability and potential co-optation by dominant economic actors require further investigation. Resource intensity and coordination across scales present ongoing limitations that need to be put under scrutiny.

The research suggests several critical factors for successful institutionalization: building supportive policy frameworks, developing standardized processes while maintaining flexibility for local adaptation, creating sustainable funding mechanisms, fostering cultural shifts toward cooperative approaches, and strengthening connections between diverse initiatives. This thesis thus provides a foundation for understanding how cosmolocal production could be institutionally supported while acknowledging implementation challenges. Future research directions include empirical studies of diverse institutional contexts beyond STPs, investigation of policy and regulatory frameworks to enable cosmolocal scaling, analysis of governance mechanisms across different cultural contexts, and assessment of long-term sustainability impacts.

While acknowledging the difficulties of scaling alternative approaches within dominant capitalist frameworks, the thesis demonstrates that cosmolocal production offers promising glimpses into a more sustainable socio-technical development. Through

studying communities actively constructing new paradigms, it provides both theoretical insights and practical guidance for institutional transformation. The research contributes to broader debates about transitions toward sustainable socio-technical systems while offering concrete insights for reimagining institutional frameworks. Though perfect solutions remain elusive, this work illuminates potential pathways forward through careful attention to both opportunities and constraints in fostering more democratic and sustainable modes of production.

References

- Abergel, T., Dean, B., & Dulac, J. (2017). Towards a zero-emission, efficient, and resilient buildings and construction sector: Global Status Report 2017. UN Environment and International Energy Agency: Paris, France, 22.
- Adler, J. H. (2005). Jurisdictional mismatch in environmental federalism. *NYU Envtl. LJ*, 14, 130.
- Agrawal, A. (2002). Common resources and institutional sustainability. *The drama of the commons*, 41-85.
- Albahari, A., Barge-Gil, A., Pérez-Canto, S., & Landoni, P. (2023). The effect of science and technology parks on tenant firms: A literature review. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, *48*(4), 1489-1531. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-022-09949-7</u>.
- Albahari, A., Pérez-Canto, S., Barge-Gil, A., & Modrego, A. (2017). Technology parks versus science parks: Does the university make the difference?. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 116,* 13-28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2016.11.012</u>.
- Aligica, P. D., & Tarko, V. (2012). Polycentricity: from Polanyi to Ostrom, and beyond. *Governance*, 25(2), 237-262. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0491.2011.01550.x</u>.
- Andersson, K. P., & Ostrom, E. (2008). Analyzing decentralized resource regimes from a polycentric perspective. *Policy sciences, 41,* 71-93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11077-007-9055-6</u>.
- Anton-Tejon, M., Barge-Gil, A., Martínez, C., & Albahari, A. (2024). Science and technology parks and their heterogeneous effect on firm innovation. *Journal of Engineering and Technology Management*, 73, 101820. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jengtecman.2024.101820.
- Bakouros, Y. L., Mardas, D. C., & Varsakelis, N. C. (2002). Science park, a high tech fantasy?: an analysis of the science parks of Greece. *Technovation*, 22(2), 123-128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-4972(00)00087-0</u>.
- Bauwens, M., & Jandrić, P. (2021). The seeds of the commons: Peer-to-peer alternatives for planetary survival and justice. *Postdigital Science and Education*, *3*(2), 575-591. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s42438-021-00218-8</u>.
- Benkler, Y. (2006). *The Wealth of Networks: How Social Production Transforms Markets and Freedom*. Yale University Press.
- Bowden, M. (2021). Deepening futures methods to face the civilisational crisis. *Futures*, *132*, 102783. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.futures.2021.102783</u>.
- Capdevila, I. (2015). Co-working spaces and the localised dynamics of innovation in Barcelona. *International journal of innovation management, 19*(03), 1540004. https://doi.org/10.1142/S1363919615400046.
- da Costa Mineiro, A. A., de Castro, C. C., & Amaral, M. G. D. (2024). Who are the actors of quadruple and quintuple helix? Multiple cases in consolidated science and technology parks. *Journal of the Knowledge Economy*, *15*(1), 4691-4709. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13132-023-01184-1.
- Dalakoglou, D. (2016). Anthropology and Infrastructures: from the State to the Commons. https://doi.org/10.1080/13604813.2016.1241524.

- Demaria, F., Kothari, A., Salleh, A., Escobar, A., & Acosta, A. (2023). Post-development: From the Critique of Development to a Pluriverse of Alternatives. In *The Barcelona* School of Ecological Economics and Political Ecology: A Companion in Honour of Joan Martinez-Alier (pp. 59-69). Cham: Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-22566-6 6.
- Díez-Vial, I., & Fernández-Olmos, M. (2015). Knowledge spillovers in science and technology parks: how can firms benefit most?. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 40, 70-84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-013-9329-4</u>.
- Esteves, A. M., Genus, A., Henfrey, T., Penha-Lopes, G., & East, M. (2021). Sustainable entrepreneurship and the Sustainable Development Goals: Community-led initiatives, the social solidarity economy and commons ecologies. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, *30*(3), 1423-1435.
- Fiordelisi, F., & Mare, D. S. (2014). Competition and financial stability in European cooperative banks. *Journal of international money and finance*, 45, 1-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jimonfin.2014.02.008</u>.
- Flyvbjerg, B. (2001). *Making social science matter: Why social inquiry fails and how it can succeed again*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Gatto, A. (2020). A pluralistic approach to economic and business sustainability: A critical meta-synthesis of foundations, metrics, and evidence of human and local development. *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management*, 27(4), 1525-1539. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/csr.1912</u>.
- Giotitsas, C. (2019). Open source agriculture: Grassroots technology in the digital era. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Giotitsas, C., Nardelli, P. H., Kostakis, V., & Narayanan, A. (2020). From private to public governance: The case for reconfiguring energy systems as a commons. *Energy Research & Social Science, 70,* 101737. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2020.101737.
- Grillitsch, M., Asheim, B., Lowe, N., Kelmenson, S., Fünfschilling, L., Lundquist, K. J., ... & Schubert, T. (2024). Rescaling: Change agency and the emerging geography of economic relationships. *Progress in Human Geography*, 03091325241288337. https://doi.org/10.1177/03091325241288337.
- Hemel, D. J., & Larrimore Ouellette, L. (2018). Innovation policy pluralism. *Yale LJ*, *128*, 544.
- Hobbs, K. G., Link, A. N., & Scott, J. T. (2017). Science and technology parks: an annotated and analytical literature review. Journal of Technology Transfer, 42, 957-976. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-016-9522-3</u>.
- IASP, 2017. Definitions. Accessed at. International Association of Science Parks and Areas of Innovation. 29-11-2024. <u>https://www.iasp.ws/Our-industry/Definitions</u>.
- Illich, I. (1973). Tools for conviviality. *Calder and Boyars*.
- Inayatullah, S. (1998). Causal layered analysis: Poststructuralism as method. *Futures*, 30(8), 815-829. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0016-3287(98)00086-X</u>.
- Kerschner, C., Wächter, P., Nierling, L., & Ehlers, M. H. (2018). Degrowth and technology: Towards feasible, viable, appropriate and convivial imaginaries. *Journal of Cleaner Production, 197*, 1619-1636. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.07.147</u>.
- Kohtala, C. (2017). Making "Making" critical: How sustainability is constituted in fab lab ideology. *The Design Journal, 20*(3), 375-394. https://doi.org/10.1080/14606925.2016.1261504.

- Kostakis, V., Giotitsas, C., & Kitsikopoulos, D. (2024a). Envisioning energy futures through visual images: What would a commons-based energy system look like?. *Energy Research & Social Science*, *118*, 103771. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2024.103771.
- Kostakis, V., Latoufis, K., Liarokapis, M., & Bauwens, M. (2018). The convergence of digital commons with local manufacturing from a degrowth perspective: Two illustrative cases. *Journal of Cleaner Production, 197*, 1684-1693. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.09.077</u>.
- Kostakis, V., Lemos, L., & Kouvara, A. (2024b). Another Scalability is Possible! From Non-Scalability to Cosmolocal Scalability. *tripleC: Communication, Capitalism & Critique. Open Access Journal for a Global Sustainable Information Society*, 22(2), 620-629. <u>https://doi.org/10.31269/triplec.v22i2.1535</u>.
- Kostakis, V., Niaros, V., & Giotitsas, C. (2023a). Beyond global versus local: illuminating a cosmolocal framework for convivial technology development. *Sustainability Science*, *18*(5), 2309-2322. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-023-01378-1</u>.
- Kostakis, V., Pazaitis, A., & Liarokapis, M. (2023b). Beyond high-tech versus low-tech: A tentative framework for sustainable urban data governance. *Big Data & Society, 10*(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/20539517231180583</u>.
- Kothari, A., Salleh, A., Escobar, A., Demaria, F., & Acosta Espinosa, A. (2019). Pluriverse: A post-development dictionary. (*No Title*).
- Lange, S., Pohl, J., & Santarius, T. (2020). Digitalization and energy consumption. Does ICT reduce energy demand?. *Ecological economics*, *176*, 106760. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2020.106760</u>.
- Laspia, A., Sansone, G., Landoni, P., Racanelli, D., & Bartezzaghi, E. (2021). The organization of innovation services in science and technology parks: Evidence from a multi-case study analysis in Europe. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 173, 121095. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2021.121095.
- Lecluyse, L., Knockaert, M., & Spithoven, A. (2019). The contribution of science parks: A literature review and future research agenda. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 44, 559-595. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-018-09712-x</u>.
- Link, A. N. (2016). Competitive Advantages from University Research Parks. In D. B. Audretsch, A. N. Link, & M. L. Walshok (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook* of Local Competitiveness (pp. 337–344). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Link, A. N., & Scott, J. T. (2007). The economics of university research parks. *Oxford Review of Economic Policy*, 23(4), 661-674. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oxrep/grm030</u>.
- Massey, D., & Wield, D. (2003). *High-tech fantasies: Science parks in society, science and space*. Routledge.
- McCarthy, I. P., Silvestre, B. S., von Nordenflycht, A., & Breznitz, S. M. (2018). A typology of university research park strategies: What parks do and why it matters. *Journal of Engineering and Technology Management, 47,* 110-122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JENGTECMAN.2018.01.004</u>.
- McKillop, D., French, D., Quinn, B., Sobiech, A. L., & Wilson, J. O. (2020). Cooperative financial institutions: A review of the literature. *International Review of Financial Analysis*, *71*, 101520. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.irfa.2020.101520</u>.

- Mitev, N., De Vaujany, F. X., Laniray, P., Bohas, A., & Fabbri, J. (2019). Co-working spaces, collaborative practices and entrepreneurship. *Collaboration in the digital age: How technology enables individuals, teams and businesses*, 15-43. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-94487-6 2.
- Nesterova, I., & Buch-Hansen, H. (2023). Degrowth and the circular economy: Reflecting on the depth of business circularity. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 414, 137639. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2023.137639.
- Nesterova, I., & Robra, B. (2022). Business in a strongly sustainable society?. *The Role of Business in Global Sustainability Transformations*, 201.
- Ng, W. K. B., Appel-Meulenbroek, R., Cloodt, M., & Arentze, T. (2019). Towards a segmentation of science parks: A typology study on science parks in *Europe.* Research Policy, 48(3), 719-732. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RESPOL.2018.11.004.
- Ng, W. K. B., Appel-Meulenbroek, R., Cloodt, M., & Arentze, T. (2022). Exploring science park location choice: A stated choice experiment among Dutch technology-based firms. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 182,* 121796. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2022.121796.
- Niaros, V., Kostakis, V., & Drechsler, W. (2017). Making (in) the smart city: The emergence of makerspaces. *Telematics and Informatics, 34*(7), 1143-1152. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2017.05.004</u>.
- Ostrom, E. (1990). *Governing the Commons: The Evolution of Institutions for Collective Action*. Cambridge University Press.
- Ostrom, E. (2009). A general framework for analyzing sustainability of social-ecological systems. *Science*, *325*(5939), 419-422. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1172133.
- Ostrom, E. (2010). Beyond markets and states: polycentric governance of complex economic systems. *American economic review*, 100(3), 641-672. https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.100.3.641.
- Ostrom, E. (2017). Polycentric systems for coping with collective action and global environmental change. In *Global justice* (pp. 423-430). Routledge.
- Paché, G. (2020). Sustainability challenges in professional football: The destructive effects of the society of the spectacle. *Journal of Sustainable Development*, *13*(1), 85-96. <u>https://doi.org/10.5539/jsd.v13n1p85</u>.
- Parrique, T., Barth, J., Briens, F., Kerschner, C., Kraus-Polk, A., Kuokkanen, A., & Spangenberg, J. H. (2019). Decoupling debunked. *Evidence and arguments against green growth as a sole strategy for sustainability. A study edited by the European Environment Bureau EEB.*
- Pazaitis, A., & Drechsler, W. (2020). Peer production and state theory: Envisioning a cooperative partner state. In M. O'Neil, C. Pentzold, & S. Toupin (Eds.), *The handbook of peer production* (pp. 359-370). Wiley-Blackwell. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119537151.ch27</u>.
- Pazaitis, A., & Kostakis, V. (2022). Are the most influential websites peer-produced or price-incentivized? Organizing value in the digital economy. *Organization*, 29(4), 757-769. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/13505084211020192</u>.
- Parker, M. (2023). The University Without Walls: space, time and capacities. *Learning and Teaching*, *16*(2), 13-31. <u>https://doi.org/10.3167/latiss.2023.160202</u>.
- Pereira, A. G., & Funtowicz, S. (2015). Science, Philosophy and Sustainability. *The End of the Cartesian dream*. London. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315757902</u>.

- Poonjan, A., & Tanner, A. N. (2020). The role of regional contextual factors for science and technology parks: a conceptual framework. *European Planning Studies*, 28(2), 400-420. https://doi.org/10.1080/09654313.2019.1679093.
- Priavolou, C. (2018). The emergence of open construction systems: A sustainable paradigm in the construction sector?. *Journal of Futures Studies, 23*(2). https://doi.org/10.6531/JFS.201812_23(2).0005.
- Ralph, N. (2021). A conceptual merging of circular economy, degrowth and conviviality design approaches applied to renewable energy technology. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 319, 128549. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.128549</u>.
- Ratinho, T., & Henriques, E. (2010). The role of science parks and business incubators in converging countries: Evidence from Portugal. *Technovation*, 30(4), 278-290. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2009.09.002</u>.
- Reilly, R. C. (2010). Participatory case study. In A. J. Mills, G. Durepos, & E. Wiebe (Eds.), Encyclopedia of case study research (pp. 658-660). Sage.
- Robra, B., Heikkurinen, P., & Nesterova, I. (2020). Commons-based peer production for degrowth?-The case for eco-sufficiency in economic organisations. *Sustainable Futures*, 2, 100035. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2023.137639</u>.
- Robra, B., Pazaitis, A., Giotitsas, C., & Pansera, M. (2023). From creative destruction to convivial innovation-A post-growth perspective. *Technovation*, *125*, 102760. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2023.102760</u>.
- Rothstein, B., 1998. Just Institutions Matter: The Moral and Political Logic of the Universal Welfare State. Cambridge University Press, UK.
- Saltelli, A., Benini, L., Funtowicz, S., Giampietro, M., Kaiser, M., Reinert, E., & van der Sluijs, J. P. (2020). The technique is never neutral. How methodological choices condition the generation of narratives for sustainability. *Environmental Science* & Policy, 106, 87-98. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2020.01.008</u>.
- Sandoval Hamón, L. A., Ruiz Peñalver, S. M., Thomas, E., & Fitjar, R. D. (2024). From hightech clusters to open innovation ecosystems: a systematic literature review of the relationship between science and technology parks and universities. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, *49*(2), 689-714. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10961-022-09990-6.
- Schlager, E., Blomquist, W., & Tang, S. Y. (1994). Mobile flows, storage, and self-organized institutions for governing common-pool resources. Land Economics, 294-317. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3146531</u>.
- Scholz, T., & Schneider, N. (Eds.). (2016). *Ours to hack and to own: The rise of platform cooperativism, a new vision for the future of work and a fairer internet.* OR Books.
- Slaughter, R. A. (1993). Futures concepts. *Futures*, 25(3), 289-314. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-3287(93)90138-J</u>.
- Slaughter, R. A. (1997). Near-future landscapes as a futures tool. *Futures, 29*(7), 617-632. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0016-3287(97)00037-2.
- Slaughter, R. A. (2002). From forecasting and scenarios to social construction: changing methodological paradigms in futures studies. *Foresight*, 4(3), 26-31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/14636680210697731</u>.
- Slaughter, R. A. (2003). Futures beyond dystopia: Creating social foresight. Routledge.
- Sovacool, B. K., Hook, A., Martiskainen, M., Brock, A., & Turnheim, B. (2020). The decarbonisation divide: Contextualizing landscapes of low-carbon exploitation and toxicity in Africa. *Global Environmental Change*, *60*, 102028. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2019.102028</u>.

- Taleb, N. N. (2014). *Antifragile: Things that gain from disorder* (Vol. 3). Random House Trade Paperbacks.
- Taylor, N., Hurley, U., & Connolly, P. (2016, May). Making community: the wider role of makerspaces in public life. In Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on human factors in Computing systems (pp. 1415-1425). https://doi.org/10.1145/2858036.2858073.
- Tödtling, F., & Trippl, M. (2005). One size fits all?: Towards a differentiated regional innovation policy approach. *Research policy*, 34(8), 1203-1219. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2005.01.018</u>.
- Trencher, G., Nagao, M., Chen, C., Ichiki, K., Sadayoshi, T., Kinai, M., Kamitani, M., Nakamura, S., Yamauchi, A., & Yarime, M. (2017). Implementing sustainability co-creation between universities and society: A typology-based understanding. *Sustainability*, 9(4), 594. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su9040594</u>.
- Trencher, G., Yarime, M., McCormick, K.B., Doll, C.N., & Kraines, S.B. (2014), Beyond the third mission: Exploring the emerging university function of co-creation for sustainability. *Science and Public Policy*, *41*(2), 151-179. https://doi.org/10.1093/scipol/sct044.
- Trommsdorff, M., Kang, J., Reise, C., Schindele, S., Bopp, G., Ehmann, A., ... & Obergfell, T. (2021). Combining food and energy production: Design of an agrivoltaic system applied in arable and vegetable farming in Germany. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 140, 110694. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2020.110694.
- Troullaki, K., Rozakis, S., Latoufis, K., Giotitsas, C., Priavolou, C., & Freire, F. (2022). Sustainable rural electrification: harnessing a cosmolocal wind. Energies, 15(13), 4659. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/en15134659</u>.
- UNIDO, 2021. A new generation of Science and Technology Parks. Wien, Austria.
- Vásquez-Urriago, Á. R., Barge-Gil, A., & Rico, A. M. (2016). Science and technology parks and cooperation for innovation: Empirical evidence from Spain. *Research Policy*, 45(1), 137-147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2015.07.006</u>.
- Vedovello, C., 1997. Science parks and university-industry interaction: geographical proximity between the agents as a driving force. *Technovation*, *17*(9), pp. 491-531. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-4972(97)00027-8</u>.
- Xie, K., Song, Y., Zhang, W., Hao, J., Liu, Z., & Chen, Y. (2018). Technological entrepreneurship in science parks: A case study of Wuhan Donghu High-Tech Zone. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 135, 156-168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2018.01.021</u>.
- Yin, R. K. (2009). *Case study research: Design and methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Zhang, Y. (2005). The science park phenomenon: development, evolution and typology. International *Journal of Entrepreneurship and Innovation Management*, 5(1/2), 138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1504/IJEIM.2005.006341</u>.
Acknowledgements

I am greatly indebted to my supervisors, Prof. Vasilis Kostakis and Prof. Wolfgang Drechsler, for guiding me along the lengthy journey towards completing this dissertation. I am grateful to Vasilis who keeps inspiring me and has helped me in ways well beyond our academic relationship. Without him, this dissertation would not exist. I deeply appreciate Wolfgang's critical insights that helped me broaden my academic horizons. Every discussion with him was intriguing and challenged me to be better.

I am also deeply indebted to my friends and colleagues at the P2P Lab: Chris Giotitsas, Mina Kouvara, Lucas Lemos, Vasilis Niaros, Alex Pazaitis, Alekos Pantazis and Christina Priavolou. I truly value their support, constructive comments and suggestions. Special thanks to Vasilis Niaros, who has been the recipient of most of my frustration.

I would like to thank my colleagues from the Ragnar Nurkse Department of Innovation and Governance at Tallinn University of Technology for creating a wonderful environment for collaboration. I am particularly grateful to the faculty members for their constructive comments during the mock defense, which significantly elevated the quality of this thesis. This dissertation has greatly benefited from their support and facilitation.

Last, but not least, I would like to thank my parents, Georgios and Vasiliki, my brother, Alexandros, and my girlfriend, Aliki, who believe in me, even when I don't.

Various parts of this thesis have received financial support from the European Research Council under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (grant agreement No. 802512) and from the European Commission through the H2020 project Finest Twins (grant No. 856602).

Abstract

Envisioning institutional pathways for cosmolocal production: a near-future landscape through science and technology parks

This thesis examines how an institution, i.e., an STP, could foster cosmolocal production, an emerging configuration of production that combines global knowledge sharing with localized manufacturing to address pressing socio-environmental issues. Following the predominant growth-oriented paradigm, STPs have traditionally served as hubs for high-tech innovation and economic development, but seemingly their conventional approach may be inadequate for addressing complex sustainability challenges. Through the engagement with empirical case studies and theoretical analysis, this thesis investigates how an institution like STPs could be reimagined to embrace more democratic, inclusive, and sustainable approaches to technology development and production.

The thesis employs a qualitative methodological approach across four interconnected articles. It begins with empirical investigations of cosmolocal production in the construction sector and 3D printer supply chains, followed by a theoretical examination of cosmolocal frameworks and their institutional implications. The research culminates in an exploratory case study of a grassroots STP initiative, which informs the development of a near-future landscape for STPs that could foster cosmolocal production.

The main findings suggest that by incorporating various cosmolocal elements and dimensions, STPs could be transformed into collaborative ecosystems for exploring and enabling more sustainable socio-technical futures. The thesis attempts to address various issues that cosmolocal production faces, such as scalability, resource intensity, and potential co-optation by dominant economic actors. Through the investigation of communities actively constructing a new paradigm, this thesis makes a prefigurative attempt to position cosmolocal production in an institutional setting.

The research contributes to ongoing debates about transitions toward more sustainable socio-technical systems and offers practical insights for reimagining institutional frameworks in the face of pressing environmental and social challenges. While acknowledging the difficulties of scaling alternative approaches within dominant capitalist frameworks, the thesis argues that cosmolocal production offers promising pathways for technology development better aligned with sustainability imperatives.

Lühikokkuvõte

Kosmolokaalse tootmise institutsionaalsete teede kavandamine: lähituleviku maastik teadus- ja tehnoloogiaparkide kaudu

See doktoritöö uurib, kuidas institutsioon, st STP, võiks edendada kosmolokaalset tootmist – uut tootmisviisi, mis ühendab globaalse teadmiste jagamise ja kohaliku tootmise, et lahendada pakilisi sotsiaal- ja keskkonnaprobleeme. Valdava kasvule orienteeritud paradigma kohaselt on STP-d olnud traditsiooniliselt kõrgtehnoloogilise innovatsiooni ja majandusarengu sõlmpunktid, kuid nende tavapärane lähenemisviis võib olla ebapiisav keeruliste jätkusuutlikkuse probleemide lahendamiseks. Empiiriliste juhtumiuuringute ja teoreetilise analüüsi abil uuritakse käesolevas väitekirjas, kuidas saaks sellist institutsiooni nagu STP-d ümber kujundada, et võtta kasutusele demokraatlikumad, kaasavamad ja jätkusuutlikumad lähenemisviisid tehnoloogia arendamisele ja tootmisele.

Doktoritöö kasutab kvalitatiivset metodoloogilist lähenemist nelja omavahel seotud artikli kaudu. Alustatakse kosmolokaalse tootmise empiirilise uurimisega ehitussektoris ja 3D-printerite tarneahelates, millele järgneb kosmolokaalsete raamistike ja nende institutsionaalsete mõjude teoreetiline uurimine. Uurimus kulmineerub rohujuure tasandi STP algatuse uuriva juhtumiuuringuga, mis annab teavet STPde lähituleviku maastiku arendamiseks, mis võiks soodustada kosmolokaalset tootmist.

Peamised järeldused viitavad sellele, et erinevaid kosmolokaalseid elemente ja mõõtmeid kaasates võiks STP-d muuta koostöölisteks ökosüsteemideks, et uurida ja võimaldada jätkusuutlikumat sotsiaal-tehnilist tulevikku. Töös püütakse käsitleda erinevaid probleeme, millega kosmolokaalne tootmine seisab silmitsi, nagu mastaapsus, ressursimahukus ja võimalik koopteerumine domineerivate majandusosalejate poolt. Kogukondade uurimise kaudu, kes aktiivselt konstrueerivad uut paradigmat, teeb see töö prefiguratiivse katse paigutada kosmolokaalne tootmine institutsionaalsesse konteksti.

Uurimus aitab kaasa käimasolevatele aruteludele ülemineku üle jätkusuutlikumatele sotsiaal-tehnilistele süsteemidele ja pakub praktilisi teadmisi institutsiooniliste raamistike ümberkujundamiseks, et lahendada pakilisi keskkonna- ja sotsiaalseid probleeme. Tunnistades raskusi, mis kaasnevad alternatiivsete lähenemisviiside laiendamisega domineerivates kapitalistlikes raamistikes, väidab doktoritöö, et kosmolokaalne tootmine pakub paljulubavaid võimalusi tehnoloogia arendamiseks, mis on paremini kooskõlas jätkusuutlikkuse imperatiividega.

Appendix

Publication I

Priavolou, C., **Tsiouris, N.**, Niaros, V., & Kostakis, V. (2021). Towards sustainable construction practices: how to reinvigorate vernacular buildings in the digital era?. *Buildings*, *11*(7), 297.





Article Towards Sustainable Construction Practices: How to Reinvigorate Vernacular Buildings in the Digital Era?

Christina Priavolou ^{1,2,*}, Nikiforos Tsiouris ¹, Vasilis Niaros ^{2,3} and Vasilis Kostakis ^{1,2}

- Ragnar Nurkse Department of Innovation and Governance, Tallinn University of Technology (TalTech), Akadeemia tee 3, 12618 Tallinn, Estonia; nikiforos.tsiouris@taltech.ee (N.T.); vasileios.kostakis@taltech.ee (V.K.)
- ² P2P Lab, Papadopoulou 5B, 45444 Ioannina, Greece; vniaros@uoc.edu
- ³ Internet Interdisciplinary Institute, Universitat Oberta de Catalunya, Rambla del Poblenou, 156, 08018 Barcelona, Spain
- * Correspondence: christina.priavolou@taltech.ee

Abstract: The starting point of this article is the critique on socioeconomic and environmental implications of conventional construction practices around sustainability. The focus is on exploring the sustainability dynamics of the emerging "Design Global, Manufacture Local" (DGML) configuration with emphasis on building construction. Combined with the concept of conviviality which we identify in aspects of vernacular architecture we explore how it can foster meaningful sustainability practices in the construction sector. We introduce a framework of "open construction systems", an expression of DGML in building construction, as a way to foster the conjunctive use of the digital commons and local manufacturing technologies for the construction of buildings through three interlocked elements—modularity, sharing and adaptability. We suggest that the "open construction systems" framework may point towards more sustainability in building construction.

Keywords: construction; building; commons; sustainability; conviviality

1. Introduction

There is a wide range of sustainability conceptualisations in the literature. The concept of sustainability was first introduced to indicate a harvesting practice that can be maintained for generations, considering the natural regeneration of forests [1]. It was subsequently used to raise environmental awareness at a global level [2]. Today a mixture of environmental, social, and economic elements exists in the concept of sustainability known as the three pillars of sustainability [3].

In the construction sector, sustainable practices present common values, such as the focus on resource efficiency, social cohesion, and the adoption of cost-effective methods that meet human needs [4]. However, there is no regulatory framework that explicitly states the roles and responsibilities of various stakeholders and clearly describes the process to be followed for a sustainable transition in construction. It has been argued though that sustainability in building construction could thrive through collaborative efforts by the involved stakeholders across the stages of construction [5].

In this article, we posit that conviviality could provide the necessary tools for enhanced sustainability practices in the construction sector. Conviviality is an ethical value that relies on human coexistence and interdependence for wellbeing [6]. In contrast with a convivial approach, the pursuit of growth-oriented approaches "defuturises" the future, meaning that the future is deprived of part of its potential [7,8]. In addition, these approaches may negatively impact people, causing mental health issues or undermining morality [9,10].

We identify a strong presence of conviviality in vernacular buildings. Vernacular architecture refers to a modest style of building that relies on the use of local resources and knowledge to construct buildings. Vernacular buildings constitute exemplifications of how



Citation: Priavolou, C.; Tsiouris, N.; Niaros, V.; Kostakis, V. Towards Sustainable Construction Practices: How to Reinvigorate Vernacular Buildings in the Digital Era? *Buildings* 2021, *11*, 297. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/buildings11070297

Academic Editor: Wahidul Biswas

Received: 14 May 2021 Accepted: 4 July 2021 Published: 7 July 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). conviviality can be deployed in the construction sector and provide multiple benefits to the three pillars of sustainability.

Furthermore, we draw inspiration from an emerging production configuration based on the digital commons, which is codified as Design Global, Manufacture Local (DGML) [11]. Building on DGML in conjunction with the conviviality present in vernacular architecture, we introduce Open Construction Systems (OCSs), which expand the focus of attention from the building structure to the ecosystem around it, required to enable the lifecycle management of buildings. The questions that have acted as a trigger for this article are: How could vernacular buildings evolve in tandem with current technological regimes to provide local responses to the global pressing need for sustainability in building construction? Could OCSs provide a solution towards that direction?

Looking towards fostering sustainability, we argue that OCSs could inaugurate a conviviality-inspired sustainable pathway in building construction by reinvigorating vernacular architecture and reinforcing it with technological capacities [7,12]. In other words, it borrows elements from both contemporary digital tools used in the construction and the tacit knowledge found in vernacular practices still employed in developing regions of the planet. We hence elaborate on three interlocked elements for conviviality observed in the development of OCSs using the Matrix of Convivial Technology [13]. We also discuss the potential benefits these elements could have on the construction sector.

The remaining part of this article is organised as follows. Section 2 discusses sustainabilityrelated issues in the construction sector, introduces the DGML configuration and indicates how conviviality could boost sustainability practices in buildings as exemplified through vernacular architecture. Section 3 describes the framework of OCSs, elaborating on how core elements of OCSs could enhance conviviality in building construction and we discuss the positive impact this may have towards sustainability. Finally, Section 4 summarises our insights.

2. Shifting towards Sustainability in Building Construction

2.1. Sustainability in Conventional Construction Practices

In the context of the conventional construction practices, a producer–consumer relationship has been established that restricts the engagement of individuals in the construction process, infringing on the human right to housing [14,15]. Further, high rates of gender discrimination, corruption, and labour-intensive activities have been observed in building construction, while the quality performance of buildings is usually disregarded in pursuit of maximising economic gains [16]. In addition, detrimental environmental effects of the construction sector cannot be overlooked, considering that building construction accounts for 39% of global carbon emissions [17,18].

Despite the identification of these issues, construction practices have barely changed during the last six decades [19–21]. The need to implement sustainable practices in building construction has only recently attracted attention [22]. Although there is not yet a unified framework for sustainable construction, it has been strongly posited that multidimensional and collaborative approaches should be implemented to achieve a shared vision on sustainable construction [5]. Towards that goal we believe that the elements of OCSs enabled through the DGML configuration could play a key role in addressing several of the aforementioned issues.

2.2. Introducing the Design Global, Manufacture Local Configuration

Information and Communication Technologies (ICTs) have facilitated the development of digital platforms that favour online information sharing. Given the potential of these platforms to enhance collaboration and knowledge transfer at low costs, ICTs have been portrayed as a booster of democratisation [23,24]. Immaterial resources (such as knowledge, software, and designs) can be distributed through the Internet and shared around the globe as a "digital commons" [25] "Digital commons" can be utilised to provide local solutions, bearing in mind surrounding biophysical conditions [11]. At the same time, local manufacturing technologies (i.e., 3D printers and laser cutters) enable the production of objects locally, thus facilitating distributed production networks with significant societal impacts [26]. The distribution of these technologies boosts creativity and experimentation, offering opportunities for transitions towards sustainability and peer-to-peer ways of producing artefacts [27]. The development of open source hardware solutions (for example the Arduino microcontroller board (https:

//www.arduino.cc/en/guide/introduction. Accessed on 6 July 2021) and Open Bionic Systems (https://openbionics.org/. Accessed on 6 July 2021) exemplifies how the manufacturing process of physical products can be transformed through collaborative efforts [11]. The convergence of global "digital commons" with local manufacturing technologies

has been outlined through the DGML configuration. DGML differs from the conventional market-driven production one in its promotion of distributed production realised in local but networked makerspaces [11,28]. The collective intelligence and cooperation embedded in the development of DGML solutions strengthen the potential of relevant initiatives to foster innovation [29]. Information behind the development process of technological solutions is shared as a "digital commons", which can undergo asynchronous modifications by contributors.

DGML communities produce technological solutions locally on-demand through sharing both digital and physical infrastructure. Further, they purposely design products to last, focusing on social wellbeing while moving away from profit maximisation-oriented practices [30]. The primary motives of commons-based communities stem from their need for communication, learning, and emotional fulfilment [23], aligning with values like sociability and self-development embedded in convivial processes. Besides, research has illustrated interrelated practices observed in the development of DGML products that create positive feedback loops towards conviviality [11]. Thus, it can be posited that DGML practices could foster the human-centric shaping of technology.

2.3. A Conviviality-Based Sustainability

Echoing [6], conviviality is an intrinsic ethical value that correlates with "individual freedom realised in personal interdependence". "Survival, justice and self-defined work" are basic ideals of conviviality [6] that summarise key values included in the concept of sustainable development [31]. The social pillar of sustainability is associated with human wellbeing and includes a large list of issues related to education, social inclusion, health, safety, housing, employment and more [32]. In a convivial setting, the broader public is involved in the decision-making and production processes. Hence, human needs are taken into account, while perceptions around wellbeing can be redefined and configured collectively [7].

Pursuing a path to conviviality is not easy. There is a need to transform existing production and consumption models, as advocated by the degrowth movement [33]. The idea is to prioritise the assimilation of conviviality ideals in daily life instead of merely enhancing efficiency and optimising performance to achieve sustainability [34]. Besides, the use of energy-efficient systems does not necessarily mean that less consumption takes place if consumption patterns remain unchanged [35].

Convivial technologies are designed in such a way that users can learn about the technology and modify it according to their needs, without the necessity of relying on specialists [36]. They are decentralised, reversible, and democratically controllable [37]. Decentralisation takes place through the implementation of small-scale production units that create distributed supply chains by using local resources [28]. Reversibility is enhanced when the "black-box" behind the development process of products opens up to the public, enabling the transparency of information and inclusion of users in the production of artefacts [38]. By keeping technologies under democratic control, groups of individuals can produce technologies in a collaborative manner to cover their own needs [6].

Conviviality is a broad and abstract concept. In order to provide an accessible and comprehensive means of assessing the degree of creativity, autonomy, and decentralisa-

tion in community-based practices, the Matrix of Convivial Technology (MCT) has been developed [13]. As an empirical tool, the MCT allows participants in technological development processes to examine certain conviviality elements on a case-by-case basis (see Appendix A). As depicted in Figure 1, different levels connected to the impact of technology on human relations (relatedness), the adaptability of technology to local contexts, accessibility to technological means, the bio-interaction of technology with the environment, and the appropriateness of socio-ecological benefits of technology in relation to its socioecological impact are examined.

Dimensions	Materials	Production	Use	Infrastructure
Levels				
Relatedness	Organization distributed	Creative Input	Supports trust/community	Sustains trust/community
	Need-driven	Need-driven	Allows creativity	Connects eco-processes
	Bottom-up control	Bottom-up Control	Creates beauty	Bottom-up control
	Local traditions	Local traditions	Self-determination	Simplifies care
Access	Cess Open Open		Open	Usable by anyone
	Low cost Producer-own		Usable by anyone	Low cost
	Supports skill building Supports skill		Local knowledge	Comprehensible
	Comprehensible Local knowled		Transforms constraints	Transforms constraints
Adaptability	Everyday tools	Everyday tools	Repairable by skill	Repairable by skill
	Small scale	Small scale	Independent use possible	Locally operable
	Everywhere possible	Permantently changeable	Permanently changeable	Permanently changeable
	Standardized materials	Modular	Encourages diversity	Encourages diversity
Bio-Interaction Improving soil/water		Improving soil/water	Improving soil/water	Improving soil/water
Supports clean air		Supports clean air	Supports clean air	Supports clean air
Biodegradable		Biodegradable	Biodegradable	Biodegradable
Nonviolent		Nonviolent	Nonviolent	Nonviolent
Appropriateness	Renewable	Frugal material use	Sustains sufficiency	Frugal material use
	Locally available	Standardized tools	Re-used	Sustains sufficiency
	Re-useable	Joyful worktime	Joyful time	Joyful time
	Durable	Byproducts are used	Durable	Local settings

Figure 1. Dimensions and levels of the MCT. Adapted by: https://www.andrereichel.de/2019/05/20/artificial-intelligence-convivial-technology/. Accessed on 6 July 2021.

Contemporary tools for assessing the life cycle sustainability impact of products, such as environmental Life Cycle Assessment and Life Cycle Sustainability Assessment methods, tend to focus on a specific pillar of sustainability (i.e., environmental, social, economic). In that sense, the MCT could broaden our understanding of the complexity entailed in systems and social relations [39] by incorporating social, environmental, economic but also cultural and political elements towards comprehensive sustainability assessments.

The reconciliation of environmental, social, economic, spatial, and cultural demands in the construction process is essential for sustainable practices. Vernacular buildings exemplify how the reconciliation of natural elements and building components is possible. Such buildings are made of materials, such as stone, wood, mud, and straw that come from the nearby environment and undergo minimal processing. Natural resources (such as the soil, sun, vegetation, and wind) are used to fulfil to some extent the energy demands for cooling, heating, and lighting. Hence, harmonious interactions between the building, climate, and natural environment are fostered, following the principles of biophilic design [40]. These principles enhance energy saving, economic efficiency, environmental gains, and the improvement of indoor living conditions.

The construction of vernacular buildings is founded on intrinsically convivial construction principles, given the use of local resources to meet economic and natural limitations and the collaborative construction processes involved in relevant practices. More specifically, the region-specific nature of vernacular buildings is evident since local elements, like customs, religions, climate, and topography, are considered [41]. Despite local variations, vernacular buildings share common principles [42], including the utilisation of natural specificities (such as raw materials and energy sources) and the accrued knowledge of communities. This knowledge is empirically gained from observations of the natural environment and experimentations with local construction materials and techniques, enabling communities to build structures collaboratively and intuitively, while the need for professionals is usually minimised [43,44]. In the next section, we introduce the OCSs framework as a tool that could enable a conviviality-based sustainability in building construction.

3. Open Construction Systems as a Convivial Framework for Building Construction

In the light of the pressing need for sustainable practices in the construction sector, we discuss how a sustainable paradigm in buildings could take place using conviviality as a core tenet. We build on existing research around the exploration of DGML solutions from a degrowth perspective with emphasis on conviviality [11,45], illuminating a DGML-based framework in building construction that incorporates vernacular architecture but also relies on contemporary technologies. To this end, we explore the conviviality dynamics of OCSs, which have been studied from multifaceted aspects, ranging from their technological dynamics [46,47] to their socioinstitutional potential [46,48]. To narrow down the ambiguity entailed in the concept of conviviality [49], the MCT is used as a normative schema to provide insights on how OCSs could enhance conviviality in building construction.

3.1. Conceptual Framework of Open Construction Systems

In this subsection, we employ the conceptual framework of the DGML configuration l to delineate the contours of commons-based practices in building construction, albeit in a seed form [46,48]. We unravel the conditions under which such practices could thrive utilising the core principle of conviviality. In this vein, we aspire to prefigure alternative meaningful practices in building construction [50].

We use the term OCSs to delineate a set of connected "things" and "devices" that operate together in designing globally and manufacturing locally buildings. This set may include i. equipment (such as parametric design tools and local manufacturing technologies), ii. information resources (such information related to the digital commons and vernacular architecture), iii. community practices (such as the ones implemented in makerspaces or by open source communities), and iv. legal components (such as public copyright licences and building regulations).

Open Building Systems (OBSs) are the starting point of OCSs. The term OBSs was introduced to describe modular building components able to form a variety of building types [51,52]. OBSs are based on structured components that allow for interchangeability and present a certain degree of customisation and flexibility. The concept of OCSs expands the focus of attention from the building structure to the necessary ecosystem for fostering the lifecycle management of OBSs. Initiatives like the Hexayurt, the Open Source Ecology Microhouse, and the WikiHouse exemplify emerging forms of OCSs [46]. Figure 2 represents the conceptual framework of OCSs.



Figure 2. Conceptual framework of OCSs.

OCSs prefigure niche practices that take place on the margins of the dominant paradigm through community-based processes. They question the conventional construction model by inaugurating a new organisational and production framework that moves away from market-regulated structures. Given that issues like environmental concerns, social exclusion, and labour-intensive activities in building construction are common to all contexts, communities involved in the development of OCSs share common values and principles, which promote collaboration and bonding among the communities, and attempt to actively address the aforementioned issues.

However, beyond such shared focus of OCSs, a combination of cultural, economic, social, and techno-political specificities shapes the goals, interests, actions, and structure of OCSs locally. Each of these community-driven initiatives has its own goals, ranging from providing disaster relief shelters (like the Hexayurt initiative) to developing high-performance and affordable buildings (like the WikiHouse initiative). By providing a framework for OCSs, we want to urge engineers and social scientists to visualise common paths towards sustainable construction practices, bringing humanity and conviviality into focus [53]. Our ultimate goal is to highlight the capacity of OCSs to advance societal transformation and rouse meaningful processes of social change.

3.2. Three Interlocked Elements for Conviviality

In this section, we elaborate on three interrelated elements, i.e., modularity, sharing, and adaptability, observed in OCSs that seem to create positive feedback loops for conviviality, which respectively enhances sustainability. More specifically, modularity enables the decomposition and recombination of building modules, simplifying structures and increasing inclusiveness in the construction process [54] Sharing allows for the mutual benefit of individuals from the same resources and enables the production of collective value and shared purpose [55]. Adaptability is catalysed through the engagement of users in the construction process and is enabled via modularity and sharing [56].

Coming back to the five substantial features of convivial technologies that correspond to the levels of the MCT, a correlation between the five levels of the MCT and the three elements for conviviality can be made. In that sense, modularity potentially facilitates accessibility to technology (access) considering its capability to simplify complex solutions; sharing strengthens socioecological relations (relatedness, biointeraction, and appropriateness) through the promotion of bonding among the community itself and the community with the environment; adaptability facilitates the consideration of local contexts in the production of buildings. Figure 3 depicts the main conviviality features observed in OCSs, which are analysed below.

3.2.1. Modularity

Modularity refers to the property of structures to be easily decomposed and recombined in smaller parts—modules [54]. It provides a useful means to deal with complex systems and customise solutions [57,58]. Given the high complexity levels and interdependence among various stakeholders involved in building construction, modularity is important for handling the complexity of building systems. By increasing the modularity of building systems, certain processes can be structured and design decisions can be decoupled [59].

Modularity is embedded both in the design tools used but also in the structure of OBSs. During the design process of buildings, parametric design tools such as BIM technology enable the decomposability of buildings into distinct modular but interrelated components, which function independently to enhance computational analyses of buildings. Although parametric tools in principle allow for infinite modifications in the form and shape of components, fixed rules apply so that BIM software can grasp internal relationships between building components. These rules impose restrictions on the accurate design of certain elements of vernacular buildings since standardised building components are used to form structures and superstructures [60].



Figure 3. Conviviality features of OCSs.

Thus, the structuring of building information enabled through BIM technology creates both a challenge and an opportunity. The challenge is related to the need for explicitly defined rules that may obstruct the imprint of distinctive building components [47]. The opportunity correlates with the capability to replicate building solutions by codifying and sharing parameterised objects. Such a potential empowers BIM technology to provide a precise interface with an integrated set of applications for well-defined modular building types, like the WikiHouse.

The design-embedded modularity in OBSs facilitates the construction, maintenance, and disposal of OBSs. For example, a WikiHouse structure includes the structural frame-

work (chassis), the electrical equipment, the foundation, the mechanical equipment, the roof, and solar utilities. With the aid of modularity, all these subsystems can be constructed asynchronously and the surrounding community can participate depending on ability and interests to undertake specific parts of the construction process. Additionally, certain tasks can be outsourced to expedite but also simplify the entire process [54]. Modularity hence leads to a division of human labour that reduces the overall complexity of the construction process and makes the entire process more accessible and inclusive. It offers the flexibility to independently piece together, modify, rearrange, repair, and substitute modules so that the needs of users are best suited. Thus, modularity strengthens social interactions and community building, which are crucial for a more sustainable future.

3.2.2. Sharing

Sharing and collaboration are fundamental for all stages of the construction process of OCSs. Sharing takes place both in distributed makerspaces, where equipment and simple tools are used by local communities, but also online, given that digital resources are utilised for the production of open source building solutions. Collaborative processes are evident throughout the construction stage of OCSs, where subgroups work asynchronously on the assembly process of different parts, developing friendship and joyful feelings [48]. Shared resources are managed by communities, which set the rules for using resources in a fairer manner for all, with an eye to optimising production while minimising the processing of material. Recyclable, locally sourced, and reused materials are preferred to mitigate environmental impacts.

The existence of detailed documentation guides/manuals facilitates the replicability and openness of OCSs [61]. Architectural data, construction details, as well as chemical, environmental, economic, and biophysical information should be extensively documented to foster autonomy during the construction and maintenance phases of OBSs. Additionally, by accessing international codified datasets of vernacular architecture and disseminating construction practices of various districts, experimentation and combinations of best practices could be fostered, spreading the impact of local commons-based initiatives. Nevertheless, in the current stage of OCSs, fragmentation issues arise due to the lack of a comprehensive platform that includes all the up-to-date information around them. For instance, in the case of the WikiHouse, uncategorised and non-engineered design files are usually shared on online platforms, like GitHub. Besides, the existence of a complete bill of materials for OCSs is challenging considering the context-dependent nature of buildings [48].

Additionally, the plurality of expertise and skills among the participants in the construction process enhances autotomy during the construction and maintenance stages of OBSs. The level of conviviality in the construction phase rises when a highly engaged community with a strong supporting network is involved. However, in the current stage of OCSs, concerns have been raised regarding the ability of users to maintain certain building infrastructures, such as plumbing and electricity modules [48]. Technical interventions are hence necessary at certain stages which indicates that OCSs still have a long way to go.

Concerning the legal framework required, Creative Commons public copyright licences enable the free distribution of building solutions facilitating the integration of the construction industry. Such a condition empowers broad participation in the research and development of OCSs by providing technical support to local communities throughout the building supply chain.

Raising awareness about the importance of scaling up the impact of OCSs for humanity is significant to foster conviviality through the engagement of individuals in relevant processes. Some steps to this direction could be made through the orientation of science and education towards open data, the promotion of open source technologies by policymakers, and the integration of open source structured protocols for data sharing and coordination among stakeholders: from local governments and professionals to international organisations. Such protocols could set the ground for the effective implementation of construction practices in each region and country and the establishment of networks and partnerships at regional, national, and international levels. Moreover, the physical infrastructure needed for the development of OCSs should be provided, including the creation of physical co-working spaces and distributed ad hoc divisions for consultancy on administrative procedures at a national level.

3.2.3. Adaptability

The international homogenisation of building structures taking place through unsustainable construction practices has indicated the need for adaptability to local contexts with an eye to biophysical conditions [62]. The emphasis of OCSs is placed on endorsing adaptability according to human needs rather than offering one-size-fits-all solutions. Following, we elaborate on the ways adaptability could enhance conviviality and help form a more sustainable construction sector.

During the introduction of OBSs, monolithic and standardised materials are usually used as a starting point to facilitate experimentations with OBSs. For instance, standardised sheets of plywood are used for the construction of the WikiHouse chassis system usually obtained from Finnish wood industry producers. As the pool of digital commons for OCSs grows, new materials and designs are being tested in local contexts to enhance the performance of buildings through the use of sustainable materials and techniques. The use of open data could democratise accessibility to material-related properties and performance data. In this direction, platforms, like Materiom (https://materiom.org/. Accessed on 6 July 2021), can provide recipes for materials made from natural and biobased ingredients, including agricultural waste. In that sense, open source databases could further decentralise the production of OCSs by providing the means needed to self-produce construction materials.

Distributed networks of local stakeholders (architects, manufacturers, designers, structural engineers) could provide technical support to end users and modify digital resources based on regional specificities. OBSs bear an inherent potential for adaptability to local building regulations owing to their design-embedded modularity that enables modification of building components to fit predefined geometric constraints. The development of open databases with regulation-related documents and the simplification of international technical guidelines could enhance the reproducibility of OCSs at local levels [63]. Finally, using smart features and geospatial technologies, certain types of OBSs, building regulations, available construction materials, and administrative processes could be pointed to on a context-specific basis.

4. Conclusions

Despite the plurality of existing perspectives towards sustainable construction, the challenge still remains unanswered. To provide preliminary answers to sustainable practices in building construction, we explore an alternative production model, the DGML configuration that brings the social elements of sharing and solidarity into focus. We stress the importance of introducing conviviality elements in building construction, which could foster a meaningful sustainability paradigm. In this regard, we delineate the contours of DGML in building construction through the concept of OCSs, illustrating the positive dynamics for conviviality. Hence, we identify three interlocked elements for conviviality in OCSs: design-embedded modularity, sharing practices of digital and physical infrastructures, and adaptability to local contexts.

Though our analysis, we conclude that OCSs present non-negligible tendencies towards a conviviality-based sustainability. We also formulate proposals to boost the conviviality potential of OCSs, such as advancements in Building Information Modelling technology; the implementation of open source protocols for data sharing; the institutionalisation of open source communities; as well as the integration of existing open source platforms to facilitate accessibility to building information.

Considering the involvement of diverse stakeholders, including professionals and governmental organisations (i.e., central government, local authorities, etc.) in the construction processes, the above-mentioned issues cannot be addressed in the absence of cooperation across stakeholders and institutional transformations. By stimulating policy-making efforts to build relevant institutions, OCSs could pave the way for an inclusive and democratic approach in the construction sector. To enable the flourishing of OCSs at regional, national, and global levels, awareness should be raised about the socioenvironmental considerations in the construction sector.

A point of criticism one may level against this article is the lack of empirical data regarding the maintenance and disposal stages of OCSs, which is due to the seed form of OCSs. We invite future research to focus on evidence-based assessments for these stages to provide sound data about the lifecycle performance of OCSs. A comprehensive sustainability comparison of an industrially produced building with a similar OBS would also be beneficial. For that purpose, a compilation of targeted and structured tools should be used to assess both the building structure and the ecosystem around it. The development and institutionalisation of such tools could foster meaningful sustainability assessments in building construction, facilitating the investigation of OCSs developed in different socioeconomic contexts.

Lessons should be drawn from global experiences and effective strategies should be developed on local levels, bearing in mind regional social, economic, and political specificities. Vernacular architecture can be a useful asset for defining principles for sustainable design at local contexts, while offering the opportunity to digest and assimilate conviviality values. Such values could enable us to build a common future with a particular focus on human interrelation and wellbeing. In that sense, we do not expect self-construction usually observed in vernacular practices to become a dominant construction practice. Our proposition is that certain elements of vernacular architecture, within the DGML configuration, could be utilised to point the way towards a more sustainable building sector. We thus believe that OCSs could introduce a promising pathway for fostering convivial practices in building construction by reinvigorating vernacular buildings. This could potentially mobilise individuals to acquire a more active role in building construction. The question, however, of whether we want to follow a promising but arduous path towards a sustainable future remains; and the answer is up to us.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, C.P., V.K. and V.N.; writing—original draft preparation, C.P. and V.N.; writing—review and editing, C.P. and N.T.; visualization, N.T. and C.P.; supervision, V.N. and V.K.; project administration, N.T. and C.P.; funding acquisition, V.K. and N.T. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: Vasilis Kostakis and Christina Priavolou acknowledge funding from the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (grant No. 802512). This work has been supported by the European Commission through the H2020 project Finest Twins (grant No. 856602).

Acknowledgments: We are grateful to Chris Giotitsas who provided guidance to the document.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Appendix A

The Matrix of Convivial Technology by Vetter (2018).

Dimensions //	Materials	Production	Use	Infrastructure		
	Harvesting, processing and disposal of raw matter	Assembling raw materials and preproducts	Procuring the task it was built for	Needed environment for using		
vels →						
Remarks on Levels>						
Relatedness What does it bring about between people?	Process fixed Right to creative input Trace world concepts Learning from different sectors Learning form different Market driven Need-driven Top down control Need-driven Top down control Need-driven Top down control	Fosters competition	Forters competition Supports trust Totters individual Supports constantly Prefigured our only Minus creativity Prefigured our only Minus creativity One solution fill all Respects local traditions Discourages care Simplifies care Updified Create and traditions Performed our only Create and traditions Interacting from one body Created body macroenter Letterscomy Self-determination Company Self-determination	Fosters competition Statistis trust Distance-creating Cennects with new proce Mariet driven Cennects with new proce Top down control Bottom-up control Fosters individual Supports community Advartage Creates and Uglifying Creates and Discourage control complex system Discourage core Simplifies care		
Access Who can produce/use it where and how?	Lititi Open to support Investor-ennel Coto intensive Low cot Secret or partented Low cot Need of freqin expert Use of focal knowledge freqin accentible Specialized processor Use of focal knowledge Focalized processor Support skill building Abstract Comprohensible	Litiz Open to argues Instruct-one ond Product-one ond Got intensive Los Cat Scored or patron Los Cat Stead of Design consolidge frohy accessible Intellers shifting Hinders shift building Sostain skill building Abstract Comprehensible Abstract Comprehensible Opage organization Transported communication Opage contralistion Transported communication	Usable by an elite Usable by anyone Innetest-control list Open Cost intensive Low Cost Need of foring regort Low Cost Acoultowidge Net able to fulfill meels Pulfilling bains mede Able Repsparat Attractive Enforces cultural Attractive Enforces cultural Attractive restraints	Usable by an office Usable by anyone Gott internet Usable by anyone Abstract Comprehensible Enforces cubined Transforms cubined restraints rutifiling basic needs Not able to fulfil needs rutifiling basic needs		
Adaptability How independent and linkable is it?	Special machines Everyday tools Big sale economical Small scale economical Special conditions Toophore possible Special materials Standardized materials	Fixed once finished	Fixed once finished Permanently chargeable Isstated Intersperable Ores and memission Mails functional Infrarturum research Mails functional Reparable by experts Reparable by solving Close survey needed Resolving and reparable by solving Monolithic Interstraining and reparable by solving One solving final Concouraged herity One piece Modular	Fixed once fleished Permanently changeabl Isolated Interopenable Sixe fired Scalate One dimensional Multi-functional Centralized Descriptional One solution fits all Encourages diversity Composition Descriptional Proprintelle by compositional Encourages diversity Composition Non-finear systems Pepainable by comparisate by solution of the system Requirable by solution of the system Operable only from Locally operable distance Descriptional		
Bio-Interaction How does it interact with living organisms? Supp	Illness/dath Supports health Deteriorating coll Improving solf quality Water spillating Improving solf quality At-pollating Supports Cent alt Violati	illnew/dath Supports health Detriorating soil Improving soil Water splitting Improving source quality Air-polluting	illness/death	tilness/death Supports health Deteriorating soil Improving solar quality Water spolluting Supports clean at Violent spolluting Supports clean at Toxic water Subforg proves and tested Toxic water Molograduble Suppresses organic Allows co-productivity		
Appropriateness What is the relation between input and output considering the context?	Non renewable Renewable Far nony Locally available Non Re-word Non-recyclable Lauly recyclable Nondrarbe Lauly recyclable Nondrarbe Allows joffd worktime Foull energy Renewable energy	Thriffiss material use	Encourages wate	Thriftes material use Fragal material use Encourages wate Soutains sufficiency New		
	Materials	Manufacturing	Use	Infrastructure		

References

- 1. Kuhlman, T.; Farrington, J. What is Sustainability? *Sustainability* **2010**, *2*, 3436–3448. [CrossRef]
- Morelli, J. Environmental Sustainability: A Definition for Environmental Professionals. *J. Environ. Sustain.* 2011, 1, 2. [CrossRef]
 Purvis, B.; Mao, Y.; Robinson, D. Three pillars of sustainability: In search of conceptual origins. *Sustain. Sci.* 2019, 14, 681–695.
- [CrossRef]
 Akadiri, P.; Chinyio, E.; Olomolaiye, P. Design of A Sustainable Building: A Conceptual Framework for Implementing Sustainability in the Building Sector. *Buildings* 2012, 2, 126–152. [CrossRef]
- Solaimani, S.; Sedighi, M. Toward a holistic view on Lean sustainable construction: A literature review. J. Clean. Prod. 2019, 248, 119213. [CrossRef]
- 6. Illich, I. Tools for Conviviality; Fontana/Collins: Sydney, Australia, 1973.
- 7. Büchs, M.; Koch, M. Challenges for the degrowth transition: The debate about wellbeing. Futures 2019, 105, 155–165. [CrossRef]
- 8. Luhmann, N. The future cannot begin: Temporal structures in modern society. Soc. Res. 1976, 43, 130–152.
- 9. Hirsch, F. Social Limits to Growth; Harvard University Press: Cambridge, MA, USA, 1976.
- 10. Offer, A. The Challenge of Affluence: Self-Control and Wellbeing in the United States and Britain Since 1950; Oxford University Press: Oxford, UK, 2006.
- 11. Kostakis, V.; Liarokapis, M.; Latoufis, K.; Bauwens, M. The convergence of digital commons with local manufacturing from a degrowth perspective: Two illustrative cases. *J. Clean. Prod.* **2016**, *197*, 1684–1693. [CrossRef]
- 12. Borowy, I.; Aillon, J.L. Sustainable health and degrowth: Health, health care and society beyond the growth paradigm. *Soc. Theory Health* **2017**, *15*, 346–368. [CrossRef]
- 13. Vetter, A. The matrix of convival technology: Assessing technologies for degrowth. J. Clean. Prod. 2018, 197, 1778–1786. [CrossRef]
- 14. Larson, K.; Intille, S.; McLeish, T.; Beaudin, J.; Williams, R. Open source building: Reinventing places of living. *Build. Technol. J.* **2004**, *22*, 87–200. [CrossRef]
- 15. Parvin, A. Architecture (and the other 99%): Open-source architecture and design commons. *Archit. Des.* **2013**, *83*, 90–95. [CrossRef]
- 16. Du Plessis, C. An Agenda 21 for sustainable construction in developing countries. Sustain. Build. 2002, 27, 379–390.

- Abergel, T.; Dean, B.; Dulac, J. Towards a Zero-Emission, Efficient, and Resilient Buildings and Construction Sector: Global Status Report 2017; UN Environment and International Energy Agency: Paris, France, 2017.
- Rode, P.; Burdett, R.; Soares-Gonçalves, J.C. Buildings: Investing in energy and resource efficiency. In *The United Nations* Environment Programme, towards a Green Economy: Pathways to Sustainable Development and Poverty Eradication; United Nations Environment Programme: Nairobi, Kenya, 2011; pp. 331–373.
- Eastman, C.; Teicholz, P.; Sacks, R.; Liston, K. BIM Handbook: A Guide to Building Information Modeling for Owners, Managers, Designers, Engineers, and Contractors, 2nd ed.; John Wiley and Sons, Inc.: Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2011.
- 20. Marshall, D.; Worthing, D. The Construction of Houses, 3rd ed.; Estates Gazette: London, UK, 2006.
- 21. McKinsey Global Institute. *Reinventing Construction: A Route to Higher Productivity;* McKinsey & Company: Brussels, Belgium, 2017.
- 22. Wong, K.; Fan, Q. Building Information Modelling (BIM) for sustainable building design. Facilities 2013, 31, 138–157. [CrossRef]
- Benkler, Y. The Wealth of Networks: How Social Production Transforms Markets and Freedom; Yale University Press: London, UK, 2006.
 Von Hippel, E. Democratizing Innovation; MIT Press: Cambridge, MA, USA, 2005.
- 25. Hess, C.; Ostrom, E. Understanding Knowledge as a Commons: From Theory to Practice; MIT Press: Cambridge, MA, USA, 2007.
- Perez, I.; Santos, A. Distributed economies through open design and digital manufacturing. MIX Sustentável 2017, 3, 21–28. [CrossRef]
- Matschoss, K.; Repo, P. Forward-looking network analysis of ongoing sustainability transitions. *Technol. Forecast. Soc. Chang.* 2020, 161, 120288. [CrossRef]
- Kohtala, C. Addressing sustainability in research on distributed production: An integrated literature review. J. Clean. Prod. 2015, 106, 654–668. [CrossRef]
- Benkler, Y.; Shaw, A.; Hill, B.M. Peer production: A form of collective intelligence. In *Handbook of Collective Intelligence*; Malone, T., Bernstein, M., Eds.; MIT Press: Cambridge, MA, USA, 2015.
- 30. Guiltinan, J. Creative destruction and destructive creations: Environmental ethics and planned obsolescence. J. Bus. Ethics 2009, 89, 19–28. [CrossRef]
- 31. Krüger, O. The paradox of sustainable degrowth and a convivial alternative. Environ. Values 2019, 28, 233–251. [CrossRef]
- 32. Dempsey, N.; Bramley, G.; Power, S.; Brown, C. The social dimension of sustainable development: Defining urban social sustainability. *Sustain. Dev.* **2011**, *19*, 289–300. [CrossRef]
- 33. Kallis, G. In defence of degrowth. Ecol. Econ. 2011, 70, 873-880. [CrossRef]
- Meng, Y.; Yang, Y.; Chung, H.; Lee, P.-H.; Shao, C. Enhancing sustainability and energy efficiency in smart factories: A review. Sustainability 2018, 10, 4779. [CrossRef]
- Dahmus, J.B.; Gutowski, T.G. Can efficiency improvements reduce resource consumption? A historical analysis of ten activities. J. Ind. Ecol. 2011, 18, 883–897. [CrossRef]
- 36. Deriu, M. Conviviality. In *Degrowth: A Vocabulary for a New Era;* D'Alisa, G., Demaria, F., Kallis, G., Eds.; Routledge: London, UK, 2015; pp. 79–82.
- 37. Muraca, B.; Neuber, F. Viable and convivial technologies: Considerations on climate engineering from a degrowth perspective. J. Clean. Prod. 2017, 197, 1810–1822. [CrossRef]
- Lizarralde, I.; Tyl, B. A framework for the integration of the conviviality concept in the design process. J. Clean. Prod. 2017, 197, 1766–1777. [CrossRef]
- 39. Rzepnikowska, A. Migrant experiences of conviviality in the context of Brexit: Polish migrant women in Manchester. *Cent. East. Eur. Migr. Rev.* **2020**, *9*, 65–83.
- 40. Gillis, K.; Gatersleben, B. A Review of Psychological Literature on the Health and Wellbeing Benefits of Biophilic Design. *Buildings* 2015, *5*, 948–963. [CrossRef]
- 41. Salman, M. Sustainability and vernacular architecture: Rethinking what identity is. In *Urban and Architectural Heritage Conservation within Sustainability;* Hmood, K., Ed.; Intechopen: Rijeka, Croatia, 2018.
- 42. Walid, A.; Omar, F. Vernacular architecture approach to achieve sustainability in informal settlements. *Proc. Word SB* 2014, 14, 200–207.
- Gruen, J.P. Vernacular architecture. In Encyclopedia of Local History; Wilson, A.H., Ed.; Rowman & Littlefield: Lanham, MD, USA, 2017; pp. 697–698.
- 44. Oliver, P. Encyclopedia of Vernacular Architecture in the World; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK, 1997.
- 45. Parrique, T. *The Political Economy of Degrowth*; Economics and Finance, Université Clermont Auvergne; Stockholms Universitet: Stockholm, Sweden, 2019.
- 46. Priavolou, C. The emergence of open construction systems: A sustainable paradigm in the construction sector? *J. Futures Stud.* **2018**, 23, 67–84.
- 47. Priavolou, C. To BIM or not to BIM? Lessons learned from a Greek vernacular museum building. *AIMS Environ. Sci.* 2020, 7, 192–207. [CrossRef]
- Priavolou, C.; Niaros, V. Assessing the openness and conviviality of open source technology: The case of the WikiHouse. Sustainability 2019, 11, 4746. [CrossRef]
- 49. Caire, P. How to import the concept of conviviality to web communities. Int. J. Web Based Commun. 2010, 6, 99–113. [CrossRef]

- 50. Wittmayer, J.M.; Backhaus, J.; Avelino, F.; Pel, B.; Strasser, T.; Zuijderwijk, L. Narratives of change: How social innovation initiatives construct societal transformation. *Futures* **2019**, *112*, 102433. [CrossRef]
- 51. Kamar, K.A.M.; Ismail, E.; Hamid, Z.A.; MohdZin, M.Z.; Ghani, M.K.; Rahim, A.H. Understanding Open Systems in IBS; B & I Magazine: Selangor, Malaysia, 2010.
- 52. Siw, W.Y. Open Building System towards Functional Sustainability for Affordable Housing in Malaysia; Universiti Teknologi Malaysia: Johor Bharu, Malaysia, 2013.
- Adloff, F. Convivialist Manifesto: A Declaration of Interdependence; K\u00e4te Hamburger Kolleg/Centre for Global Cooperation Research: Duisburg, Germany, 2014.
- 54. Kostakis, V. How to reap the benefits of the digital revolution? Modularity and the commons. Halduskultuur 2019, 20, 4–19.
- 55. Bollier, D.; Helfrich, S. Free, Fair and Alive. The Insurgent Power of the Commons; New Society Publishers: Philadelphia, PA, USA, 2019.
- Elgammal, A.; Papazoglou, M.; Krämer, B.; Constantinescu, C. Design for customization: A new paradigm for product-service system development. *Procedia CIRP* 2017, 64, 345–350. [CrossRef]
- 57. Baldwin, C.Y.; Clark, K.B. Design Rules: The Power of Modularity; MIT Press: Cambridge, MA, USA, 2002.
- 58. Gershenson, J.K.; Prasad, G.J.; Zhang, Y. Product modularity: Definitions and benefits. J. Eng. Des. 2003, 14, 295–313. [CrossRef]
- 59. Viana, D.D.; Tommelein, I.D.; Formoso, C.T. Using modularity to reduce complexity of industrialized building systems for mass customization. *Energies* **2017**, *10*, 1622. [CrossRef]
- 60. Open Structures. Can We Design Hardware Like How We Design Software? Open Structures. 2021. Available online: https://openstructures.net/ (accessed on 6 July 2021).
- Bonvoisin, J. Implications of Open Source Design for Sustainability. In Sustainable Design and Manufacturing; Setchi, R., Howlett, R.J., Liu, Y., Theobald, P., Eds.; Springer: Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany, 2016; pp. 49–59.
- 62. Guggenheim, M.; Söderström, O. Re-Shaping Cities: How Global Mobility Transforms Architecture and Urban Form; Routledge: London, UK, 2010.
- 63. Open Building Institute. What We Do. Open Building Institute. 2020. Available online: https://www.openbuildinginstitute.org/ about-what-we-do/ (accessed on 6 July 2021).

Publication II

Priavolou, C., Troullaki, K., **Tsiouris, N.**, Giotitsas, C., & Kostakis, V. (2022). Tracing sustainable production from a degrowth and localisation perspective: A case of 3D printers. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *376*, 134291.

Journal of Cleaner Production 376 (2022) 134291

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Cleaner Production

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jclepro



Cleaner Production

Tracing sustainable production from a degrowth and localisation perspective: A case of 3D printers



Christina Priavolou^a, Katerina Troullaki^b, Nikiforos Tsiouris^a, Chris Giotitsas^{a,*}, Vasilis Kostakis^{a,c}

^a Ragnar Nurkse Department of Innovation and Governance, Tallinn University of Technology (TalTech), Akadeemia Tee 3, 12618, Tallinn, Estonia ^b Department of Chemical and Environmental Engineering, Technical University of Crete, Akroini Campus, 73100, Chania, Greece ^c Canada and Environmental Engineering, Technical University of Crete, Akroini Campus, 73100, Chania, Greece

^c Berkman Klein Center for Internet & Society, Harvard University, 23 Everett Street, Cambridge, MA, 02138, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Handling Editor: Mingzhou Jin

Keywords: 3D printers Sustainable production Degrowth Localisation Life cycle thinking Open source

ABSTRACT

An emerging commons-oriented mode of production that combines globally accessible knowledge with distributed manufacturing has recently been presented as a better fit for sustainable degrowth and localisation, compared to incumbent practices. To tentatively test this potential we select the case of 3D printers. The production of 3D printers varies within a spectrum from proprietary and industrially produced to open-source and locally manufactured. We compare different 3D printers within this spectrum, adopting a values-based life cycle analysis tool that allows for a critical evaluation of the sustainability of 3D printers from a degrowth perspective. An emphasis on the prospects for sustainable localisation, experimentation and maintenance, and enhanced conviviality in case parts of their manufacturing is localised. Still, to a large extent their manufacturing process remains a highly centralised process, hindering additional benefits, and coherence with sustainable degrowth and localisation. We conclude with insights on how openness in terms of materials production and proper documentation of the manufacturing process, as well as a multi-level organisation for local production could lead to more sustainabile practices.

1. Introduction

The rapidly escalating climate crisis and the recent supply chain disruptions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic and the Russo-Ukrainian war are shaking the foundations of the incumbent economic system. Critiques regarding the unsustainability of modern economies centre around their increasing production and consumption throughput, as well as their reliance on global supply chains (Feola, 2020; Foster et al., 2010).

Rethinking conventional production and consumption systems is urgent and the challenge has been taken on by various streams of thought proposing alternative systems of production (and in some cases consumption), including the circular economy, bioeconomy, and degrowth. While the first two are not directly critical to capitalism and economic growth, degrowth proponents argue that economic growth cannot be sufficiently decoupled from environmental impacts, which renders further growth of the economy unsustainable (Sekulova et al., 2013; Van den Bergh and Kallis, 2014). According to the latest IPCC et al. (2022) report, degrowth is considered the major alternative pathway for system transformation to that of 'green growth'. The question is then how degrowth can become environmentally and socially sustainable, rather than being "a catastrophic descent" (Kallis, 2011); and what production mode could be compatible with such an imperative.

At the same time, consecutive crises of recent years have culminated in a pressing call to address the vulnerability of production systems to supply chain disruptions. The relocalisation of production has been proposed as an alternative in this respect being a focal point in the degrowth literature (Hankammer and Kleer, 2018; Hankammer et al., 2021; Lizarralde and Tyl, 2018; Tsagkari et al., 2021). Relocalisation in the production of technologies pertains to all the life cycle stages of a technology, ranging from the use of local resources to local manufacturing and recycling processes (Shuman, 2013). In addition, it includes the recruitment of local workforce and the use of local low-tech

* Corresponding author.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2022.134291

Received 20 April 2022; Received in revised form 21 August 2022; Accepted 19 September 2022

Available online 26 September 2022

0959-6526/© 2022 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

E-mail addresses: christina.priavolou@taltech.ee (C. Priavolou), atroullaki@tuc.gr (K. Troullaki), nikiforos.tsiouris@taltech.ee (N. Tsiouris), christos.giotitsas@taltech.ee (C. Giotitsas), vasileios.kostakis@taltech.ee, vkostakis@cyber.harvard.edu (V. Kostakis).

ideas to support distributed manufacturing and maintenance (Kostakis et al., 2018; Tsagkari et al., 2021). The result is usually increased resilience, autonomy, efficiency in use of materials and energy, and reduction of logistics involved in relevant processes (Lizarralde and Tyl, 2018; Shuman, 2013; Tsagkari et al., 2021).

Kostakis et al. (2018) have explored emerging commons-based production practices brought together under the umbrella of the Design Global - Manufacture Local (DGML) configuration. In DGML processes, technology design is developed as a global digital commons (Benkler, 2006), while production takes place locally, often using shared infrastructures, such as in makerspaces and fab labs (Kallis et al., 2018). Kostakis et al. (2018) argue that particular characteristics of DGML production, i.e. sharing, on-demand production, and design-embedded sustainability, are compatible with the sustainable degrowth imperative.

In this article, we aim to empirically assess the compatibility of DGML production with sustainable degrowth and localisation compared to traditional production processes. We focus on a technological artefact that has been presented as an exemplar of DGML production, i.e. 3D printers (Kostakis et al., 2015a; Pazaitis et al., 2021). Similarly, several degrowth scholars and localisation enthusiasts (Kerschner et al., 2018; Molitch-Hou, 2020) have argued for the potential of 3D printers to reduce the environmental impact of the contemporary industrial world, fostering decentralised manufacturing processes and local supply chains.

However, current studies do not consider the way that a 3D printer is produced as a parameter of analysis. Positing that openness and potential for localised manufacturing - i.e. the structural elements of the DGML configuration - are key features embedded in the life cycle sustainability of technologies (Vetter, 2018; Lizarralde and Tyl, 2018; Ralph, 2021), we investigate a spectrum of 3D printer models ranging from proprietary and industrially produced to open-source and locally manufactured ones. We critically discuss distinctions between proprietary 3D printers and open-source ones, considering their life cycles through a values-based lens and focusing on localisation as a critical concept that promotes sustainability in technology production (Olivier et al., 2018; Ralph, 2021).

In summary, the study aims to assess the compatibility of the whole 3D printers' lifecycle with sustainable degrowth and localisation, and understand whether the DGML production configuration enhances this compatibility. We operationalise the imperatives of sustainable degrowth and localisation by employing a values-based sustainability assessment approach, as explained below. From a higher-level perspective, we illuminate understudied aspects of DGML, moving from a commonly proposed potential for sustainability towards its empirical understanding.

The article is structured as follows: Section 2 introduces the theoretical framework of this article, presenting a commons-based configuration towards sustainable degrowth and localisation. Section 3 describes the methodological approach of the research process, which follows a values-based life cycle approach to sustainability assessment. Section 4 presents the research outcomes discussing how openness and localised production may contribute to sustainable degrowth and localisation, and the barriers to this end. Finally, section 5 summarises the main findings and points to proposals for future research and action.

2. Exploring pathways for sustainable degrowth and localisation in production

2.1. Degrowth and localisation: a critical discussion

Growth, as in the increase of the Gross Domestic Product (GDP), is an imperative of the current economic system which has detrimental ecological and social consequences (D'Alisa et al., 2014; Demaria et al., 2019). One of the concepts aiming to reverse these consequences is degrowth. Degrowth is a normative concept, much like growth and development economics, aiming to reduce the overall resource and

energy throughput. Throughput is the result of the extraction, processing, logistics (transportation and distribution), consumption and, finally, disposal of materials and energy required for these procedures (Kallis, 2011). Degrowth aims to transition onto an alternative political and economic paradigm with a vastly smaller resource throughput whilst being socially and ecologically sustainable (Kallis et al., 2018; D' Alisa et al., 2014). Degrowth scholars have proposed diverse socio-technical trajectories towards this transition, but all converging towards limiting the resource throughput and redirecting technological change to increase resource efficiency rather than labour productivity (Kallis et al., 2018; Demaria et al., 2019).

Degrowth's reliance on technological change has led to complex debates (Kallis et al., 2018; Kerschner et al., 2018). Indeed, technology pervades all human -and non-human- activities and shapes, or even dictates, our way of life and the environment around us (Feenberg, 2002; Giotitsas, 2019). Jaques Ellul (1964), exploring the relations between technology and degrowth, went as far as stating that our technological system has led to a growth-oriented economy rather than the other way around. According to Ellul and leading degrowth thinker, Ivan Illich, economic growth transforms tools from means to ends with Illich (1973) claiming that technologies should be re-designable, repairable, modular, and even re-conceptualised by their users. The technologies that tend to lean towards sufficiency and creativity; adopt the open-source 'philosophy'; are designed for affordability and durability; explore tacit knowledge; empower communities through access to means of production; and promote localisation of production and logistics; are defined as convivial (Kerschner et al., 2018; Ralph, 2021).

The latter element of convivial technologies, localisation, may arguably present the most radical shift for production systems under degrowth. Especially considering the global spatialities of incumbent technologically mediated systems (Mocca, 2020). Localisation is the move away from globalised markets and supply chains, with the two not being mutually exclusive (Ajulo et al., 2020). Localisation of production is seen by many degrowth scholars as a key element that can foster the social and ecologically sustainable transition that degrowth proposes (Kallis, 2011; Gibson-Graham, 1996). Through localising production, communities could become more self-sufficient, autonomous and develop local economies (Ajulo et al., 2020).

However, if degrowth is to contribute to the aforementioned socially and ecologically sustainable transition, it should not focus solely on localisation and consider wider geographical spatialities and relevant infrastructures. Only a handful of studies tackle this spatial perspective (Demaria et al., 2019; Krähmer, 2022; Olsen et al., 2018). Since technology reflects the socio-economic system and its power relations (Bijker et al., 1987; Feenberg, 2002), then a framework of convivial technology may create different spatial dynamics. In other words, technology that embodies the values promoted by degrowth such as equity, inclusiveness, and sustainability may accommodate the conditions to move past the duality of global-local. We posit that the DGNL configuration, which were further discuss in the following subsection, may offer the necessary tools for cross-spatial forms of organising and producing.

2.2. Design global - manufacture local: a sustainable production configuration?

In the search for sustainable production and organisation processes under the degrowth agenda, the commons have been brought forth as communal practices to manage a certain resource (Bollier, 2014; Kostakis et al., 2015b). Radical commons-oriented configurations for organising, producing, and consuming have been introduced in the past few decades, following the information and communication technologies, with an eye to sustainability and human welfare (Benkler, 2006). Such modes are viewed as an umbrella political economy for exploring alternative sustainable practices (Kostakis et al., 2015 a, b), enhancing distributed manufacturing processes via local manufacturing technologies. One such configuration, codified as "design global, manufacture local" (DGML), has been proposed, building on the distributed production of technologies within the commons framework (Giotitsas et al., 2020; Kostakis et al., 2018). It has been observed that commons-based communities appropriate technology to create positive feedback loops for degrowth and localised manufacturing and maintenance (Kostakis et al., 2015 a, b, 2018) as manifested in numerous fields, including agriculture, building construction, and energy systems (Giotitsas et al., 2022; Priavolou et al., 2021; Troullaki et al., 2022).

More specifically, the DGML configuration embraces three interlocked elements: the non-profit-motivated design of technologies, the local manufacturing aspect of the DGML configuration, and the mutualisation of resources, such as information and tools (Kostakis et al., 2015b). In that regard, DGML technologies are designed for longevity, while ecological sustainability may be fostered through the design-embedded sustainability of technologies and their potential for on-demand production (Kostakis et al., 2018). Resources are shared in the form of online information as a global digital commons, while solutions are manufactured locally in physical infrastructures (e.g., machines, tools). Digital commons are characterised by the variably defined element of openness (Nafus, 2012; West, 2003). Openness may pertain to a lack of prohibitive access licences. or to the inclusive and collective development of a technology, strengthening the relationship dynamics within the involved community (Priavolou and Niaros, 2019; Shaikh and Vaast, 2016).

Further, the DGML configuration considers features, such as global cooperation as well as adaptability amongst local actors, including governance and biophysical conditions, to achieve decentralised production at the local scale (Ralph, 2021). It introduces more inclusive forms of production and consumption (Kostakis et al., 2018), while reducing the need for transporting materials and products through localised processes. Nevertheless, claims about its sustainability potential still rest on thin empirical foundations (Kohtala, 2015). This article is a tentative empirical exploration towards this direction focusing on 3D printers.

2.3. 3D printers as benchmarks for degrowth and localisation

In recent years, localised production processes are increasingly facilitated by technologies that have been associated with lower energy throughput, user autonomy, and inclusivity like laser cutters, milling machines, and, more prominently, 3D printers (Moilanen and Vadén, 2013; Srai et al., 2016; Windt, 2014). 3D printers specifically are additive fabrication machines that create a physical object from a digital design and have been highlighted in the booming field of sustainability transitions as potential tools for revolutionising production (Köhler et al., 2019; Kohtala, 2015; Lipson and Kurman, 2013; Maric et al., 2016).

3D printers have been discussed for their potential to reduce logistics, material waste, and overproduction, as well as to increase product lifespan and enable on-demand production (Khosravani and Reinicke, 2020; Molitch-Hou, 2020). Especially in light of the COVID-19 pandemic, 3D printing has emerged as a novel approach for communities to rapidly respond to disasters and crises, satisfying global and local needs (Dartnell and Kish, 2021; Newman, 2020; Tónissen and Schlicher, 2021). Further, 3D printing facilitates recycling processes for certain materials, such as lithium batteries and metal components (Berger, 2019; Giurco et al., 2014), hence promoting end-of-life systems and supporting localisation (Ralph, 2021). In that sense, 3D printers have been touted as paradigmatic cases with the potential to transform production in society, triggering discussions around ubiquitous and autonomous manufacturing (Birtchnell and Urry, 2013; Dubey et al., 2017; Gershenfeld, 2005).

After the core Fused Deposition Modeling (FDM) patent expired in 2009, 3D printing innovation has bloomed both in proprietary contexts and within the open-source movement (Laplume et al., 2016). For

instance, 3D printers can be produced by manufacturing companies following the conventional production model, keeping the designs, firmware, and software of the machine closed and thus preventing users from intervening in relevant processes. At the same time, open-source communities develop low-cost 3D printers based on DGML principles. They openly share information and innovations, allowing continuous improvements in the design, firmware, and manufacturing of 3D printers. Or, at the very least, the replication of a 3D printer is not prohibited or requires licensing. The development of the RepRap project, the first open-source 3D printer whose production may approximate the DGML configuration, has further boosted the propagation of 3D printing technology as many built on its rudimentary design (Jones et al., 2011).

With regards to sustainability assessments around 3D printing technology, ecological, social, economic, and integrated assessments have been conducted as provided in Table A1 (Appendix A). Most empirical studies have compared the process of 3D printing with industrial production processes (Cerdas et al., 2017; Gebler et al., 2014; Petersen and Pearce, 2017). Also, different 3D printing technologies (Faludi et al., 2015; Kellens et al., 2017) or alternative additive and subtractive manufacturing techniques (Doran et al., 2016; Foteinopoulos et al., 2019) have been assessed. Further, Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) has been widely applied to estimate the ecological impacts of 3D printed products throughout their life cycles (Li et al., 2017; Ma et al., 2018; Yao and Huang, 2019; Munoz et al., 2021). Potential risks of 3D printing technology related to the creation of rebound effects and waste of material and energy resources have also been identified (Giurco et al., 2014).

In such empirical studies, the focus of analysis are the 3D printed products rather than the printers themselves. The whole life cycle of the 3D printers has rarely been considered with studies usually employing impacts-based approaches to sustainability assessment, which is vague in terms of how sustainability is conceptualised. They implicitly adopt efficiency-oriented criteria, ignoring secondary effects of the hegemonic efficiency strategy (Figge et al., 2014). The insufficiency of such efficiency-oriented methods has been stressed by degrowth scholars (Schröder et al., 2019).

In this article, we bring 3D printers themselves into focus. We hypothesise that 3D printers produced in a DGML way would be more compatible with sustainable localisation and degrowth throughout their life cycles. We aim to tentatively test this assumption, by exploring community projects that develop, tinker with, and use differently produced 3D printers, as explained in the next section.

3. Research approach

3.1. A values-based approach to sustainability assessment

Sustainability assessment approaches usually employ impacts-based methods focusing on the thematic areas of environment, society, and economy. Although thematic conceptualisations of sustainability facilitate the assignment of indicators to measure sustainability, i.e. the operationalisation of sustainability, the values guiding the selection of indicators are rarely transparent. This may obscure the fact that sustainability is a value-laden concept that reflects the rationality of the decision-makers.

Currently, the most established methods for assessing sustainability adopt the life cycle principle. Particularly LCA translates all material and energy inputs and environmental releases throughout a product's life cycle to potential environmental impacts; lacking, however, a valuesbased lens (Troullaki et al., 2021). For example, the fact that LCA is an eco-efficiency tool is rarely mentioned in research applying it. Alrøe et al. (2017) associated values-based approaches with Weber's value rationality and non-consequentialist ethics, illuminating how things are done rather than the outcomes. Further, Dahl (2012) stressed the need to apply values-based approaches to integrate ethical principles in

sustainability transitions.

Such an approach is the Matrix of Convivial Technologies (MCT) (Vetter, 2018), which was designed based on values prioritised by degrowth-oriented communities (Robra et al., 2020). The MCT is a self-assessment tool intended to be used by communities for making their technologies more 'convivial' as introduced by Illich. Paraphrasing Illich (1973), conviviality is the proper level and kind of development for satisfying the needs of human societies. As such, it can be seen as a broader vision for sustainability agnostic to the growth imperative (Ralph, 2021). A more etymological definition of conviviality could be "the art of living together" (con + vivere). Hence, convivial technologies are perceived as technologies designed to 'live together' with other human and non-human elements in their social-ecological environments. In this case, conviviality is linked to localisation, autonomy from industrialisation, affordability, and access to knowledge required to produce and maintain technologies (Kerschner et al., 2018; Lizarralde and Tvl, 2018).

The MCT adopts a transparent values-based approach rather than fragmentation in environmental, social, and economic impacts; still covering all of these impact areas in an integrated way. For instance, assessing whether the production of a technological artefact creates the 'Need for foreign experts' or rather 'Uses local knowledge' is a criterion touching simultaneously upon economic, political, cultural, and ecological aspects. We here employed the MCT as a comprehensive normative schema to assess degrowth-inspired sustainability aspects of 3D printers throughout their life cycles.

The MCT is a two-dimensional matrix that includes the life cycle levels of a technological solution across the one dimension (i.e., materials, manufacture, use, and infrastructure) and correlates them with the five values across the other dimension. In the MCT, the values used to operationalise conviviality are:

- Relatedness, i.e. how technology affects the relations of people with nature, with other people and with technology itself,
- ii) Access, i.e. who can produce, use, and dispose the technology, where, and how,
- iii) Adaptability, i.e. how independent or linkable a technology is to its environment,
- iv) Bio-interaction, i.e. how a technology interacts with the ecosystem, and
- v) Appropriateness, i.e. what is the relation between the inputs and outputs of the technology considering a given context.

In practice, to assess technologies against these values, the matrix comprises pairs of antagonistic terms that specify and enrich the meaning of each value. Following Vetter's proposition for a contextsensitive use of the MCT, we adjusted the original version of the matrix to suit the technology and context under study (Appendix D). Certain antagonistic terms were omitted and others rephrased so as to keep the matrix simple and comprehensible by 3D printers practitioners.

With regards to the MCT's infrastructure level, we defined it as the infrastructure closely connected with and required for the efficient use of the 3D printer (e.g. computer, electricity, software). However, during the early applications of the matrix we observed considerable overlap of the infrastructure level with issues addressed in the use level, which created much confusion without adding insights. Therefore, we omitted the infrastructure level and integrated certain antagonistic terms of it into the use level. Indicatively, we considered the electricity consumption aspect, which is non-negligible during the operation of 3D printers, in the appropriateness dimension of the use level. Hence, our analysis spanned across three life-cycle levels of the 3D printer: i. materials, which includes harvesting, processing, and end of life of materials, ii. manufacturing, which pertains to manufacturing 3D printer preproducts and assembling them, and iii. use, which includes the operation and maintenance of 3D printers. Our methodological steps are thoroughly presented in the next session.

3.2. Methodological steps

Aiming to explore whether DGML-based 3D printers are more compatible with sustainable degrowth and localisation than industrially produced ones, we brought the production process of 3D printers into the foreground. We examined 3D printers that differ in how they are produced, allowing for different levels of openness and localised manufacturing. To allow for a tentative comparative assessment, we focused on desktop 3D printers, and particularly the Fused Filament Fabrication (FFF) technology, one the most widely used and commercialised 3D printing applications (Pazaitis et al., 2021).

We began with a literature review of sustainability assessments around the 3D printing technology (Appendix A). We then launched a preliminary round of 12 interviews to allow for a tentative understanding of the current situation at an EU level. Through snowballing, we reached out to individuals and makerspaces to better comprehend and record their experience regarding the use of 3D printers. The interviewees were do-it-yourself enthusiasts, as well as individuals from maker communities, and 3D printing enterprises. Our inquiry focused on the manufacturing process of 3D printers, the context and purpose of use, the maintenance process, and the open-source aspects of 3D printers, as presented in Table B1 (Appendix B). Based on the interviewees' feedback, we also recorded a set of 3D printer models with comparable performance and capabilities as indicated in Table C1 (Appendix C).

Subsequently, considering country-level differences in terms of technology production and supply chain management (Furman et al., 2002; Vachon and Mao, 2008) but also for proximity reasons, we narrowed our studied context to Greece. We presumed this could allow a more concise and focused assessment of 3D printers with the MCT. Intending to explore emerging alternative forms of manufacturing, different to incumbent practices, and informed by the preliminary work, we focused our inquiry on communal initiatives like fab labs and makerspaces. Such places are incubators for the rising maker culture (Kostakis et al., 2015a; Maxigas, 2012). Although makers have usually limited agency in the initial stages of the supply chain (e.g. extraction and processing of raw materials), they engage in a large part of the manufacturing process.

We thus conducted semi-structured interviews with six makerspaces and fab labs that engage in a wide range of activities as shown in Table E1 (Appendix E), using the MCT as a guide. Two to three community members of each makerspace or fab lab participated in each of these interviews. We documented the experience of these organisations with 3D printer models that are comparable based on our analysis during the first round. Additional communications took place to complement the analysis and provide clarifications when necessary.

The six organisations operate within the Greek context, with varying interests and fields of expertise. Organisation A is a fabrication and research laboratory and official reseller and service centre for MakerBot in Greece, whose members use 3D printers for education, experimentation, and prototyping. They also sell 3D printers and provide maintenance services to their customers. Organisation B is a digital innovation hub that uses 3D printers for prototyping and education purposes, while occasionally building spare parts for customers. Organisation C is a research collective that uses 3D printers for experimentation and education without engaging in commercial activities. Organisation D is a makerspace that focuses on experimentation and the development of innovative prototypes, using 3D printers for their own use and selling. Organisation E is a makerspace that provides services in different stages of prototyping and final manufacturing, while procuring spare parts from local technicians (like Organisation F) or abroad when necessary.

Organisation F is an exceptional case for the Greek context given that, to our knowledge, it represents the only case in Greece (other than individual hobbyists) where a 3D printer was partially produced following the DGML configuration. It is the first open-source 3D printing company in Greece that builds and sells customisable Prusa i3 (successful model of the RepRap project) variants on demand. All their printers are based on open designs, which in many cases have been modified and published again openly. When they started operating in 2008, the economic crisis in Greece favoured their activities, as the market from abroad was basically closed. They used to invite customers to participate in hands-on workshops where they manufactured their 3D printers themselves for a small additional fee. However, once purchasing low-cost 3D printers from China became possible again, they had to transform their business model. Their main activities today are manufacturing 3D printers locally for education and own use, designing and making 3D printed products and offering technical services to endusers.

In an attempt to distinguish different production models between the studied 3D printers, we identified certain elements both for the design and manufacturing processes of 3D printers. As explained below, two of these elements refer to the design process and two to the manufacturing process of 3D printers. All these production elements emerged from literature data and were complemented by discussions during the first round of interviews.

Regarding the design process, we considered the trichotomy of transparency, accessibility, and replicability which are the most cited elements of openness in literature (Balka et al., 2010, 2014). These refer to the freedom to study the design files of a technology and to participate in its development and its assembly process, including the bill of materials and fabrication instructions. Another important element of openness is the commercial usability of a technology that describes the freedom to distribute information (Bonvoisin and Mies, 2018). To account for these openness elements, we included the licence type and documentation as two basic elements to distinguish different openness levels in the production of 3D printers. In addition, elements associated with the documentation processes (i.e. CAD files, assembly instructions, and bill of materials) were pointed out in our preliminary inquiry as significantly important when it comes to the local manufacturing of 3D printers.

Moving from the design to the manufacturing process of 3D printers, the decomposition of a technology into modular components proved to be a critical element that enables the localised manufacturing of technologies (Kostakis, 2019). In the case of 3D printers, a kit version of a 3D printer, including a set of motors, gears, axes, bolts, and other hardware equipment together with detailed instructions for assembling the components together, offers this opportunity. In addition, an essential element that lies beyond the control of the original manufacturing company, is the local capacity for manufacturing, which pertains to the local availability of various resources (Kostakis, 2019; Fiszbein, 1997), like infrastructural (i.e. buildings, equipment, tools), human (i.e. skills, expertise), natural (i.e. raw materials and energy), and organisational ones (e.g. supplier and manufacturing organisations, training centres). These dimensions emerged in our case from literature data, while some of them were also reported during the first round of interviews as possible factors that may affect the potential for localised manufacturing of 3D printers.

Consequently, we identified four elements that differentiate the production process of 3D printers and, if present, approach the DGML production paradigm. These are:

- i) the type of licence, which defines the restrictions under which one is allowed to access, re-use, modify, and redistribute the design,
- ii) the availability of open documentation, which refers to the publication of all design files and instructions (CAD files, board schematics, firmware files, assembly instructions, and bill of materials) needed to replicate the original 3D printer,
- iii) the availability of a kit option, which enables the local assembly of 3D printers' components, and

iv) the capacity for local manufacturing, i.e. the local availability of infrastructural, human, natural, and organisational resources required for decentralising the manufacturing process.

In Table 1, our studied 3D printer cases are marked in terms of satisfying or not the four production elements.

The methodological steps of our study are summarised in Fig. 1. In the next section, we critically discuss the results from the application of the MCT at different phases of the 3D printers' life cycle and identify hotspots and areas for improvement for sustainable degrowth and localisation.

4. Results and discussion

Below we discuss our findings based on our interviews with the six organisations which were complemented with insights from the first round of interviews. The results are categorised in different life cycle stages of a 3D printer using the life-cycle dimensions of the MCT as a guide.

4.1. Assessment per life cycle stage of 3D printers

4.1.1. Acquisition and disposal of materials

The interviewees have used both proprietary and open-source 3D printers. In most cases, even open-source 3D printers were purchased from the market, either pre-assembled or as kits. Some, like Organisation F and respondents from the preliminary inquiry, had actually built a 3D printer from scratch using open-source designs.

Most interviewees found the values of the MCT for the acquisition and disposal of 3D printers' materials (Appendix D; Figure D1) irrelevant as they had no or little involvement in these processes. This was expected in the case of industrially-produced 3D printers, where the user is not involved in the production process, let alone in the acquisition of 3D printers' materials. However, even for self-built 3D printers, certain components, such as the extruder, the heated bed, and the motherboard, are purchased off-the-shelf, and the local manufacturing process starts after this point. Some parts of the 3D printer are indeed manufactured locally by another 3D printer. For these printed parts, recycled

Table 1

Production elements against studied 3D printer cases (model | organisation).

Model User	Productio	on elements associat	ed with DGML				
	Openness	(design)	Localisation (manufacturing)				
	Open licence	Open documentation	Local assembly	Capacity for local manufacturing			
Makerbot Replicator+ Org. A Makerbot Replicator Mini Org. B Cubex Duo Org. A Ultimaker 2 Org. C	X		v				
Lulzbot Taz 6 Org. D Ultimaker Original Org. C	X X		x x				
Original Prusa i3 MK3 Org. B	х	Х	Х				
Creality 3D Ender-3 Org. A	Х	Х	х				
Prusa i3 Org. E, F	Х	Х	Х	X (partially)			

1st round of interviews

Literature Review Framing the problem, the assessment scheme, and the production elements

2nd round of interviews

<u>6 semi-structured interviews</u>: Qualitative values-based life cycle analysis of 3D printers using the MCT as a guide

Fig. 1. Methodological steps followed during the research process.

Polyethylene Terephthalate (PET) may be used, e.g. by turning a PET bottle into filament. Makers can also choose the material in certain components, such as the frame (e.g. aluminium, wood or printed), according to their needs. They also select which parts and components to purchase among the available products in the market. These options enhance to some extent the adaptability of the machine to local contexts and needs, and the relatedness of the makers-user with the 3D printer. Still, the maker mostly interacts with ready-made components and parts, which obstructs the active participation of users in the materials acquisition.

Regarding the end-of-life of 3D printers, interviewees mentioned that 3D printers are quite durable machines if properly maintained. This has been reported for both industrially-produced (like Makerbot and Prusa Research models) and locally-manufactured machines (like Prusa variants manufactured by Organisation F). When they reach their end-of-life, however, access to the disposal processes of 3D printers' raw materials proved to be challenging.

Restrictions related to the acquisition and disposal of 3D printers' materials start from the fact that the bill of materials is unavailable to the users, especially in the case of industrially-produced machines. Interviewees also noted the absence of information and infrastructure for the recycle process of 3D printers. In the best case, more experienced users were able to reuse certain parts of old models to fix or make new 3D printers. This is most common for locally manufactured 3D printers, as industrially-produced printers have limited compatibility with later models. In other cases, older machines, especially locally manufactured ones, sit in the loft of makerspaces in a museum-like fashion, exhibiting the history of the organisation. Consequently, for the time being, many interviewees have been able to adapt the 3D printer's end-of-life to their needs and abilities - mostly in the case of DGML 3D printers. They have thus avoided directly disposing of old 3D printers, which contain toxic materials (e.g. in their electronics) and shouldn't be landfilled or incinerated.

Nevertheless, the disposal of 3D printers has not been a subject of concern for most interviewees. Instead, interviewees were mainly concerned with the handling of waste created during the use of the 3D printer, i.e. how to recycle the filament from failed prints (see 4.1.3). However, as 3D printing technology is evolving, more machines reach their end-of-life stage and the disposal of 3D printers will become a pressing issue. To this end, the transparency of information around the acquisition and disposal processes of 3D printers' materials and the increased user awareness associated with DGML 3D printers could create favourable conditions for the sustainable end-of-life of 3D printers.

4.1.2. Manufacturing and assembly of parts

Our survey indicates that transitioning from open licence and open documentation to actual local manufacturing of 3D printers is hard to materialise. We identified two challenging aspects: i) manufacturing and assembling a well-calibrated 3D printer requires considerable expertise, and ii) most parts are currently only produced in a centralised, industrial setting.

Results &

Discussion

Concerning the first aspect, practitioners reported that manufacturing a 3D printer is a demanding venture. Multi-disciplinary skills are required (including mechanical, electronics and programming ones), which are difficult for one person to master sufficiently to be able to make a fully functional 3D printer. Those who undertake this task outside industrial settings are usually hobbyists, who are tolerant of ending up with a machine that needs frequent user intervention. The lack of safeguards and the need for manual calibration are two main reasons why accessibility is reduced for inexperienced users in the case of locally manufactured 3D printers.

The case of Organisation F, however, prefigures a potentially sustainable business model for the localised production of 3D printers. They have managed to add automatic calibration (auto-bed-levelling) and simple safeguards to their 3D printers -as industrial manufacturers do-to address some of the aforementioned problems. More importantly, rather than just selling locally manufactured 3D printers, they organise handson workshops where they train their customers how to assemble their 3D printer themselves for a small additional fee. A support network is created among the organisation and workshop participants, which facilitates the provision of advisory and maintenance services.

While Organisation F's business model could not be sustained for long due to changes in the Greek socio-technical landscape, experience from other DGML cases in literature shows that such initiatives can survive provided they have minimal institutional support. More specifically, the practice of offering hands-on manufacturing workshops is a typical approach for spreading DGML technologies, as manifested in the case of small wind turbines (Troullaki et al., 2022) or agricultural tools (Giotitsas, 2019). Such cases indicate that active participation in the manufacturing processes of a technology enhances accessibility during the use and maintenance phase.

Regarding the second challenge for the localisation of 3D printers, local manufacturing is currently associated only with certain parts of the 3D printer -mainly those that can be printed by another 3D printer. Besides these printed parts, most other parts are bought off-the-shelf from industrial suppliers. Even simple components (such as screws and ground rods) are usually ordered from abroad, while specialised mechanical and electronic components (such as extruders, controllers, and heatbeds) are sourced from overseas suppliers. Although the latter may be available in the closest urban centre, makers usually order cheap

components from China. Electronics may be partially self-manufactured (parts like capacitors and boards still have to be ordered from China) but the time, effort, and money needed to build them makes this a nonviable option even for experienced makers.

Reflecting on the MCT values, relatedness, access, and adaptability at the manufacturing phase were reported as minimal for industriallyproduced, pre-assembled 3D printers. Further, their level of appropriateness and bio-interaction could not be adequately answered since the interviewees had no role in the manufacturing process. Regardless of their licence types, most of these machines are rather fixed with limited adaptability after manufacturing. However, some differences are observed for 'fully open-source' models, i.e. those that combine open licence and open documentation. Fully open-source 3D printers, such as Prusa Research products, were reported as significantly more affordable - thus more accessible in this regard-than equivalent proprietary or partially open-source ones. Additionally, fully open-source models tend to be more modular and adaptable after manufacture, as user intervention is intended and required in contrast to the "plug'n'play" proprietary alternatives.

In the case of open-source 3D printer kits, the interviewees reported limited relatedness and access to the manufacturing phase which generally remains a centralised process. They could, however, relate to MCT values when assembly is concerned. They characterised assembly as a standardised process that leaves scarce room for creativity or for building human relations, as people typically purchase a kit and assemble it themselves. Nevertheless, when the assembly is done in the context of a training workshop, as in the case of Organisation F, relations between workshop participants and organisers are created. Also, assembling 3D printer parts can be a learning, skill-building experience. Indicatively, some interviewees highlighted that the assembly process of 3D printers offers you 'inside knowledge' of the machine you are going to use, which is useful for fixing problems -even for proprietary 3D printers.

Access in terms of cost varies widely for different kits, with some fully open-source kits being priced significantly lower than partially open-source or proprietary ones, while reportedly having equivalent performance. Purchasing a kit though is in general cheaper than buying a pre-assembled 3D printer. The adaptability, bio-interaction, and appropriateness of 3D printer kits are to a large extent predefined by the manufacturing company, and they don't necessarily differ from preassembled 3D printers in this regard. In terms of adaptability though, the interviewees mentioned that assembly is possible in any protected space without the need for special tools.

Self-manufactured 3D printers involve deep engagement from makers. Much expertise and creativity is required to choose, collect, and make the different components, to install or modify the firmware and software, and to calibrate the machine. Although access to manufacturing is closely related with the existence of open licences and documentation for 3D printers, their availability does not guarantee accessibility to the manufacturing of 3D printers. Self-manufactured 3D printers can hardly live up to the term 'locally manufactured' of the DGML configuration since access to the manufacturing process of most 3D printer components remains concealed. Hence, certain components end up being industrially manufactured.

Self-manufactured 3D printers are not necessarily more accessible in terms of cost compared to purchasing the same open-source model directly from the manufacturing company. Similarly, regarding biointeraction, the expected resource-use reduction doesn't seem to be achieved since many components are still purchased off-the shelf from overseas manufacturers. Even in the case of Organisation F that most approximates the DGML configuration, materials are transported over long distances, leading to high ecological footprints and obscure supply chains. Also, reducing the actual manufacturing process to few components reduces the relatedness of the making of less sophisticated types of technology. Still, practitioners consider these "self-manufactured" 3D printers as personal creations, especially if they have also modified their designs.

To sum up, there are benefits in terms of cost and modularity in the case of fully open-source 3D printers, as well as advantages in terms of relatedness, accessibility, and adaptability that arise from the local assembly or the partially local manufacturing of 3D printers. However, manufacturing a 3D printer in the Greek context remains to a large extent dependent on centralised, standardised, and industrialised processes, limiting additional benefits, especially when referring to the bio-interaction and appropriateness of the manufacturing phase.

4.1.3. Use and maintenance

Industrially-produced pre-assembled 3D printers were reported as fairly easy to use. In fact, manufacturing companies design and market 3D printers as "plug'n'play", i.e. ready for use with minimal user intervention required. To this end, they include additional user-friendly features that expedite problem-solving processes, such as error identification systems or heated and protective enclosure cases that help address humidity-related issues during operation.

On the other hand, access to their maintenance is restricted. An experienced user may learn basic maintenance, but when a part of a proprietary 3D printer becomes defective, it cannot be fixed. The whole part has to be replaced, which increases the cost and downtime for maintenance. The need for foreign experts in this case is evident since spare parts are only provided by the manufacturing company. A critical factor is then the quality of the company's support, which can cause lengthy delays in communication and the shipping of spare parts overseas. Restricted access to maintenance is also reflected in the 3D printers' appearance; they are "closed like a fridge" as an interviewee stated, consisting of non-visible parts. However, in case the printer features error identification, solutions for some hardware failures may be found through online communities.

Problems related to software and firmware cannot be fixed by users but need to be centrally addressed through the company or an official incountry service centre. Interviewees reported that depending on the success of each 3D printer model, regional or national support networks may develop; however, this has not happened in the Greek context for the examined proprietary printers. Thus, maintenance for proprietary 3D printers in the Greek context tends to be centralised with more extended and less sustainable logistics compared to certain open-source alternatives.

The differentiating factor for better access to maintenance is the presence of a large community of users sharing designs, maintenance advice, and technical information for a particular model -which is larger for some successful open-source models, such as the Prusa i3. Related-ness among 3D printers practitioners is enhanced in this case. While such communities are typical for open-source technologies, they also exist for proprietary 3D printer models. This seems to stem from a tradition of collaboration among 3D printer practitioners. As an interviewee characteristically stated, most companies set out as open-source start-ups and gradually transform to proprietary corporations with their products following that line of evolution, moving from fully open-source to proprietary.

Regarding adaptability during operation and maintenance, a restricting factor for various proprietary models is the need to use the manufacturing company's own filament. A workaround may be possible by adding a base to support the use of other filaments, a solution that has arisen within user communities of many proprietary models in an attempt to overcome artificial restrictions. In some cases, however, using non-original filament may compromise a proprietary 3D printer's warranty as stated by the interviewees. Additionally, the exchange of specific components (e.g. extruder, motor, and belt) may be possible but only between particular models of the same company. Regarding adaptability in terms of software, many users of proprietary 3D printers prefer to use open-source slicing software rather than the proprietary alternative provided by the printer's manufacturer. This has become

possible through scripts developed by communities of users and available as digital commons, which adapt the software to particular 3D printer models.

All interviewees agreed that purchasing an open-source 3D printer as a kit enables users to better grasp how to address problems that may arise during its operation. In addition, the availability of a kit option for 3D printers allows for disassemblability that facilitates standardised automation and tooling as well as low-cost and decentralised maintenance processes. Makerbot Replicator, for example, is "like a closed box", while an Ultimaker Original (open-source model, also available as a kit) can be easily deconstructed to modular components that are fastened with magnets rather than screws. Therefore, availability as a kit enables adaptability during use and accessibility in maintenance, which in turn enhances appropriateness by allowing repair instead of recycling or disposing of defective parts.

Most users mentioned that the use of fully open-source 3D printers significantly increases relatedness through the development of collaborative processes. They also stated that accessing widely available digital resources facilitates repairability by non-experts. The existence of a large online community around open-source 3D printers can expedite problem-solving processes and enable the constant development and improvements in the performance of open-source 3D printers. Indicatively, Organisation F managed through support from online communities to solve calibration issues observed in open-source models by changing the firmware and adding automatic bed levelling to printers. Nevertheless, they highlighted the need for proper documentation and integration of best practices since they are currently compelled to search solutions in fragmented sources.

Interviewees also mentioned that, although fully open-source 3D printers may generally require more user intervention, they can rival industrially-produced proprietary ones in terms of performance. Further, they have shorter downtimes in case of failure, considering that their maintenance may be less dependent on remote experts and overseas suppliers if the user has basic knowledge to calibrate and maintain the machines. Thus, relatively experienced users have more motives to choose fully open-source 3D printers.

In addition, fully open-source 3D printers are more flexible in using spare parts that may be available locally, contributing to more sustainable logistics. More specifically, these 3D printers are designed to enhance adaptability, enabling the use of different filament materials (by adapting different nozzles). Proprietary models tend to be more specialised in their functionality instead (e.g. Makerbot 3D printers print only with PLA). Further, opting for more frugal and modular designs increases accessibility to maintenance, as in the case of the Prusa model compared to other proprietary and partially open-source printers. This is crucial especially in the case of sophisticated types of technology like 3D printers since it could decrease complexity and technical obsolescence (Zoellick and Bisht, 2018), leading to more affordable and environmentally sustainable 3D printers.

Regarding self-manufactured 3D printers, interviewees stressed that participation in the production process enables the comprehensibility of the produced technology -with obvious benefits for educational purposes and experimentation, but also for operation and maintenance. More specifically, practitioners who had hands-on manufacturing experience with 3D printers were more attentive to all 3D printers they use in terms of preventive maintenance, resulting in better performing machines and fewer failed prints. This indicates how important the user profile is in the performance and ultimately the ecological sustainability of the printing process. In this respect, approaching the user profile of a maker (or if we may say, a DGML actor) can be a strong leverage point for more sustainable 3D printing practices. In addition, local manufacturing organisations (like Organisation F) typically provide technical service for 3D printers locally, given that many 3D printing companies have insufficient service networks in Greece. Thus, the expertise gained through local production also fosters the creation of local maintenance networks.

As for the ecological aspects of bio-interaction and appropriateness, it is not clear whether manufacturing a 3D printer 'locally' -to the extent done today-reduces the overall carbon footprint emissions. Parts of the self-manufactured 3D printers still have to travel overseas from suppliers (usually China) to the end-user. However, industrially-produced 3D printers and their spare parts travel an additional route from the suppliers to the manufacturer's premises, before reaching the end-user. Depending on the relative distances between these three locations, this may considerably increase transportation routes. The mode of transport in these overseas itineraries also needs to be considered in a context-specific manner.

In general, the interviewees did not consider 3D printers as a technology that benefits the environment; unless filament produced from recycled plastic is used. They were greatly interested in addressing ecological issues related to the operation of 3D printers, including the use of recyclable materials and the utilisation of the filament spools and the filament coming from failed prints. Although few had experimented with the disposal of wasted filament (PLA or ABS) following online instructions, manuals, and standardised recycling rules, they reported the absence of institutionalised infrastructure to utilise filament coming from unsuccessful prints. Thus, acquiring and disposing of 3D printing filament remains a centralised, industrialised, and market-driven process. In Fig. 2, our findings for the three stages of the 3D printer life cycle are summarised.

4.2. Discussion

While 3D printers have been selected as a potential exemplar of DGML production, this study indicates that until now they are only to some extent compatible with the theoretical DGML conceptualisation, particularly the "manufacture local" part. 3D printers are a typical technology that develops through a global community of practitioners, companies, and associations, making them characteristic examples of the "design global" aspect. On the contrary, 3D printers' material acquisition and manufacturing are less decentralised, and their dependence on global supply chains harder to overcome.

A main reason for that may be the fact that 3D printers are more sophisticated technologies in their manufacturing than other DGML technologies that have been examined so far, such as locally manufactured small wind turbines (Troullaki et al., 2022) or agricultural tools (Giotitsas, 2019). 3D printers include components, like motors, controllers and electronic boards that are usually inaccessible or inconvenient to self-manufacture. In addition, special emphasis should be placed on the context in which a 3D printer is developed. This is closely related to the local capacity for manufacturing, i.e. infrastructural, human, natural, and organisational elements required for localising the manufacturing of 3D printers. The combinations of such elements, however, may differ substantially from place to place. In that regard, the low local capacity for manufacturing DGML 3D printers in the Greek context does not eliminate the possibility to build fully DGML 3D printers elsewhere.

With regards to the production process of 3D printers, a main outcome of this research is that there is no consensus on specific elements that characterise an open-source 3D printer. The distinction between open-source and proprietary 3D printers caused confusion as the definition of openness remains vague, while solely the presence of an open licence practically makes no difference to the end user. Nevertheless, there proved to be substantial differences among various open-



Fig. 2. Summary of MCT findings for the 3D printers life cycle. Certain figure elements were sourced from www.pngegg.com.

source 3D printers when considering the combined presence of the openness elements we had defined, i.e. open licence and open documentation.

The ambiguity of the open-source concept arising from a broad spectrum of openness degrees that characterises open-source 3D printers makes the issue of openwashing relevant. Openwashing is reported when the public disagrees with an organisation's claim of offering design information fully (Heimstädt, 2017; Heimstädt et al., 2014; Tkacz, 2012). This may be due to their different expectations around the proper sharing of information in a transparent manner. For example, in the case of 3D printers, a company may release the printer under an open licence but never make its design files, bill of materials, and assembly instructions available. Hence, creating a shared understanding of standards and specifications in open-source artefacts is essential for their sustainable localisation (Bonvoisin et al., 2020).

Although motives for manufacturing 3D printers locally in nonindustrial settings are currently low in the Greek territory, there seem to be motives for individuals to purchase open-source 3D printers instead of proprietary ones. That is mainly because fully open-source 3D printers are significantly more affordable and accessible in terms of maintenance, education and experimentation. In addition, the existence of digitally connected communities of users and the disassemblability of the 3D printers into modular components facilitate problem-solving and allow for open-source printers' constant development.

Nevertheless, our research shows that simply purchasing an opensource 3D printer without engaging in its lifecycle process eliminates possible benefits. More specifically, the interviewees stressed the significant role that the user profile plays in the performance and ultimately the ecological sustainability of the printers. Experienced users make fewer unsuccessful prints, minimising wasted material and electricity consumption required for printing objects. From an environmental point of view, this is crucial given the high amounts of electricity consumption of 3D printers (Ajay et al., 2016). In addition, users with hands-on manufacturing experience with 3D printers proved to be more attentive in terms of preventive maintenance, resulting in better performing machines and more sustainable 3D printing practices.

Finally, the localisation of materials has received little attention up to now, as proponents of decentralised and democratised technology usually focus on the manufacturing phase, neglecting the source of materials. Positive exceptions are open-source platforms like Materiom¹ that can offer valuable insights on producing materials locally, enhancing further the localisation of 3D printers. In addition, widelyspread bottom-up initiatives in Europe, like Precious Plastics,² enable distributed recycling and can be attached to additive manufacturing by using plastic waste and converting it to 3D printing filament. As long as the extraction, processing, and disposal of resources remain obscure and highly complex, the prospect of establishing sustainable production cycles remains out of reach. In that sense, the decentralisation and democratisation of materials production and disposal seems of utmost importance in the pursuit of sustainable localisation for most technologies.

5. Conclusions

This paper explores the potential for a transition to sustainable degrowth and localisation through an emerging production configuration. This configuration, tentatively called DGML, requires shifting towards a political economy framework that places the commons into its core, fostering global collaboration and decentralised production with long-term benefits for society. To this end, emblematic technologies, such as 3D printers, are put forward to promote sustainable pathways for localisation and distributed production processes.

We qualitatively assessed the compatibility of differently produced desktop 3D printers with sustainable degrowth and localisation during

¹ https://materiom.org/.

² https://preciousplastic.com/.

their life cycles. We hypothesised that 3D printers produced in a DGML way would be more compatible with sustainable localisation and degrowth throughout their life cycles. To test this assumption, we conducted a series of interviews with practitioners, applying the MCT as a values-based assessment tool. The MCT helped us highlight degrowth-inspired sustainability issues related to the life cycle of 3D printers, indicating hotspots for improvement in different life cycle stages. To distinguish different production models of 3D printers, we identified four basic elements: i) the type of licence used, ii) the availability of open documentation, iii) the availability of a kit option, and iv) the capacity for local manufacturing.

While 3D printers whose life cycle is closer to the DGML configuration proved to be more compatible with sustainable localisation than those conventionally produced, our case illustrated that we still have no concrete examples of actual DGML production for 3D printers. This research featured a lack of makers' participation in a significant amount of the printers' life cycle -which is instead highly industrialised and standardised-, indicating the weaknesses of 3D printers as a technology for sustainable localisation. More specifically, the interviewees had no direct experience with the production of materials and a large part of the printer's manufacturing process, even when they were attempting to self-manufacture a 3D printer.

On a more grounded level, this study reveals that transitioning from open-source licence to truly open documentation and from open documentation to local manufacturing is challenging. There are only slight differences for users between 3D printers with an open licence and proprietary ones. The existence of a broad spectrum of openness degrees may complicate the distinction between what is open-source and what is not, making the issue of openwashing relevant.

In its current form, open documentation of relevant processes is an essential but not sufficient condition to enable users to self-manufacture a 3D printer. Local capacity for manufacturing, i.e. the local availability of multiple resources, such as skills, infrastructure, and raw materials, is required to localise the lifecycle of 3D printers. Specific steps need to be taken in this direction: more access to production processes and information; proper organisation for small-scale production of components and materials currently produced in a centralised manner; more support for citizen initiatives; and communal production infrastructures to boost mass small-scale production processes. These steps could support more sustainable technology development over time, facilitating localised manufacturing and maintenance of 3D printers with non-patented designs that promote adaptations to local contexts and the creation of local supply chains.

For future research, we would encourage investigating whether the values shared by grassroots 3D printing communities align with the MCT's degrowth-oriented principles and exploring 3D printing communities based in different regions, given the variations among regional supply chains, and the impact of cultural diversity on shaping the goals and approaches of relevant initiatives. Further, different types of technology may require different conditions for sustainability through DGML to work. Thus, sustainability assessments of other types of technology, or even non-FFF models of 3D printers, should be tested to enrich the findings of this research. Last but not least, a sample size of six organisations is sufficient to illustrate the sustainability potential and detect hotspots for improvement. Nevertheless, further research needs to be conducted both within and outside the Greek context to validate

the results of our assessment and trace commonalities and differences with other contexts.

Finally, we acknowledge that qualitative, values-based assessment tools such as the MCT need to be complemented with quantitative, impacts-based assessments to provide more in-depth and robust findings, balancing positive/objective and normative/subjective sustainability issues. However, considering the limited presence of valuesbased approaches in sustainability assessment literature, this study attempted to fill this gap by focusing on values throughout the life cycle as an initial step.

Authorship contributions

Category 1

Conception and design of study: <u>C. Priavolou, K. Troullaki, C. Gio-</u>titsas, V. Kostakis;

Acquisition of data: C. Priavolou, K. Troullaki;

Analysis and/or interpretation of data: C. Priavolou, K. Troullaki, C. Giotitsas, N. Tsiouris.

Category 2

Drafting the manuscript: <u>C. Priavolou, K. Troullaki, N. Tsiouris, C.</u> Giotitsas, V. Kostakis;

Revising the manuscript critically for important intellectual content: C. Priavolou, K. Troullaki, N. Tsiouris, C. Giotitsas.

Category 3

Approval of the version of the manuscript to be published (the names of all authors must be listed):

C. Priavolou, K. Troullaki, N. Tsiouris, C. Giotitsas, V. Kostakis.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Data availability

The authors are unable or have chosen not to specify which data has been used.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank all interviewees, and particularly the members of makerspaces and fablabs that participated in the assessment process using the MCT. This research was funded by the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (grant number 802512). This work was also supported by the Hellenic Foundation for Research and Innovation (HFRI) under the HFRI PhD Fellowship grant (Fellowship Number: 632) and the European Commission through the H2020 project Finest Twins (grant No. 856602).

Appendix A

Table A1

Literature review on the sustainability potential of 3D printers

	Reference	Sustainability dimensions	Systems compared	3D printer model
1	Agrawal and Vinodh (2019)	Environmental, social, economic	-	-
2	Kreiger and Pearce (2013a)	Environmental	Distributed manufacturing Conventional manufacturing	Prusa Mendell RepRap
3	Kreiger and Pearce (2013b)	Environmental	Distributed manufacturing Conventional manufacturing	RepRap (Prusa Mendell variant)
4	Petersen and Pearce (2017)	Economic	Home manufacturing with open-source 3D printer purchasing	Lulzbot Mini
5	Faludi et al. (2015)	Environmental	Additive manufacturing (FDM and Inkjet) Manufacturing with traditional machining	Dimension 1200BST FDM machine Objet Connex 350 inkjet machine
6	Li et al. (2017)	Economic, environmental	FDM, Stereolithography and Polyjet printing	Makerbot Replicator, Makerbot Replicator 2X Formlabs Form 1+, Stratasys Objet260
7	Wittbrodt et al. (2013)	Economic	Distributed manufacturing purchasing	A variant of the Prusa Mendel RepRap
8	Gebler et al. (2014)	Environmental, social, economic	3D printing conventional manufacturing	-
9	Minetola and Eyers (2018)	Economic	Make-To-Order manufacturing by 3D printing Make-To- Stock manufacturing using Injection Moulding	Makerbot Replicator 5th Generation
10	Ma et al. (2018)	Environmental, social, economic	-	MakerGear M2e FDM 3D printer
11	Pearce and Woern (2017)	Economic, technical	Distributed manufacturing purchasing	Lulzbot Mini
12	Da Silva Barros and Zwolinski (2016)	Environmental	Personal fabrication Industrial manufacturing	Prusa i3
13	Kellens et al. (2017)	Environmental	-	_
14	Weller et al. (2015)	Economic	-	_
15	Chen et al. (2015)	Environmental, social, economic	Selective laser sintering Injection moulding	-
16	Yuan and Runze (2019)	Environmental, economic	Direct metal laser sintering	
17	Huang et al. (2017)	Environmental, economic	Direct metal laser sintering	
18	Matos and Jacinto (2019) Matos et al. (2019)	Social	_	-
19	Lindemann et al. (2015)	Economic, technical	_	-
20	Khorram et al. (2018)	Economic	Additive manufacturing conventional manufacturing	-
21	Doran et al. (2016)	Environmental, social, economic	Additive manufacturing Subtractive manufacturing	Typical Directed Energy Deposition machine
22	Peng et al. (2018)	Environmental, social, economic	_	-
23	Hapuwatte et al. (2016)	Environmental, social, economic	Additive manufacturing Conventional manufacturing	Metal additive manufacturing
24	Cerdas et al. (2017)		Additive manufacturing Conventional manufacturing	Makerbot Replicator

Appendix B

Table B1

First round of interviews

Focus area	Questions
Model specifications	- How many different 3D printers have you used or produced?
	- Can you give us details about the supported materials, the print volume and the layer resolution of the 3D printer(s)?
Open-source	- Have you ever used or produced an open-source 3D printer?
	- Compared to an industrially-produced, proprietary 3D printer (e.g. Makerbot), have you observed any advantages/disadvantages of open-source 3D printers
	- Did you make use of an open source design? Did you produce your own design?
Local Manufacturing	- What about the manufacturing process of the 3D printer? Was your 3D printer pre-assembled, did you buy it as a kit or did you manufacture it from scratch
Time frame	- When did you first use the 3D printer?
	- Do you still use this 3D printer? If yes, how often?
Use-context	- Who are the users of the 3D printer?
	- Do you also sell 3D printers that you manufacture?
Use-purpose	- How do you use the 3D printer (e.g. educational purposes, commercial or private use)?
Maintenance	- How do you provide maintenance for these 3D printers?
	- Do you buy spare parts?

Appendix C

Table C1

Specifications of FFF 3D printer models recorded during the study. The models investigated during the second round of interviews are noted in grey colour.

Model	Maker bot Replic ator+	Cube X Duo	Craft bot Plus	Zort rax M20 0	Origi nal Prusa i3 MK3	Make rGear M2	Ulti mak er Orig inal	Ulti make r 2	BCN Sigm a	Lulzb ot Taz 6	Stere olab Prusa i3
Manufact urer (Location)	Maker bot (USA)	3D Syste ms (USA)	Craft Uniq ue (Hun gary)	Zort rax S.A. (Pol and)	Prusa Rese arch (Czec h Repu blic)	Make rGear (USA)	Ulti mak er (Net herla nds)	Ulti make r (Net herla nds)	BCN 3D Tech nolog ies (Spai n)	Alep h Objec ts (USA)	Stere olab (Gree ce)
Licence	Propri etary	Propr ietary	Prop rieta гу	Prop rieta ry	Open - sourc e	Open - sourc e	Ope n- sour ce	Open - sourc e	Open - sourc e	Open - sourc e	Open - sourc e
Designs	Close d	Close d	Clos ed	Clos ed	Close d	Open (parti ally)	Ope n (sour ce files open after next mod el is out)	Open (sour ce files open after next mod el is out)	Open (sour ce files open after some time)	Open	Open
Kit option	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
User participati on in productio n option	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	Yes
Third- party filament	Yes but compr omise s warra nty	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes but comp romis es warra nty and	Yes but may com pro mise warr anty	Yes but may com prom ise warr	Yes but comp romis es warra nty	Yes	Yes

						supp ort		anty			
Weight	18.3 kg	37 kg	14.4 5 kg	16 kg	~6.5 kg	12 kg	10.5 kg	11.2 kg	15 kg	14.97 kg	~6.5 kg
Build volume	295x1 95x16 5mm	275x 265x 240 mm	250x 200x 200 mm	200 x20 0x1 80m m	250x 210x 210m m	254x 203x 203m m	210x 210x 205 mm	223x 223x 205 mm	210x 297x 210m m	280x 250x 280m m	200x 200x 200m m (300x 200x 200 mm)
Extruder	Single	Dual	Sing le	Sing le	Singl e	Singl e	Sing le	Singl e	Dual	Singl e	Singl e
Screen	LCD screen	LCD touch scree n	Colo r LCD touc hscr een	IPS touc hscr een	LCD scree n	No	Yes	Yes	Color LCD touch scree n	Yes	Optio nal
Price	€2500 - 3000	\$999 (Prod uctio n stopp ed)	\$150 0	~ €20 00	~ €770- 1000	\$200 0	€100 0	$\widetilde{\substack{\varepsilon_{250}}{0}}$	€247 5	$\overset{\sim}{\underset{0}{\overset{\leftarrow}{\varepsilon}}}_{0}^{250}$	€487- 658

Appendix D

	MAT	ER	IA	LS			
	Harvesting, processing and disposal of raw matter						aw matter
	Energy carriers (electricity, fuel, etc.)	and	mate	rials (steel,	сорр	er, plastic, etc.)
RELATEDNESS	Process fixed						Right to creative input
What relations does it create for people?	Market-driven						Need-driven
ACCESS Who can produce/dispose it where and how?	Secret or patented						Knowledge freely accessible
ADAPTABILITY	Special machines						Everyday tools
How independent and linkable is it?	Special materials						Common materials
BIO-INTERACTION	Deteriorating soil, air and water						Improving soil, air and water
How does it interact with living organisms?	Toxic waste						Biodegradable
APPROPRIATENESS	Far away						Locally available
What is the relation between input and	New	\Box	\Box	\Box			Re-used
output considering the context?	Non recyclable						Easily recyclable

Fig. D1. Adapted version of the MCT - Materials

	MANUFACTURING	
	Assembling raw materials and preproducts	
	Manufacturing of parts (electronic, mechanical, printed, etc.) and their assembly	
RELATEDNESS	Process fixed	ildin
What relations does it	Needs painful worktime	
create for people?	Individual process	
ACCESS	Cost intensive	
Who can produce it where and how?	Secret or patented	
ADAPTABILITY	Big scale economical	
How independent and	Special conditions	
linkable is it?	One piece/Fixed once finished	
BIO-INTERACTION	Deteriorating soil, air and water	
How does it interact with living organisms?	Hazardous potential	
APPROPRIATENESS What is the relation between input and output considering the context?	Creates waste	

Fig. D2. Adapted version of the MCT - Manufacturing

	U	SE					
	Procuring the ta	ask	it v	as	buil	t foi	r
	Operation and maintenance of the	3D p.	rinter	and t	he 3D	print	ting filament
RELATEDNESS	Creates distance						Supports collaboration
What relations does it create for people?	Needs painful worktime						Allows joyful worktime
ACCESS	Cost intensive						Low Cost
Who can use it where	Abstract						Comprehensible
and how?	Need of foreign experts						Use of local knowledge
	Not able to fulfill needs						Able to fulfill needs
ADAPTABILITY	Requires specific filament						Encourages diversity
How independent and linkable is it?	Special conditions	\Box			$\overline{\Box}$		Everywhere possible
	Repairable by experts						Repairable by skilled
BIO-INTERACTION	Deteriorating soil, air and water						Improving soil, air and water
How does it interact with living organisms?	Toxic waste						Biodegradable/Byproducts are used
What is the relation	Nondurable						Durable
between input & output considering the context?	High energy consumption						Low energy consumption

Figure D3. Adapted version of the MCT - Use

Appendix E

Table E1

List of names and activities of the organisations included in the study

Organisations	Activity
Org. A	Fabrication, Education and Research laboratory
Org. B	Fab Lab (digital fabrication laboratory)
Org. C	Research collective
Org. D	Social cooperative
Org. E	Design and fabrication lab
Org. F	3D printing company, Research and Education laboratory

References

- Agrawal, R., Vinodh, S., 2019. State of art review on sustainable additive manufacturing. Rapid Prototyp. J. 25 (6), 1045-1060.
- Ajay, J., Rathore, A.S., Song, C., Zhou, C., Xu, W., 2016. Don't forget your electricity bills! An empirical study of characterizing energy consumption of 3D printers. In: Proceedings of the 7th ACM SIGOPS Asia-Pacific Workshop on Systems - APSys, pp. 1-8
- Ajulo, O.M., von Meding, J., Tang, P., 2020. Relocalisation for degrowth and disaster risk reduction. Disaster Prev. Manag.: Int. J. 29 (6), 877-891.
- Alrøe, H., Sautier, M., Legun, K., Whitehead, J., Noe, E., Moller, H., Manhire, J., 2017. Performance versus values in sustainability transformation of food systems. Sustainability 9 (3), 332.
- Balka, K., Raasch, C., Herstatt, C., 2010. How open is open source? software and beyond. Creativ. Innovat. Manag. 19 (3), 248-256.
- Balka, K., Raasch, C., Herstatt, C., 2014. The effect of selective openness on value creation in user innovation communities. J. Prod. Innovat. Manag. 31 (2), 392-407. Benkler, Y., 2006. The Wealth of Networks. Yale University Press, London.
- Berger, M., 2019. 3D printing batteries. November 4,. In: NanoWerk. Retrieved from. htt www.nanowerk.com/spotlight/spotid=53955.php.
- Bijker, W.E., Hughes, T.P., Pinch, T., 1987. The Social Construction of Technological Systems. MIT Press, Cambridge, MA. Birtchnell, T., Urry, J., 2013. 3D, SF and the future. Futures 50, 25–34.
- Bollier, D., 2014. Think like a Commoner: A Short Introduction to the Life of the Commons. New Society, Gabriola Island.
- Bonvoisin, J., Mies, R., 2018. Measuring openness in open source hardware with the open-o-meter. Procedia CIRP 78, 388-393.
- Bonvoisin, J., Molloy, J., Häuer, M., Wenzel, T., 2020. Standardisation of practices in open source hardware. Journal of Open Hardware 4 (1), 2.
- Cerdas, F., Juraschek, M., Thiede, S., Herrmann, C., 2017. Life cycle assessment of 3D printed products in a distributed manufacturing system. J. Ind. Ecol. 21 (1), 80-93.
- Chen, D., Heyer, S., Ibbotson, S., Salonitis, K., Steingrímsson, J.G., Thiede, S., 2015. Direct digital manufacturing: definition, evolution, and sustainability implications. J. Clean, Prod. 107, 615-625.
- Da Silva Barros, K., Zwolinski, P., 2016. Influence of the use/user profile in the LCA of 3D printed products. Procedia CIRP 50, 318-323.
- Dahl, A.L., 2012. Achievements and gaps in indicators for sustainability. Ecol. Indicat. 17 14-19
- Dartnell, L.R., Kish, K., 2021. Do responses to the COVID-19 pandemic anticipate a longlasting shift towards peer-to-peer production or degrowth? Sustain. Prod. Consum. 27, 2165-2177.
- Demaria, F., Kallis, G., Bakker, K., 2019. Geographies of degrowth: nowtopias resurgences and the decolonization of imaginaries and places. Environ. Plann.:
- Nature and Space 2 (3), 431–450. Doran, M.P., Smullin, M.M., Haapala, K.R., 2016. An approach to compare sustainability performance of additive and subtractive manufacturing during process planning. In ASME 2016 International Design Engineering Technical Conferences and Computers and Information in Engineering Conference. American Society of Mechanical Engineers.
- Dubey, R., Gunasekaran, A., Chakrabarty, A., 2017. Ubiquitous manufacturing: overview, framework and further research directions. Int. J. Comput. Integrated Manuf. 30 (4-5), 381-394.
- D'Alisa, G., Demaria, F., Kallis, G., 2014. Introduction. Degrowth. In: D'Alisa, G., Demaria, F., Kallis, G. (Eds.), Degrowth: A Vocabulary for a New Era. Routledge, London.
- Ellul, J., 1964. The Technological Society. Vintage Books, New York. Faludi, J., Bayley, C., Bhogal, S., Iribarne, M., 2015. Comparing environmental impacts of additive manufacturing vs traditional machining via life-cycle assessment. Rapid Prototyp. J. 21 (1), 14-33.
- Feenberg, A., 2002, Transforming Technology; A Critical Theory Revised, Oxford Press, Oxford.
- Feola, G., 2020. Capitalism in sustainability transitions research: time for a critical turn? Environ. Innov. Soc. Transit. 35, 241-250
- Figge, F., Young, W., Barkemeyer, R., 2014. Sufficiency or efficiency to achieve lower resource consumption and emissions? The role of the rebound effect. J. Clean. Prod. 69. 216-224.
- Fiszbein, A., 1997. The emergence of local capacity: lessons from. Colombia World Develop, 20, 7.
- Foster, J.B., Clark, B., York, R., 2010. The Ecological Rift: Capitalism's War on the Earth. Monthly Review Press, New York.
- Foteinopoulos, P., Papacharalampopoulos, A., Stavropoulos, P., 2019. Block-based analytical hierarchy process applied for the evaluation of construction sector additive manufacturing. Procedia CIRP 81, 950-955.
- Furman, J.L., Porter, M.E., Stern, S., 2002. The determinants of national innovative capacity, Res. Pol. 31, 899-933.
- Gebler, M., Uiterkamp, A.J.S., Visser, C., 2014. A global sustainability perspective on 3D printing technologies. Energy Pol. 74, 158–167.
- Gershenfeld, N.A., 2005. Fab: the Coming Revolution on Your Desktop-Ffrom Personal Computers to Personal Fabrication. Basic Books, New York.
- Gibson-Graham, J.K., 1996. The End of Capitalism (As We Knew it) A Feminist Critique of Political Economy. Blackwell Publishers, Cambridge. Giotitsas, C., 2019. Open Source Agriculture: Grassroots Technology in the Digital Era.
- Springer-Verlag, Berlin. Giotitsas, C., Nardelli, P.H.J., Kostakis, V., Narayanan, A., 2020. From private to public
- governance: the case for reconfiguring energy systems as a commons. Energy Res Social Sci. 70, 101737.

- Journal of Cleaner Production 376 (2022) 134291
- Giotitsas, C., Nardelli, P.H.J., Williamson, S., Roos, A., Pournaras, E., Kostakis, V., 2022. Energy governance as a commons: engineering alternative socio-technical configurations. Energy Res. Social Sci. 84, 102354.
- Giurco, D., Littleboy, A., Boyle, T., Fyfe, J., White, S., 2014. Circular Economy: questions for responsible minerals, additive manufacturing and recycling of metals. Resources 3 (2) 432-453
- Hankammer, S., Kleer, R., 2018. Degrowth and collaborative value creation: reflections on concepts and technologies. J. Clean. Prod. 197, 1711–1718.
- Hankammer, S., Kleer, R., Mühl, L., Euler, J., 2021. Principles for organizations striving for sustainable degrowth: framework development and application to four B Corps J. Clean, Prod. 300, 126818.
- Hapuwatte, B., Seevers, K.D., Badurdeen, F., Jawahir, I.S., 2016, Total life cycle sustainability analysis of additively manufactured products. Procedia CIRP 48, 376-381
- Heimstädt, M., 2017. Openwashing: a decoupling perspective on organizational transparency. Technol. Forecast. Soc. Change 125, 77–86.Heimstädt, M., Saunderson, F., Heath, T., 2014. From toddler to teen: growth of an open
- data ecosystem. JeDEM 6 (2), 123-135.
- Huang, R., Riddle, M.E., Graziano, D., Das, S., Nimbalkar, S., Cresko, J., Masanet, E., 2017. Environmental and economic implications of distributed additive manufacturing: the case of injection mold tooling. J. Indust. Ecology 21, 130–143.
- Illich, I., 1973. Tools for Conviviality. Calder & Boyars, London. IPCC, 2022. In: Pörtner, H.-O., Roberts, D.C., Tignor, M., Poloczanska, E.S.,
- Mintenbeck, K., Alegría, A., Craig, M., Langsdorf, S., Löschke, S., Möller, V., Okem, A., Rama, B. (Eds.), Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Pres press).
- Jones, R., Haufe, P., Sells, E., Iravani, P., Olliver, V., Palmer, C., Bowyer, A., 2011. RepRap – the replicating rapid prototyper. Robotica 29 (1), 177–191.
- Kallis, G., 2011. In defence of Degrowth. Ecol. Econ. 705, 873-880.
- Kallis, G., Kostakis, V., Lange, S., Muraca, B., Paulson, S., Schmelzer, M., 2018. Res. Degrowth Ann. Rev. Environ. Resouce. 43, 291-316.
- Kellens, K., Mertens, R., Paraskevas, D., Dewulf, W., Duflou, J.R., 2017. Environmental impact of additive manufacturing processes: does AM contribute to a more sustainable way of part manufacturing? Procedia CIRP 61, 582-587. Kerschner, C., Wachter, P., Nierling, L., Ehlers, M.H., 2018. Degrowth and Technology:
- towards feasible, viable, appropriate and convivial imaginaries. J. Clean. Prod. 197, 1619-1636
- Khorram, N.M., Nonino, F., Palombi, G., Torabi, S.A., 2018. Economic sustainability of additive manufacturing: contextual factors driving its performance in rapid prototyping. J. Manuf. Technol. Manag. 30 (2), 353-365.
- Khosravani, M.R., Reinicke, T., 2020. On the environmental impacts of 3D printing technology. Appl. Mater. Today 20, 100689.
- Köhler, J., Geels, F.W., Kern, F., Markard, J., Wieczorek, A., Alkemade, F., Avelino, F., Bergek, A., Boons, F., et al., 2019. An agenda for sustainability transitions research: state of the art and future directions. Environ. Innov. Soc. Transit. 31, 1-32.
- Kohtala, C., 2015. Addressing sustainability in research on distributed production: an integrated literature review. J. Clean. Prod. 106, 654–668.
- Kostakis, V., 2019. How to reap the benefits of the "digital revolution"? Modularity and the commons. Halduskultuur 20 (1), 4-19.
- Kostakis, V., Niaros, V., Giotitsas, C., 2015a. Production and governance in hackerspaces a manifestation of Commons-based peer production in the physical realm? Int. J. Cult. Stud. 18 (5), 555-573.
- Kostakis, V., Latoufis, K., Liarokapis, M., Bauwens, M., 2018. The convergence of digital commons with local manufacturing from a degrowth perspective: two illustrative cases. J. Clean. Prod. 197 (2), 1684-1693.
- Kostakis, V., Niaros, V., Dafermos, G., Bauwens, M., 2015b. Design global, manufacture local: exploring the contours of an emerging productive model. Futures 73, 126–135. Krähmer, K., 2022. Degrowth and the city" *City* 26 (2–3), 316–345.
- Kreiger, M., Pearce, J.M., 2013a. Environmental impacts of distributed manufacturing from 3-D printing of polymer components and products. MRS Online Proc. Lib. Archive 1492, 85-90.
- Kreiger, M., Pearce, J.M., 2013b. Environmental life cycle analysis of distributed threedimensional printing and conventional manufacturing of polymer products. ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng. 1 (12), 1511–1519.
- Laplume, A., Anzalone, G.C., Pearce, J.M., 2016. Open-source, self-replicating 3-D printer factory for small-business manufacturing. Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol. 85 (1), 633-642
- Li, Y., Linke, B.S., Voet, H., Falk, B., Schmitt, R., Lam, M., 2017. Cost, sustainability and surface roughness quality-a comprehensive analysis of products made with personal 3D printers. CIRP J. Manuf. Sci. Technol. 16, 1-11.
- Lindemann, C., Reiher, T., Jahnke, U., Koch, R., 2015. Towards a sustainable and economic selection of part candidates for additive manufacturing, Rapid Prototyp, J. 21 (2), 216-227.
- Lipson, H., Kurman, M., 2013. Fabricated: the New World of 3D Printing. John Wiley & Sons, New York.
- Lizarralde, I., Tyl, B., 2018. A framework for the integration of the conviviality concept in the design process. J. Clean. Prod. 197, 1766-1777
- Ma, J., Harstvedt, J.D., Dunaway, D., Bian, L., Jaradat, R., 2018. An exploratory investigation of additively manufactured product life cycle sustainability assessment. J. Clean. Prod. 192, 55-70.
- Maric, J., Rodhain, F., Barlette, Y., 2016. Frugal innovations and 3D printing: insights from the field. J. Innov. Econom. Manag. 21 (3), 57–76. Matos, F., Jacinto, C., 2019. Additive manufacturing technology: mapping social
- impacts. J. Manuf. Technol. Manag. 30 (1), 70–97.

- Matos, F., Godina, R., Jacinto, C., Carvalho, H., Ribeiro, L. Pecas, P., 2019, Additive manufacturing: exploring the social changes and impacts. Sustainability 11 (14), 3757
- Maxigas, P., 2012. Hacklabs and hackerspaces: tracing two genealogies. J. Peer Prod. 2 (1), 1-13.
- Minetola, P., Evers, D., 2018. Energy and cost assessment of 3D printed mobile case covers. Procedia CIRP 69, 130-135.
- Mocca, E., 2020. The local dimension in the degrowth literature. A critical discussion. J. Political Ideol. 25 (1), 78-93.
- Moilanen, J., Vadén, T., 2013. 3D printing community and emerging practices of peer production Clin Hemorheol and Microcirc 18 (8)
- Molitch-Hou, M., February 24, 2020. 3D Printing: A Technology of Degrowth? Part 1. Retrieved from. https://3dprint.com/263489/3d-printing-a-technology-of-degrowt h-part-1/.
- Munoz, J., Alonso-Madrid, M., Menendez-Muniz, M., Uhart, M., Canou, J., Martin, C., Fabritius, M., Calvo, L., Poudelet, L., Cardona, R., Lombois-Burger, H., Vlasopoulos, N., Bouyssou, C., Dirrenberger, J., Papacharalampopoulos, A. Stavropoulos, P., 2021. Life cycle assessment of integrated additive-subtractive concrete 3D printing. Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol. 112, 2149-2159.
- Nafus, D., 2012. Patches don't have gender': what is not open in open source software. New Media Soc. 14 (4), 669-683.
- Newman, A.O., 2020. COVID, CITIES and CLIMATE: historical precedents and potential transitions for the new economy. Urban Sci. 4 (3), 32.
- Olivier, M.M., Howard, J.L., Wilson, B.P., Robinson, W.A., 2018. Correlating localisation and sustainability and exploring the causality of the relationship. Ecol. Econ. 146, 749-765
- Olsen, E.S., Orefice, M., Pietrangeli, G., 2018. From the 'right to the city' to the 'right to metabolism'. In: Housing for Degrowth. Routledge, Abingdon.
- Pazaitis, A., Giotitsas, C., Savvides, L., Kostakis, V., 2021. Do Patents Spur Innovation for Society? Lessons from 3D Printing. méta Working Paper 7EN2021
- Pearce, J., Woern, A., 2017. Distributed manufacturing of flexible products: technical feasibility and economic viability. Technologies 5 (4), 71.
- Peng, T., Kellens, K., Tang, R., Chen, C., Chen, G., 2018. Sustainability of additive manufacturing: an overview on its energy demand and environmental impact. Addit. Manuf. 21, 694-704.
- Petersen, E.E., Pearce, J., 2017. Emergence of home manufacturing in the developed
- world: return on investment for open-source 3-D printers. Technologies 5 (1), 7. Priavolou, C., Niaros, V., 2019. Assessing the openness and conviviality of open source technology: the case of the wikihouse. Sustainability 11 (17), 4746.
- Priavolou, C., Tsiouris, N., Niaros, V., Kostakis, V., 2021. Towards sustainable construction practices: how to reinvigorate vernacular buildings in the digital era? Buildings 11 (7), 297.
- Ralph, N., 2021. A conceptual merging of circular economy, degrowth and conviviality design approaches applied to renewable energy technology. J. Clean. Prod. 319, 128549
- Robra, B., Heikkurinen, P., Nesterova, I., 2020. Commons-based peer production for degrowth? - the case for eco-sufficiency in economic organisations. Suatein. Futures 2 100035

- Schröder, P., Bengtsson, M., Cohen, M., Dewick, P., Hofstetter, J., Sarkis, J., 2019. Degrowth within - aligning circular economy and strong sustainability narratives. Resour. Conserv. Recycl. 146, 190-191.
- Sekulova, F., Kallis, G., Labajos, B., Schneider, F., 2013. Degrowth: from theory to practice, J. Clean, Prod. 38, 1-6.
- Shaikh, M., Vaast, E., 2016. Folding and unfolding: balancing openness and transparency in open source communities. Inf. Syst. Res. 27 (4), 665–991.
- Shuman, M., 2013. Going Local: Creating Self-Reliant Communities in a Global Age. Routledge, New York.
- Srai, J., Kumar, M., Graham, G., Phillips, W., Tooze, J., Ford, S., Beecher, P., et al., 2016. Distributed Manufacturing: scope, challenges and opportunities. Int. J. Prod. Res. 54 (23), 6917-6935.
- Tkacz, N., 2012. From open source to open government: a critique of open politics. Ephemera 12 (4), 386-405.
- Tönissen, D.D., Schlicher, L., 2021. Using 3D-printing in disaster response: the two-stage stochastic 3D-printing knapsack problem. Comput. Oper. Res. 133, 105356. Troullaki, A., Rozakis, S., Kostakis, V., 2021. Bridging barriers in sustainability research:
- A review from sustainability science to life cycle sustainability assessment. Ecol. Econ. 184, 107007.
- Troullaki, K., Rozakis, S., Latoufis, K., Giotitsas, C., Priavolou, C., Freire, F., 2022. Sustainable rural electrification: harnessing a cosmolocal wind. Energies 15 (13), 4659.
- Tsagkari, M., Roca, J., Kallis, G., 2021. From local island energy to degrowth? Exploring democracy, self-sufficiency, and renewable energy production in Greece and Spain Energy Res. Social Sci. 81.
- Vachon, S., Mao, Z., 2008. Linking supply chain strength to sustainable development: a country-level analysis. J. Clean. Prod. 16 (15), 1552-1560.
- Van den Bergh, J.C.J.M., Kallis, G., 2014. Growth, A-growth or degrowth to stay within planetary boundaries? J. Econ. Issues 46 (4), 909–920.
- Vetter, A., 2018. The matrix of convivial technology assessing technologies for degrowth. J. Clean. Prod. 197, 1778-1786.
- Weller, C., Kleer, R., Piller, F.T., 2015, Economic implications of 3D printing: market structure models in light of additive manufacturing revisited. Int. J. Prod. Econ. 164, 43-56.
- West, J., 2003. How open is open enough? Melding proprietary and open source platform strategies. Res. Pol. 32, 1259-1285
- Windt, K., 2014. Distributed Manufacturing. CIRP Encyclopedia of Production Engineering.
- Wittbrodt, B.T., Glover, A.G., Laureto, J., Anzalone, G.C., Oppliger, D., Irwin, J.L., Pearce, J.M., 2013. Life-cycle economic analysis of distributed manufacturing with open-source 3-D printers. Mechatronics 23 (6), 713-726.
- Yao, Y., Huang, R., 2019. A parametric life cycle modeling framework for identifying research development priorities of emerging technologies: a case study of additive manufacturing. Procedia CIRP 80, 370-375.
- Yuan, Y., Runze, H., 2019. A parametric life cycle modeling framework for identifying research development priorities of emerging technologies: a case study of additive manufacturing. Procedia CIRP 80, 370-375.
- Zoellick, J.C., Bisht, A., 2018, It's not (all) about efficiency; powering and organizing technology from a degrowth perspective. J. Clean. Prod. 197, 1787-1799.
Publication III

Kostakis, V., & **Tsiouris, N.** (2024). How to unite local initiatives for a more sustainable global future. *Sustainable Futures, 7*, 100187.

Sustainable Futures 7 (2024) 100187

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Sustainable Futures

journal homepage: www.sciencedirect.com/journal/sustainable-futures





Sustainable

Vasilis Kostakis^{a,b,*}, Nikiforos Tsiouris^a

^a Ragnar Nurkse Department of Innovation and Governance, Tallinn University of Technology (TalTech), Akadeemia tee 3, Tallinn 12618, Estonia
^b Berkman Klein Center for Internet & Society, Harvard University, 1557 Massachusetts Avenue, 5th Floor, Cambridge 02138, MA, United States

ARTICLEINFO	A B S T R A C T
Keywords: Post-growth Digital commons Open-source Cosmolocal production Localization Alternative modes of organization	This article challenges the belief in high-tech solutions to solve socio-environmental crises, proposing a political vision beyond "green growth" and "ecomodernism.". It advocates for a commons-based technology framework, promoting collective resource management for sustainability. We thus introduce "cosmolocal" production, a configuration that strives to connect communities around shared resources and serve their needs while minimizing ecological impact. Despite acknowledged tensions, we contend that the cosmolocal framework could foster institutional and social change, aiming to address environmental degradation and wealth inequality. To support this contention on cosmolocal production's potential, we point to several successful examples from the open-source technology paradigm.

Introduction

The world is crumbling around us, as global wealth inequality deepens and environmental degradation escalates alarmingly. Humanity is grappling with an unprecedented existential crisis. It is imperative that –the most forward-thinking segments of– our societies take action promptly. However, during the period of neoliberal capitalism's indisputable dominance, the daunting question of how people can affect change remains dangling. Capitalist values have become deeply entrenched in our societies and institutions. They are dictating and shaping our conduct in various aspects of life, from how we design and produce to how we interact, raise our future generations and form relationships.

Contrary to the calls to resign ourselves to the belief that there is no viable alternative to neoliberal capitalism, our situation is not devoid of hope. We explore new opportunities and challenges to address two pressing and closely intertwined issues of the Sustainable Futures scholarship and praxis: environmental degradation and global wealth inequality. This article argues that dispersed initiatives of "cosmolocal" production have indicated hints towards a more socio-environmentally sustainable future.

Why can high-tech be problematic?

In a state of emergency, it is audacious to place all our hopes for tackling the ecological crisis and wealth inequality in technology –worse even, in technology that is yet to materialize. This latter notion is incremental in the currently prevailing narratives such as "green growth" [1], "ecomodernism" [2], or "accelerationism" [3] which pin our aspirations on high-tech solutions. One can find advocates of these narratives all across the political spectrum. However, they are all united in the conviction that advanced technologies, like off-shore wind turbines, solar panels, smart sensors, 3D printing, artificial intelligence, and future highly efficient innovations, will pave the way out of the dead end. They suggest that we will manage to harness the benefits of high-tech to enhance service effectiveness and efficiency, reduce resource consumption and carbon emissions, boost productivity, and foster greater civic engagement. Although we have not only failed in doing so thus far but have caused a social, economic and environmental catastrophe along the way.

Hence, it is crucial to comprehend and address the issues inherent in the processes underpinning the production of high-tech artifacts. These issues are intensive resource extraction, labor exploitation, heightened energy consumption, and the excessive material demands often associated with high-tech products. The latter requires rare metals and scarce minerals, often sourced under dubious labor and environmental conditions in the Global South while benefiting primarily the Global North [4, 5]. The production, use, recycling and disposal of high-tech artifacts consume large amounts of energy, generate toxicity, and often involve dehumanizing and precarious working conditions [6]. High-tech is not unsustainable in its essence, but its scale and mode of production in the capitalist realm are.

* Corresponding author.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sftr.2024.100187

Received 13 November 2023; Received in revised form 21 March 2024; Accepted 24 March 2024

Available online 28 March 2024

2666-1888/© 2024 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

E-mail addresses: vasileios.kostakis@taltech.ee, vkostakis@cyber.harvard.edu (V. Kostakis), nikiforos.tsiouris@taltech.ee (N. Tsiouris).

V. Kostakis and N. Tsiouris

The root causes of environmental degradation and global wealth inequality, as well as potential solutions, do not reside solely in the realm of technology. Instead, the crux of the matter is profoundly political. The development and production of technology in the modern era are intricately interwoven with wealth inequality and environmental deterioration. Technology is not being produced in a vacuum, thus it is not neutral [7]. On the contrary, it is highly influenced by the decisions of manufacturers, legislators, consultants, designers and everyone else involved -directly or indirectly- in the process. In a globalized world, these decisions have global effects. Failure to consider the resources utilized and impacts produced internationally could result in identifying positive steps towards sustainability locally for some nations -primarily from the Global North- that relocate impactful activities overseas -primarily to the Global South. Conversely, the most affected countries in the Global South might undervalue the amount of negative externalities they are absorbing to accommodate impactful activities aimed at fulfilling other countries' consumption demands [8,9].

Technological artifacts reach consumers as polished products exchangeable for money, concealing the harsh realities of their design, manufacturing, global logistics, and eventual disposal [10]. Consequently, the comfort derived from technology often comes at the expense of distant humans and ecosystems, resulting in abundance for a privileged few and scarcity for the many. The extent to which one tolerates this predicament is fundamentally a matter of political discourse.

Furthermore, those advocating for a technical solution to address ecological breakdown and wealth inequality often champion more efficient production methods. However, they may inadvertently disregard some of the consequences that come with efficiency improvements, i.e., rebound effects. The Jevons Paradox, a critical insight attributed to the 19th-century British economist Stanley Jevons, reveals how efficiency gains can lead to a net increase in consumption due to reduced unit prices and a subsequent surge in demand [11]. For instance, the advent of more efficient steam engines enabled cheaper transportation, catalyzing the industrial revolution. Paradoxically, this did not result in a decrease in fossil fuel usage but instead drove it up [11]. When more efficient machines consume less energy, they become more affordable, prompting increased usage. This amplifies considerably when considering individuals like the super-rich global 1 %, who can utilize such technology on a significantly larger scale, with carbon footprints thousands of times greater than the average citizen [12,13]. Consequently, overall energy consumption experiences a substantial uptick.

Similarly to the case of the steam engine, in the late 90's the introduction of computers, the Internet and e-mail in organizational procedures led many to believe that paper consumption would decrease drastically. However, a 2003 book titled *The Myth of the Paperless Office* showed that paper consumption increased, e.g., consumption of the most prevalent type of office paper (uncoated free-sheet) increased by 14.7 % in the U.S. between the years 1995 and 2000 [14]. Even with improved displacement technologies such as smartphones, mobile Internet and e-readers, paper consumption still has a slightly upward trend [15].

In contemporary capitalist societies, people tend to consume more when they have the means to do so [16,17]. Yet, what incentivizes the constant strive for efficiency at all costs? Could it be the growth imperative, i.e., the politically mandated push for continuous increase in the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) metric, influencing such behavior? Who designed this metric, who made the decision, and for what reasons, to prioritize this metric over others? Would "more efficiency" be justified if one accounted for the genuine costs associated with the labor of African or South American workers and the environmental destruction required for their production in the first place? Shouldn't governments consider the comprehensive social and environmental costs associated with the production of more efficient technological artifacts? Any plausible response to these multifaceted complex inquiries would have to delve into the processes through which people govern themselves, engage in deliberation, decision-making, and the challenging or perpetuation of existing institutions. Furthermore, conflicts, divergent choices, and unequal power dynamics dictate the outcomes of these processes [16,17]. In essence, any conceivable answer is inherently political.

The emergence of an alternative technology framework

This article discusses an alternative technology development framework, with the commons at its core. The commons represent social systems through which communities collectively manage shared resources [18,19]. Tangible examples of alternative institutions for a more sustainable societal organization have emerged and continue to emerge within the commons sphere. Just as Adam Smith used his renowned pin factory to illustrate the possibility of a different mode of production in the late 18th century (later recognized as "capitalist production"), a diverse range of commons-based "pin factories" foreshadow alternative approaches to addressing the key challenges of the 21st century.

The term "technology" doesn't solely pertain to the artifact as an object; it encapsulates everything related to its existence, from design and manufacturing to usage, maintenance, and disposal, including the knowledge associated with it [20,21]. The objective, therefore, is to explore methods for instilling technology with socially and ecologically sustainable values. We contend that a cosmolocal production configuration could potentially usher in a more democratic and ecological global political economy. A configuration that captures the essence of dispersed initiatives and technology movements, which appear to prioritize socio-environmental well-being over profit maximization, excessive production and consumption.

The concept of cosmolocal production has arisen in tandem with the proliferation of digital communication networks [22]. It entails the approaches used to connect local communities within networks of shared resources with the aim of reducing material and energy foot-prints, without outsourcing the adverse impact on other ecosystems [23, 24]. Cosmolocal production redefines the communal aspect [25] in terms of location, establishing resilient infrastructures for the exchange of knowledge, techniques, and practices over open communication channels [26]. Design, knowledge, and software are collectively developed and enhanced as part of a global digital commons, while



Fig. 1. The cosmolocalism structural framework with its functions (e.g. knowledge transfer), spatial dimensions (e.g. local/global, rural/urban), and main fields of activity (e.g., agriculture, digital technologies) [24].

V. Kostakis and N. Tsiouris

biophysical conditions (see Fig. 1 for an overview of the cosmolocalism structural framework) [26,27].

Cosmolocal production neither demonizes high-tech nor idealizes low-tech. Rather, it employs the concept of "mid-tech" which encompasses the notion of achieving equilibrium between two diametrically opposed qualities: high-tech and low-tech. Mid-tech functions as a comprehensive intermediary that transcends the high-, low-tech polarity and molds them into a more integrated synthesis, reaping the benefits of the two extremes. Consequently, high-tech and low-tech cease to be mutually exclusive; instead, they form a dialectical unity. A mid-tech approach delves into the capacity to harmonize the efficiency and seamlessness of high-tech with the autonomy and resilience inherent in low-tech [28]. Kostakis et al. [28] exemplify the mid-tech notion by juxtaposing high-tech prosthetics with the case of OpenBionics, an open-source initiative that combines high-tech and low-tech elements to build lightweight, affordable and adaptable prosthetic devices. High-tech prosthetics utilize complex sensors and actuators and require sophisticated human-machine interactions for efficient operation. As a result, they are expensive, heavy and difficult to use, maintain and/or repair. In contrast, OpenBionics strives to develop prosthetic devices that are easily reproducible using readily available materials and rapid prototyping methods [28]. OpenBionics embraces the cosmolocal practices of global digital commons and on-demand, needs-based local manufacturing.

Many more technology initiatives serve as prime examples of cosmolocal production. Take, for instance, Wikipedia, a free and opensource encyclopedia that has supplanted the Encyclopedia Britannica and Microsoft Encarta. Wikipedia is created and maintained by a community of widely dispersed enthusiasts primarily motivated by reasons beyond profit maximization. Likewise, in the realm of software, consider GNU/Linux, which powers the top 500 supercomputers, or the Apache Web Server, the dominant software in the web-server market. These accomplishments are the result of collaborative efforts by communities of hackers, scientists, and enthusiasts where the profit incentive is present but relegated to the periphery. Arguably, humans are activated by a rich motivational diversity, which may include the incentive to satisfy a particular need or the pleasure of creativity, sharing and learning [27].

Similarly, the rise of networked micro-factories is giving birth to niche initiatives in design and manufacturing. These spaces, which can be makerspaces, fab labs, or other co-working facilities, are equipped with manufacturing technologies, including 3D printers, CNC machines, as well as traditional low-tech tools and crafts. These initiatives form a diverse tapestry that doesn't require a singular physical base since their members are scattered across the globe. Prominent examples are the L'Atelier Paysan cooperative and the Farm Hack network, which develop open-source agricultural machinery for small-scale farming [21]; the Libre Space Foundation, responsible for the first open-source satellite in orbit; the OpenBionics project, developing open-source designs for robotic and bionic devices [24]; the Wind Empowerment Association, producing small-scale renewables [29]; or the RepRap community, crafting open-source designs for 3D printers capable of self-replication.

These initiatives harness a global wealth of knowledge to manufacture artifacts locally, enhancing them with their own contributions in the form of design files, software, best practices, and expertise. In cosmolocal production, local communities can diminish their reliance on global value chains because a substantial portion of the production cycle occurs at the local level [24]. Cosmolocal production often hinges on values such as reciprocity and self-organization, which prioritize local autonomy, cultural diversity, and a sense of common benefit [24]. These technology initiatives cultivate ecosystems of small-scale, locally-focused communities that nurture the communal capabilities of individuals and groups, contributing to the global digital commons [23]. The globally spreading digital commons in combination with localized manufacturing capabilities generate hybrid forms of commoning that scale wide or out instead of scaling up [24]. Cosmolocalism embodies both capitalist and post-capitalist aspects, drawing viability from partnerships with the dominant system while pointing toward new possibilities. The elements that separate cosmolocal production from the conventional industrial production are designembedded sustainability, i.e., products are designed for longevity; needs-based manufacturing, i.e., sourcing materials locally to minimize logistics; and access to the means of production, i.e. digital and physical infrastructures are shared [24]. However, cosmolocal production is not without its tensions and contradictions. For instance, although it may alleviate the pressure on natural resources and local populations (e.g., minerals from African countries), it still relies on energy- and material-intensive infrastructures, such as the Internet. Nevertheless, this article argues that a cosmolocal framework could act as a catalyst to connect the multitude of local initiatives and unite their radical narratives while preserving their diversity.

Conclusion

The most urgent challenges of our time are intricately connected with technology. The evolution of technology within the capitalist mode of production presents numerous pressing issues, leaving a profound impact on societies and the environment. The relentless pursuit of constant upscaling and economic growth inherent in capitalism places an immense strain on human and material resources, pushing our world close to a catastrophic tipping point. As a response to this impending crisis, various post-capitalist narratives have emerged, signaling an inevitable transition in the mode of production.

In this context, we argue that nodes of cosmolocal production may serve as beacons toward a more inclusive and sustainable future. While some may perceive these examples as modest or even utopian, their uniqueness lies in the reclaiming of lost elements through empowerment and capacity-building, blending traditional and modern methods. It is crucial to view these cosmolocal endeavors as more than just idyllic visions. They represent pilot projects, offering a glimpse into a transformative shift in our production approach. They demonstrate the possibility of an alternative localization and a different form of globalization.

However, caution must be exercised to prevent the absorption of these initiatives by the prevailing dominant context, recognizing potential risks and challenges such as the dependence on energy- and labor-intensive infrastructures like the Internet. Despite this, the counterculture is not merely present but steadily gaining ground. While to reap the benefits of cosmolocal production strong political initiative and institutional innovations are needed, the momentum behind these postcapitalist pathways signifies a growing potential for meaningful change in our approach to production.

Funding

This work was supported by the European Research Council under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (grant agreement No 802512). This work was also supported by the European Commission through the H2020 project Finest Twins (grant No. 856602).

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Vasilis Kostakis: Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Project administration, Supervision, Writing – original draft. Nikiforos Tsiouris: Project administration, Writing – review & editing.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this article. V. Kostakis and N. Tsiouris

Data availability

No data was used for the research described in the article.

References

- C. Perez, Transitioning to smart green growth: lessons from history, in: R. Fouquet (Ed.), Handbook on Green Growth, Edward Elgar Publishing, 2019, pp. 447–463, https://doi.org/10.4337/9781788110686.00029.
- [2] J. Asafu-Adjaye, L. Blomqvist, S. Brand, B. Brook, R. DeFries, E. Ellis, C. Foreman, D. Keith, M. Lewis, M. Lynas, T. Nordhaus, Pielke RJr, R. Pritzker, P. Ronald, J. Roy, M. Sagoff, M. Shellenberger, R. Stone, P. Teague, An Ecomodernist manifesto, An Ecomodernist ManifestO, 2022. http://www.ecomodernism.org/ laccessed 13 November 20231.
- [3] A. Williams, N. Srnicek, #Accelerate Manifesto for an Accelerationist Politics, Critical Legal Thinking, 2013. https://criticallegalthinking.com/2013/05/14/acce lerate-manifesto-for-an-accelerationist-politics/ [accessed 13 November 2023].
- [4] B.K. Sovacool, Toxic transitions in the lifecycle externalities of a digital society: the complex afterlives of electronic waste in Ghana, Resour. Policy 64 (2019) 101459, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resourpol.2019.101459.
- [5] B.K. Sovacool, A. Hook, M. Martiskainen, A. Brock, B. Turnheim, The decarbonisation divide: contextualizing landscapes of low-carbon exploitation and toxicity in Africa, Global Environ. Change 60 (2020) 102028, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2019.102028.
- [6] S. Lange, J. Pohl, T. Santarius, Digitalization and energy consumption. Does ICT reduce energy demand? Ecol. Econ. 176 (2020) 106760 https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ecolecon.2020.106760.
- [7] A. Almazán, L.I. Prádanos, The political ecology of technology: a non-neutrality approach, Environ. Values 33 (1) (2024) 3–9.
- [8] T. Parrique, J. Barth, F. Briens, C. Kerschner, A. Kraus-Polk, A. Kuokkanen, J.
 H. Spangenberg, Decoupling debunked. Evidence and arguments against green growth as a sole strategy for sustainability, Edited Eur. Environ. Bureau; (2019).
- [9] J. Fakhri, M. Alqahtani, B. Ammouri, The dynamics of ecological convergence to an economic model of degrowth through coherence wavelet analysis, Sustain. Futures 6 (2023) 100127.
- [10] A. Hornborg, Global magic: Technologies of Appropriation from Ancient Rome to Wall Street, Palgrave Macmillan, 2016, https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137567871.
- [11] B. Alcott, Jevons' paradox, Ecol. Econ. 54 (1) (2005) 9–21, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ecolecon.2005.03.020.
- [12] B. Barros, R. Wilk, The outsized carbon footprints of the super-rich, Sustain.: Sci. Pract. Policy 17 (1) (2021) 316–322, https://doi.org/10.1080/ 15487733.2021.1949847.

- Sustainable Futures 7 (2024) 100187
- [13] J. Millward-Hopkins, Inequality can double the energy required to secure universal decent living, Nat. Commun. 13 (1) (2022) 5028, https://doi.org/10.1038/ sd1467.002.3779.8
- [14] Abigail J. Sellen, Richard HR Harper, The Myth of the Paperless Office, The MIT press, 2003.
- [15] M.D. Briscoe, The paperless office twenty years later: still a myth? Sustain.: Sci., Pract. Policy 18 (1) (2022) 837–845, https://doi.org/10.1080/ 15487723 2022 2146370
- [16] J. Hickel, G. Kallis, Is green growth possible? New Pol. Econ. 25 (4) (2020) 469–486, https://doi.org/10.1080/13563467.2019.1598964.
- [17] G. Kallis, V. Kostakis, S. Lange, B. Muraca, S. Paulson, M Schmelzer, Research on degrowth, Annual Rev. Environ. Resour. 43 (1) (2018) 291–316, https://doi.org/ 10.1146/annurev-environ-102017-025941.
- [18] E. Ostrom, Governing the commons: The evolution of Institutions for Collective Action, 1st ed., Cambridge University Press, 1990 https://doi.org/10.1017/ CB09780511807763.
- [19] D. Bollier, S Helfrich, Free, fair, and alive: The insurgent Power of the Commons, New Society Publishers, 2019.
- [20] (Eds.)DA MacKenzie, J. Wajcman (Eds.), The Social Shaping of technology: How the Refrigerator Got its Hum, Open University Press, 1985.
- [21] C. Giotitsas, Open Source Agriculture: Grassroots Technology in the Digital Era, Palgrave Macmillan, 2019.
- [22] A. Šchismenos, V. Niaros, Lemos L. Cosmolocalism, Understanding the transitional dynamics towards post-capitalism, TripleC: Commun., Capitalism Critique 18 (2) (2020) 670–684, https://doi.org/10.31269/triplec.v1812.1188.
- [23] E. Manzini, Design, When Everybody designs: An Introduction to Design for Social Innovation, The MIT Press, 2015.
- [24] V. Kostakis, C. Giotitsas, V. Niaros, Beyond global versus local: illuminating a cosmolocal mode of convival technology development, Sustain. Sci. (2023) 2309–2322, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-023-01378-1.
- [25] A. Escobar, Designs for the Pluriverse: Radical Interdependence, Autonomy, And the Making of Worlds, Duke University Press, 2018.
- [26] V. Kostakis, K. Latoufis, M. Liarokapis, M. Bauwens, The convergence of digital commons with local manufacturing from a degrowth perspective: two illustrative cases, J. Clean. Prod. 197 (2018) 1684–1693, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jclepro.2016.09.077.
- [27] B. Robra, P. Heikkurinen, I. Nesterova, Commons-based peer production for degrowth? - The case for eco-sufficiency in economic organisations, Sustain. Futures 2 (2020) 100035, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sfr.2020.100035.
- [28] V. Kostakis, A. Pazaitis, M. Liarokapis, Beyond high-tech versus low-tech: a tentative framework for sustainable urban data governance, Big. Data Soc. 10 (2023) 1, https://doi.org/10.1177/20539517231180583.
- [29] K. Troullaki, S. Rozakis, K. Latoufis, C. Giotitsas, C. Priavolou, F. Freire, Sustainable rural electrification: harnessing a cosmolocal wind, Energies (Basel) 15 (2022) 4659, https://doi.org/10.3390/en151346659.

Publication IV

Tsiouris, N. (2024). An Alternative Approach to Science and Technology Parks. *Postdigital Science and Education*, 1-16.

ORIGINAL ARTICLES



An Alternative Approach to Science and Technology Parks

Nikiforos Tsiouris¹

Accepted: 25 June 2024 © The Author(s), under exclusive licence to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2024

Abstract

Science and technology parks (STPs) are fundamental elements of the knowledge economy infrastructure. They are clusters of research and development, innovation and technology transfer. However, they often tend to endorse specific trajectories for technological and business development, such as the production of high technology and the proliferation of profit-maximising businesses. In response to an intense environmental and socio-economic crisis, this article explores how STPs could facilitate a postdigital science and technology development, reaping the benefits of open-source technology and social entrepreneurship. The article aims to outline an alternative approach to designing and operating STPs through an exploratory case study from Greece. By embracing a postdigital and commons-oriented approach, STPs could promote technology and business diversity, which might help address environmental degradation and wealth inequality.

Keywords Science and technology parks · Commons · Postdigital · Open-source technologies · Social and solidarity economy

Introduction

Science and technology parks (STPs) are often considered to be fundamental, even traditional (Frischmann 2012) infrastructure elements bolstering the knowledge economy. They aspire to realise local collaborations and enhance regional innovative and economic performances (Albahari et al. 2017; Laspia et al. 2021). To fulfil these aspirations, STPs tend to promote the production of high technology and profit-maximisation business models. However, it is important to reconsider environmental and socio-economic consequences caused by high-tech development, the so-called digital revolution, and profit-maximisation business activities (Kallis et al. 2018; Kostakis and Tsiouris 2024).

Nikiforos Tsiouris nikiforos.tsiouris@taltech.ee

¹ Ragnar Nurkse Department of Innovation and Governance, Tallinn University of Technology (TalTech), Akadeemia Tee 3, 12618 Tallinn, Estonia

In response to the high-tech and profit-maximising fixation of the conventional STP paradigm, I draw inspiration from postdigital theory and the commons. Postdigital theory posits that the digital is no longer novel, as high-tech disruptions have become commonplace, and recognises the need to look further than analogue–digital dichotomy (Jandrić et al. 2018; Macgilchrist 2021; Jandrić 2023a). Digital technology has taken a specific form in people's minds and the postdigital brings the opportunity to break the norms and provoke change. The essence of postdigital ideas does not lie in a linguistic shift but a cultural one (Sinclair and Hayes 2019). An STP that persists in a digital revolution will more likely continue to have similar results. A postdigital STP approach challenges the norms and could create new pathways, friendlier to both humans and the environment. At the same time, the commons showcase a more inclusive and sustainable way of organising our societies, an alternative proposition that harnesses a global wealth of knowledge to localise and democratise production (Kostakis and Tsiouris 2024).

High-tech development is burdened by plenty of problematic processes. The use, production, disposal, and even recycling of high-tech artefacts is often an energy-consuming, toxic-generating, and labour-intensive process marked by inhumane and precarious conditions (Lange et al. 2020; Sovacool et al. 2020). Further, high-tech advancements are often proven environmentally and economically unsustainable by products' short lifespan and planned obsolescence in an attempt to achieve exponential economic growth (Kostakis et al. 2018). Although in many cases high-tech increases efficiency, it can also result in rebound effects that end up neutralising its positive impact in terms of socio-environmental sustainability (Kallis et al. 2018). Similarly, for-profit-maximisation business activities regularly ignore environmental boundaries and exploit socio-economic inequalities, creating wealth and comfort for the few at the cost of the many (Kallis et al. 2018; Kostakis and Tsiouris 2024).

In contrast, there is a multitude of potentially more collaborative and inclusive business- and technology-development models that are inspired by, and correlated with, the commons. Examples include the open cooperativism movement (Pazaitis et al. 2017), the platform cooperativism movement (Scholz and Schneider 2016), and the open-source movement (Kostakis et al. 2018). The commons are social systems where a shared resource is collectively managed by the community or group of stakeholders that produces, maintains, and protects that resource (Bauwens and Jandrić 2021). Movements and initiatives organised around the commons aim not to maximise profits but to maximise public value through sharing the acquired knowledge openly (Pazaitis and Drechsler 2020). The profit motive is not absent, but it is relegated to the periphery (Benkler 2011). Humans are activated by a rich motivational diversity, which may include the incentive to satisfy a particular need or the pleasure of creativity, sharing and learning (Benkler 2006; Weber 2004).

This article provides a constructive critique of the established views and practices around STPs. It offers an alternative approach for establishing more pluralistic STPs, which could serve as hubs towards a more sustainable technology and economy. To realise these goals, I use an exploratory case study from the Region of Epirus in Greece that tentatively frames two commons-oriented emerging phenomena, opensource technologies and the social and solidarity economy, within the planned-to-be built local STP. The article proceeds with a review of the characteristics and challenges of conventional STPs regarding technology, business, and governance. Then, I underline potentialities of an alternative technological and business approach and an exploratory case study where a citizens' initiative advocating for an alternative STP is introduced. Next, I discuss the case study in conjunction with postdigital theory and the commons. The article lists some benefits that STPs could reap by pursuing a more pluralistic approach amidst a profound environmental and socio-economic crisis.

Conventional STP Approach

Literature around STPs is extensive yet characterised by a sense of ambiguity (Lecluyse et al. 2019). The latter becomes apparent already by the lack of a concise, universal definition of an STP. According to one definition, STPs function as regional clusters of organisations such as universities, research institutions, and other private and public entities, where human, material (machines, tools, and infrastructure) and immaterial (knowledge) resources are accumulated in one physical location with the purpose of creating positive social and economic impact through innovation and technology transfer (Xie et al. 2018).

STPs share a core of similar elements, which are the spatial specificity, the R&D and innovation orientation, the knowledge and technology transfer between stakeholders, and the proximity—in terms of distance and involvement—to a university or other higher education institutes (Hobbs et al. 2017). Commonly, STPs bring together and host organisations that specialise in a specific field of science and technology, i.e., the biotechnology parks in India (Vaidyanathan 2008) or the Wuhan Donghu High-Tech Zone on information technology and electronics (Xie et al. 2018). The proximity to entities with a similar specialisation seems beneficial for companies on several levels, from enabling collaborations to the more direct exchange of knowledge and access to state-of-the-art developments in the field (Xie et al. 2018).

STPs in 'advanced' economies are almost always formed by an alliance between scientists and private investors, whilst in emerging economies, STPs are mostly a government-planned project to spark high-tech innovation within an area as part of a regional development plan (Lau and Lo 2015). In both cases, public-funding is ubiquitous as the government sets up financial institutions to compensate for the lack of investment support start-ups or other tenant companies could be facing (Vásquez-Urriago et al. 2016). The level of private sector involvement and its impact on the performance of STPs remains a subject of debate. Although some authors argue more private sector involvement benefits STPs (Chen et al. 2006; Sofouli and Vonor-tas 2007), there is no conclusive evidence that this is indeed the case (Albahari et al. 2022; Lecluyse et al. 2019).

Collaboration of universities and STPs has often presented positive spillovers on the development of the regional and local economy, by raising the level of performance in the universities and increasing employment opportunities in the region (Link 2016; Mora-Valentín et al. 2018). Technology development and transfer may instigate a relationship between universities and companies that proves to be mutually beneficial. Universities can attain R&D funding and secure their intellectual property interests and rights, whilst gaining a reputation for their innovation potential and using licensing revenues to finance further research in the institution. Conversely, companies can potentially significantly reduce R&D costs and capitalise on the produced technologies (Steruska et al. 2019).

Companies' participation in an STP is incentivised by favourable rent prices and locations, and technical services that are easily accessible on-site (Ng et al. 2022; Steruska et al. 2019). The spatial proximity enables a dense networking activity facilitating the creation of informal, diverse relationships between stakeholders, which in many instances leads to successful synergies (Poonjan and Tanner 2020). Location, local context, and pre-existing competencies in terms of governance structure and innovation culture in the region usually have a significant effect on the development of an STP. That is because, on the one hand, universities and research institutions tend to dictate, to a large extent, the kind of technology companies are able to commercialise and, on the other hand, national or local governments are in charge of innovation promoting policies (Ng et al. 2022; Poonjan and Tanner 2020; Vásquez-Urriago et al. 2016).

High-tech is perceived as a prerequisite for STPs, whilst other technological approaches seem to remain unexplored. Most funding for STP development arrives from public sources but the impact on local stakeholders and society has been far from what was initially anticipated; some authors even consider STPs as high-tech fantasies (Bakouros et al. 2002; Massey and Wield 2003). Regional socio-economic problems involve many more parameters than the mere implantation of a high-tech cluster can solve. At the same time, the high-tech approach coupled with private-sector involvement has shown to increase the development gap between regions (Massey and Wield 2003; Vedovello 1997). Conventional STPs have achieved mixed results in fulfilling their purpose of positively transforming the social and economic status of a region (Albahari et al. 2022; Hobbs et al. 2017). I argue that there are alternative technological and business approaches that have indicated nodes of success in spurring innovation and enhancing sustainability and could translate favourably within an STP context.

A Postdigital and Commons-Oriented Approach

STPs have been prevalent around the globe for more than half a century with their total number being in the hundreds (Sandoval Hamón et al. 2022). However, so far they have shown mixed results in fulfilling their presumed goals to the initially expected level (Albahari et al. 2022; Lecluyse et al. 2019). This opens room for experimentation, in this article, with a postdigital and commons-oriented approach. The postdigital, much like the commons, represents both a disruption and an extension of the digital revolution and brings forward a grand challenge across science, education, arts, and other areas of human interest (Jandrić et al. 2018; Macgilchrist 2021). In this case, the disruption represents a tipping point where the old notion, i.e., the digital, is arguably no longer sufficient and a new notion emerges moving

forward, i.e., the postdigital. Similarly, it may be time for STPs to steer away from their conventional digital approach and explore a postdigital one.

Fixating on high-tech production, STPs often remain stagnated. Beyond grave environmental consequences and inhumane working conditions (e.g., mining in Africa and precarious labour in Asia), artificial monopolies and planned obsolescence (e.g., Monsanto's seed monopoly or Apple's support policy on its devices and services), high-tech is usually locked behind patents and proprietary licences (Boldrin and Levine 2013; Pazaitis et al. 2021). In contrast, a commons-oriented opensource approach allows users to study the technology, use it, reproduce it, develop it, and adapt it to their needs (Weber 2004). Closed technology restricts those freedoms and minimises the agency of the users.

An exemplary case of the benefits of open over closed technologies is 3D printing. Since the FDM patent expired, knowledge has been open to everyone, and thousands of people have experimented with it innovatively, accelerating the rate of development around it (Priavolou et al. 2022). A similar situation occurred 220 years ago, with the steam engine that catalysed the Industrial Revolution (Nuvolari et al. 2011). When closed technology became open, innovation around technology increased exponentially. The patent system is outdated and does not seem to spur innovation but rather interrupt it (Pazaitis et al. 2021). Conversely, the aforementioned examples showcase how innovation can be amplified by being managed as a shared resource, i.e. a commons.

High-tech is not by definition socially and environmentally unsustainable. However, when produced 'within silos' being profit-incentivised, it has a detrimental effect on societies and the environment (Kostakis and Roos 2018; Lange et al. 2020). Open-source technological products can also be high-tech but are mostly produced in a way that may mitigate some of high-tech's challenges. Humans regain some control over technology; a significant part of production can be localised; and an optimal synthesis can be achieved between the efficiency and seamlessness of hightech and the frugality and resilience of low-tech (Kostakis et al. 2023a).

The latter intersects with a postdigital perspective in which the digital element makes part of a comprehensive totality, prompting a more critical stance to understanding technology and its practical applications (Fawns 2019). Technology is an object but also includes processes and knowledge produced around the object. Opposing the deterministic digital perspective, technology is not neutral but socially defined. It is highly influenced by the decisions of manufacturers, designers and anyone else—directly or indirectly—involved (Kostakis and Tsiouris 2024). Post-digital theory illuminates the complex relationship between humans and technology. It highlights the imperative for humanity to ponder the profound ramifications of its continuously more intricate interaction with digital technologies—an urge to comprehend and scrutinise the human-technology connections (Jandrić et al. 2018; Green 2021; Jandrić 2023a).

The open-source paradigm has already been integrated into global organisations. A report commissioned by the Ford Foundation (Eghbal 2016) concludes that almost all software 'used by Fortune 500 companies and governments is based on FOSS: from Apache, the most popular web server, to GNU/Linux, on which the top-500 supercomputers run, to WordPress, the most popular content management system, to OpenSSL, the most popular encryption protocol to secure transactions' (Pazaitis and Kostakis 2022). In the realm of hardware, there is a bloom of initiatives worldwide that produce OSH (Blind et al. 2021). For example, in a small country like Greece, one can find open-source initiatives that produce various technologies such as agricultural machinery,¹ robotic and bionic devices,² small-scale wind turbines,³ and satellites.⁴ We have come to the point that open-source technology is gradually recognised as a possible alternative not only by the likes of The Economist and Forbes but also by huge consulting companies such as Deloitte and PricewaterhouseCoopers (Pazaitis and Kostakis 2022). This should serve as a warning that the commons could and have been co-opted as capital and remind communities to take care of and protect their commons (Bauwens and Jandrić 2021).

Open-source technologies go beyond the technical and generate positive spillovers in the business and governance sphere. The latter effect derives from the nonnegligible tendencies of the commons-oriented approach, which is pervaded by the elements of transparency, inclusion and sustainability (Priavolou et al. 2022). Opensource boosts innovation, empowers communities through collaboration, and amplifies local economic and social impact (Robra et al. 2023). Therefore, open-source technologies are incremental for the social and solidarity economy (Gagliardi et al. 2020). The economy is dominated by profit-driven corporations that exploit human labour by doing business as usual, whether that is in subcontracted sweatshop factories and warehouses, in typical companies, or in 'agile' teams and user groups (Pazaitis and Kostakis 2022).

In contrast, commons-inspired initiatives such as social enterprises and open cooperatives are often more resilient than those aimed at maximising profits; benefit the local communities; and tend to operate in a more democratic way (Esteves et al. 2021). Some even foresee that a social and solidarity economy could become the vehicle to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals set by the UN (Esteves et al. 2021; Gagliardi et al. 2020). Social enterprises, and more so open cooperatives, adopt multi-stakeholder democratic governance models, enable their community to mutualise resources and organise around social and environmental global issues (Pazaitis et al. 2017). STPs are incubators of innovation and technology development. Therefore, aspiring STP designers, directors, and other stakeholders should explore those possibilities.

The Case of the OpenTechPark-Citizens for Open-Tech

This article employs an exploratory case study to tentatively frame an alternative approach to STPs (Yin 2009). The latter builds on the conjunction of two emerging collaborative movements: open-source technologies, and the social

¹ See https://www.tzoumakers.gr/english/. Accessed 20 June 2024.

² See https://openbionics.org/. Accessed 20 June 2024.

³ See https://neaguinea.org/. Accessed 20 June 2024.

⁴ See https://libre.space/. Accessed 20 June 2024.

and solidarity economy. The case study involves a grassroots initiative from the Region of Epirus in Greece. The initiative, called OpenTechPark-Citizens for Open-Tech (COT), is critical of conventional STPs and goes on to provide a set of proposals for an alternative STP. The critique and the proposals are informed by a year-and-a-half-long public deliberation, in which various stakeholders and experts have participated. The set of proposals has been co-configured through a series of iterative cycles of participant feedback.

I adopt a participatory approach to case study research, where case participants become contributing researchers and, hence, experts who can contribute to understanding the underlying processes (Reilly 2010). This article is developed subjectively mainly through personal observations and interpretations and proceeds to suggest a normative STP framework. I aim to further theorise it within the postdigital theory and the commons through my subjective interactions and experiences as a member of the COT initiative.

The case study takes place in Epirus, where the regional government decided to contribute tens of millions of euros and acres of public land to create a high-tech park in the regional capital, Ioannina. Specifically, the submitted budget was 49 million euros, from which 20 million would be covered by the Recovery and Resilience Facility. The remaining 29 million would be covered half by loan and half by rent advancements from companies. The decision to create a high-tech park was taken without any public deliberation on whether the city needs a technology park, and if so, what kind of technology park should that be.

In early 2021, the P2P Lab, a local social enterprise that studies technology and its impact on society and the environment, noticed the regional government's plans. Reflecting on my own positionality (Hayes 2023), I am a core member of the P2P Lab as well as a participant in the later-formed COT initiative. Initially, as a collective of researchers and activists, we published an open letter advocating for an open-tech park seeing that an STP built with public funding and on public land should enable sharing, collaboration, and local socio-economic impact. Soon after, an online consultation for an alternative technology park was held. The consultation, in which 217 scientists and citizens participated, began on the mailing list of the P2P Lab and produced a set of policy proposals for a different STP. It should be clarified that all participants in the consultation were familiar with, and their work relates in some capacity with, the two main concepts that permeate the proposals, i.e., open-source technologies and the social and solidarity economy. To a degree, this influenced the tendency of the proposals towards these concepts.

Subsequently, the under-formulation grassroots initiative issued an invitation (via relevant mailing lists, the P2P Lab's social media, and a press release that was published by most local media) to an open online—due to COVID-19 restrictions meeting to discuss the first iteration of proposals. The Governor of Epirus formally denied this invitation and dismissed the goals of the initiative through an exchange of registered letters via regular mail. During the online meeting that led to a second iteration of the proposals, it was unanimously agreed that two of the members myself being one—would be tasked to represent the initiative and convey its proposals in person to more local stakeholders. Moreover, a website (opentechpark.org) would be created to document the initiative's progress. The website is bilingual and is regularly updated with relevant developments.

In the following two months, the initiative's members met and discussed with individuals and local organisations, such as the Head of the Chamber of Commerce, the Mayor of Ioannina City, social enterprises, social movement groups, and other Epirus-based networks. Moreover, argumentation of the COT initiative was communicated to the leaders of two opposition parties of the Greek parliament and the Minister of Digital Governance. A think tank, affiliated with one of the two opposition parties, organised a public event in Athens in which the goals of the COT initiative were discussed in person with almost 100 participants (members of the parliament included). Another open online event followed on the topic, which was co-organised with the Athens-based Open Technologies Alliance⁵ (GFOSS). The above-described activities aimed at the expansion of the initiative's network and the collection of further feedback.

A continuous public deliberation took place indirectly and asynchronously through a mailing list that was created for the coordination of the COT initiative. After having publicly documented the process stage by stage, the initiative reformulated eight proposals which were then submitted via mail to the Region of Epirus. The letter was followed by a request to discuss the proposals in the Regional Council of the Region of Epirus, as well as in the Municipal Council of the Municipality of Ioannina. The proposals were also shared with the deputies of the Region of Epirus.

The COT initiative suggests that public infrastructures should facilitate the sharing of knowledge. The list of proposals⁶ regarding the high-tech park that was submitted to the Region of Epirus by the COT initiative is, as follows:

- 1. To establish a public co-working space. This way, freelancers and students will use this space, facilitating collaborations and knowledge exchange. The park could also attract people who work remotely in technology and look for places to settle temporarily (digital nomads).
- 2. To establish a makerspace. All citizens will be able to access it, but priority will be given to businesses housed in the park, to schools and the local university. Connecting the communal makerspace to the local economy (e.g., agricultural production, livestock, and wineries) may provide solutions for primary production in terms of automation, control and digital switching solutions. Knowledge is produced locally and creates value for the region.
- 3. To integrate direct democratic processes for the administration of the co-working space and the makerspace by the citizens and the entities that are active there.
- 4. To provide benefits (e.g., rental discount) to park-based businesses that produce open technology (e.g., FOSS and/or OSH) and/or have integrated circular economy elements in their organisation. If the company can demonstrate the impact

⁵ See https://gfoss.eu/. Accessed 20 June 2024.

⁶ Details of specific local context, such as names of local organisations, were omitted to facilitate the reader and prevent confusion.

of its open product or service in the Region of Epirus, benefits would be even greater.

- 5. To provide benefits to social and solidarity economy entities that deal more widely with technology. Such companies have cooperative/participatory structures, and thus significant impact on the local economy.
- 6. To be open and easily accessible to the local community. In the design phase, needs of people with disabilities (e.g., ergonomic office design, area access, and toilets) as well as general diversity (race, gender) should be taken into serious account.
- 7. To encourage development and operation of clean energy communities to increase the energy autonomy of Epirus.
- 8. To promote interaction and cooperation between the public and private sectors. A good starting point may be to organise training seminars for farmers and producers/designers throughout Epirus.

The proposals were discussed during a Regional Council that took place online on 25 May 2022 with the participation of some of the initiative's members. In November 2022, the Recovery and Resilience Facility formally approved part of the funding needed for the construction of the park. The COT initiative's actions resulted in the Region of Epirus including most of its proposals in the master plan that was submitted to the respective ministries. Thus, one of the STP's buildings shall be dedicated to entities that produce open-source technologies and promote the social and solidarity economy. Although the inclusion of the initiative's proposals is a positive outcome, the next steps of design and implementation will be critical. At the time of this writing, the plan for the local STP has not come to fruition.

As a participant in the COT initiative, I recognise potential academic contributions from this exploratory case. The initiative has managed to contour a more inclusive and socio-environmentally sustainable STP based on the diffusion of opensource technologies and the promotion of the social and solidarity economy. I do not aim to provide a definite objective masterplan of how STPs should operate. Instead, I build on this case to suggest a normative, more pluralistic approach, which connects with postdigital theory and the commons.

Discussion

STPs have traditionally aspired to a high-tech path (Massey and Wield 2003) that provides advanced, sophisticated solutions but often also causes grave problems (Sovacool 2019). In most cases, it creates artificial abundance for the few and scarcity for the many—whilst even the privileged few have limited agency (Boldrin and Levine 2013). To an extent, these consequences could be addressed by the support and adoption of open-source technologies whilst aiming for an optimal middle ground between high-tech and low-tech (Kostakis et al. 2023a). One could consider it as a postdigital notion that transcends dichotomies such as online and offline, virtual and real, digital and analogue, and technical and natural (Macgilchrist 2021; Jandrić 2023a).

The COT initiative advocates for what Gorz (1968) would call a 'non-reformist reform'. Answering the question whether systemic change will emerge through reform or revolution, Gorz proposed that through non-reformist reforms, social movements could achieve immediate gains and actively prepare for a wider battle, eventually culminating in more radical transformations. The COT initiative is a social movement calling for a non-reformist reform in STPs. There is a wealth of knowledge, experience, and good practice produced within the postdigital and commons realm that could affect a sustainable, non-exploitative, non-reducible knowledge economy (Green 2021). As an integral infrastructure element of the knowledge economy, STPs should explore the benefits of this wealth. Having said that, a non-reformist reform of STPs will not come without the organisational and political challenges inherent to such institutions.

A commons-oriented open-source approach enhances co-creation and inclusion in the production of technology and accelerates innovation through sharing, showcased by the multiple successful projects ranging from agriculture to space technologies (Giotitsas 2019; Robra et al. 2023). In line with the values of openness and collaboration in the production of technology are the proposals of the COT initiative to include, in the local STP, co-working spaces; a community makerspace; and offer benefits to entities that produce open-source technologies. In accordance with the COT initiative's proposals, including an open community makerspace and a coworking area could be beneficial for an STP as they could function as a point of convergence for students, researchers, communities, and organisations. They could serve as places to meet, exchange knowledge and experience, and develop informal or formal relationships. Fostering an environment where people from different fields and backgrounds come together to create has shown to enhance innovation (Farritor 2017). Both relevant proposals are derivatives of the commons-oriented approach that the initiative, and me in this article, adopt. Makerspaces can serve as hubs of innovation, vehicles for needs-driven transformation (Niaros et al. 2017) and local economic development (van Holm 2017), all of which correlate strongly with the targets of an STP for increased local impact.

Although postdigital dynamics between technology, the makers, and the growthoriented knowledge economy are complex, collective initiatives have managed to foster non-hierarchical patterns that encourage creativity, collaboration, and knowledge sharing towards successful innovations (Green 2021). Human relationships and praxis are vital for social innovation as it is aimed at avoiding ecological overshoots and socio-economic shortfalls whilst navigating paths towards a more just economy through the creation of collaborations, shared aspirations and infrastructure (Goodyear 2022). The strive for productive and purposeful human-technology relationships occurs simultaneously at a micro-level and a macro-level (Jandrić 2023b). Infrastructures such as STPs include both these levels and influencing them can contribute to radical change.

As STPs are set in a specific spatial context, they aspire to have a positive economic and social impact locally, e.g., attract companies and create professional opportunities for the locals, develop technological solutions for the region, and enhance the local innovation culture (Lau and Lo 2015; Ratinho and Henriques 2010). In more than half a century of existence, STPs have achieved some

positive outcomes locally. There have been cases, however, that the development of STPs contributed to the mitigation of inequalities between, and within, regions by providing increased agency to private-interest initiatives and by staying confined in the high-tech pathway (Bakouros et al. 2002; Massey and Wield 2003; Vedovello 1997). The most prominent example is that of Silicon Valley which aspires to offer avant-garde efficient solutions, promising digital and other 'revolutions' sparked by big data and algorithms (see Jandrić 2024). There is an imminent problematisation over the actual social, and material influence of the digital, which contradicts the common fallacy that the digital is something without tangible consequences. Postdigital aims to 'hold the digital accountable' by looking beyond the promises of maximising efficiency and establishing a critical comprehension of implications of digital technologies on our society (Jandrić et al. 2018).

Whilst not dismissing the impact of conventional STPs, there are challenges that need to be addressed. For example, the COT initiative, keeping in perspective that the local STP will be primarily publicly funded, has proposed the enhancement of public–private sector collaboration through the STP's administration, the inclusion of diverse social groups in the different phases of the project, and the promotion of non-profit renewable energy communities in an effort to limit the issue of energy poverty in the region. Enabling communities to innovate and fulfil their needs in a spirit of collaboration, solidarity, and democratisation of technology has revealed glimpses into more sustainable and inclusive futures (Kostakis et al. 2023a, b). These arguments are deeply intertwined with a postdigital infrastructure where the social, digital, material, and all in-between aspects are embraced (Goodyear 2022).

STPs' focus on maximising profits and efficiency has been counterproductive (Chen et al. 2006; Laspia et al. 2021). STPs are multi-stakeholder entities with a strong public sector presence. There may lie an opportunity for STPs to adopt and promote the social and solidarity economy, which is characterised by more democratic governance models and a more social and political orientation (Gagliardi et al. 2020; Robra et al. 2023). Social cooperatives are intrinsically gravitating towards the common good and work on addressing global challenges, even if they operate on a local scale (Pazaitis and Drechsler 2020; Priavolou et al. 2022).

There are three main levels of resource allocation: the state, which represents regulatory planning, as in the capitalist system; the market, which regulates the allocation of capital; and the emergence of mutual coordination or 'stigmergy', which creates a friendly environment for open-source commoning. At the moment, we are experiencing an ecological, socio-economic crisis but also a crisis of democracy caused by the failure of the state and the market. That creates a pathway for a more sustainable response through the commons (Bauwens and Jandrić 2021). According to Bauwens and Jandrić (2021), the answer lies in the emergence of a public-commons cooperation pool that would legitimise products and services produced by communities and place them into existing systems. This idea goes hand in hand with Gorz's (1968) non-reformist reform. The COT initiative's approach to STPs could disrupt the existing system and legitimise postdigital theory and the commons by transferring them to an institutional level, managing publicly funded infrastructure as a commons.

Conclusion

This article tentatively synthesises good practices in technology, organisation, and business and provokes discussion around postdigital and commons-oriented infrastructure. It draws experience and knowledge from successful commons-inspired examples from the open-source movement and identifies multiple benefits for an alternative STP that adopts these approaches. The case of the COT initiative has been an opportunity to open the debate and construct some untapped potentialities regarding STPs. An exploratory case makes it hard to provide indepth and robust findings. Nevertheless, it could be worthwhile for STPs to be more pluralistic and open, recognising the limits and inefficiency of the conventional approach and gathering the seeds from promising alternatives.

Postdigital theory disrupts dichotomies and reaches beyond the digital, shedding light on aspects that are explicitly or implicitly ignored. Respectively, the COT initiative disrupts conventional STP approaches. Not all disruptive movements correlate. In this case, however, postdigital theory and the initiative's alternative approach to STPs have a prevalent connection. They both explore and embed human relationships in technology, obviously with their imperfections but with an important and undervalued contribution. Following Sinclair and Hayes (2019), the *post*digital (com-*post*) is a fertile ground for sharing, collaborating, and producing science and technology that is socially and environmentally sustainable. Thus, the article opens a postdigital dialogue (Jandrić et al. 2019) between postdigital and STPs.

This article positions postdigital theory within the context of an STP. Postdigital theory has extensively discussed creative labour, digital learning, even universities. STPs bring together all these previously explored aspects, along with many others, which makes them an interesting experimental testbed for postdigital theory. The presented study is based upon an exploratory case study within the Western (Greek) context and should be expanded to and tested in other contexts. Therefore, the article's most important implication is opening a dialogue on exploring postdigital approaches in such an institution, enriching both postdigital theory and praxis of a multi-stakeholder complex institution like an STP. Based on a lot of recent good work related to studies of postdigital futures (e.g., Forsler et al. 2024), future research may inquire what a postdigital and commonsoriented STP would look like: should it be spatially centralised or distributed, should it concentrate on a specific field of science or opt for a more extensive variety, and so on.

Funding This work was supported by the European Research Council under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (grant agreement No 802512) and by the European Commission through the H2020 project Finest Twins (grant No. 856602).

Declarations

Competing Interests The author declares no competing interests.

References

- Albahari, A., Barge-Gil, A., Pérez-Canto, S., & Landoni, P. (2022). The effect of science and technology parks on tenant firms: a literature review. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 48, 1489– 1531. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-022-09949-7.
- Albahari, A., Pérez-Canto, S., Barge-Gil, A., & Modrego, A. (2017). Technology parks versus science parks: Does the university make the difference?. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 116, 13–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2016.11.012.
- Bakouros, Y. L., Mardas, D. C., & Varsakelis, N. C. (2002). Science park, a high tech fantasy?: an analysis of the science parks of Greece. *Technovation*, 22(2), 123–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0166-4972(00)00087-0.
- Bauwens, M., & Jandrić, P. (2021). The Seeds of The Commons: Peer-to-Peer Alternatives for Planetary Survival and Justice. *Postdigital Science and Education*, 3(3), 575–591. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s42438-021-00218-8.
- Benkler, Y. (2006). *The wealth of networks: How social production transforms markets and freedom*. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Benkler, Y. (2011). *The penguin and the leviathan: How cooperation triumphs over self-interest*. New York, NY: Crown Business.
- Blind, K., Böhm, M., Grzegorzewska, P., Katz, A., Muto, S., Pätsch, S., & Schubert, T. (2021). The impact of Open Source Software and Hardware on technological independence, competitiveness and innovation in the EU economy. Final Study Report. Brussels: European Commission. https:// doi.org/10.2759/430161.
- Boldrin, M., & Levine, D. K. (2013). The case against patents. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 27(1), 3–22. https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.27.1.3.
- Chen, C., Wu, H., & Lin, B. (2006). Evaluating the development of high-tech industries: Taiwan's science park. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 73(4), 452–465. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.techfore.2005.04.003.
- Eghbal, N. (2016). Roads and bridges: The Unseen labor behind our digital infrastructure. Ford Foundation. https://www.fordfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/roads-and-bridges-the-unseenlabor-behind-our-digital-infrastructure.pdf. Accessed 20 June 2024.
- Esteves, A. M., Genus, A., Henfrey, T., Penha-Lopes, G., & East, M. (2021). Sustainable entrepreneurship and the Sustainable Development Goals: Community-led initiatives, the social solidarity economy and commons ecologies. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 30(3), 1423–1435. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.2706.
- Farritor, S. (2017). University-based makerspaces: A source of innovation. *Technology & Innovation*, 19(1), 389–395. https://doi.org/10.21300/19.1.2017.389.
- Fawns, T. (2019). Postdigital Education in Design and Practice. Postdigital Science and Education, 1(1), 132–145. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42438-018-0021-8.
- Forsler, I., Bardone, E., & Forsman, M. (2024). The Future Postdigital Classroom. *Postdigital Science and Education*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42438-024-00488-y.
- Frischmann, B. M. (2012). Infrastructure: The social value of shared resources. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Gagliardi, D., Psarra, F., Wintjes, R., Trendafili, K., Pineda Mendoza, J., Haaland, K., Turkeli, S., Giotitsas, C., Pazaitis, A., & Niglia, F. (2020). New Technologies and Digitisation: Opportunities and Challenges for The Social Economy and Social Enterprises. Brussels: European Commission. http://www.socialenterprisebsr.net/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/New-technologies-anddigitisation-opportunities-and-challenges-for-the-SE_ENG.pdf. Accessed 20 June 2024.
- Giotitsas, C. (2019). Open source agriculture: Grassroots technology in the digital era. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29341-3.
- Goodyear, P. (2022). Realising the good university: Social innovation, care, design justice and educational infrastructure. *Postdigital Science and Education*, 4(1), 33–56. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42438-021-00253-5.
- Gorz, A. (1968). Reform and revolution. Socialist Register, 5(5), 111-143.
- Green, B. (2021). Virtue Signaling: Problematizing Creative Labor Within Knowledge Socialism. *Postdigital Science and Education*, 3(3), 870–892. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42438-021-00231-x.
- Hayes, S. (2023). Postdigital Positionality. In P. Jandrić (Ed.), Encyclopaedia of Postdigital Science and Education. Cham: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-35469-4_35-1.

- Hobbs, K. G., Link, A. N., & Scott, J. T. (2017). Science and technology parks: an annotated and analytical literature review. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 42, 957–976. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-016-9522-3.
- Jandrić, P. (2023a). Postdigital. In P. Jandrić (Ed.), *Encyclopaedia of Postdigital Science and Education*. Cham: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-35469-4_23-1.
- Jandrić, P. (2023b). Postdigital human capital. International Journal of Educational Research, 119, 102182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2023.102182.
- Jandrić, P. (2024). On The Hyping of Scholarly Research (With A Shout-Out to ChatGPT). *Postdigital Science and Education*, 6(2), 383–390. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42438-023-00402-y.
- Jandrić, P., Knox, J., Besley, T., Ryberg, T., Suoranta, J., & Hayes, S. (2018). Postdigital science and education. *Educational philosophy and theory*, 50(10), 893–899. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131857. 2018.1454000.
- Jandrić, P., Ryberg, T., Knox, J., Lacković, N., Hayes, S., Suoranta, J., Smith, M., Steketee, A., Peters, M. A., McLaren, P., Ford, D. R., Asher, G., McGregor, C., Stewart, G., Williamson, B., & Gibbons, A. (2019). Postdigital Dialogue. *Postdigital Science and Education*, 1(1), 163–189. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s42438-018-0011-x.
- Kallis, G., Kostakis, V., Lange, S., Muraca, B., Paulson, S., & Schmelzer, M. (2018). Research on degrowth. Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 43(1), 291–316. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev-environ-102017-025941.
- Kostakis, V., & Roos, A. (2018). New technologies won't reduce scarcity, but here's something that might. Harvard Business Review, 6 January. https://hbr.org/2018/06/new-technologies-wont-reducescarcity-but-heres-something-that-might. Accessed 20 June 2024.
- Kostakis, V., Latoufis, K., Liarokapis, M., & Bauwens, M. (2018). The convergence of digital commons with local manufacturing from a degrowth perspective: Two illustrative cases. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 197, 1684–1693. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.09.077.
- Kostakis, V., Niaros, V., & Giotitsas, C. (2023a). Beyond global versus local: illuminating a cosmolocal framework for convival technology development. *Sustainability Science*, 18(5), 2309–2322. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11625-023-01378-1.
- Kostakis, V., Pazaitis, A., & Liarokapis, M. (2023b). Beyond high-tech versus low-tech: A tentative framework for sustainable urban data governance. *Big Data & Society*, *10*(1). https://doi.org/10. 1177/20539517231180583.
- Kostakis, V., & Tsiouris, N. (2024). How to unite local initiatives for a more sustainable global future. *Sustainable Futures*, 7, 100187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sftr.2024.100187.
- Lange, S., Pohl, J., & Santarius, T. (2020). Digitalization and energy consumption. Does ICT reduce energy demand?. *Ecological Economics*, 176, 106760. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2020.106760.
- Laspia, A., Sansone, G., Landoni, P., Racanelli, D., & Bartezzaghi, E. (2021). The organization of innovation services in science and technology parks: Evidence from a multi-case study analysis in Europe. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 173, 121095. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techf ore.2021.121095.
- Lau, A. K.W. & Lo, W. (2015). Regional innovation system, absorptive capacity and innovation performance: An empirical study. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 92, 99–114. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.techfore.2014.11.005.
- Lecluyse, L., Knockaert, M., & Spithoven, A. (2019). The contribution of science parks: a literature review and future research agenda. *The Journal of Technology Transfer, 44*, 559–595. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-018-09712-x.
- Link, A. N. (2016). Competitive Advantages from University Research Parks. In D. B. Audretsch, A. N. Link, & M. L. Walshok (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Local Competitiveness* (pp. 337–344). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Macgilchrist, F. (2021). Theories of Postdigital Heterogeneity: Implications for Research on Education and Datafication. *Postdigital Science and Education*, 3(3), 660–667. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s42438-021-00232-w.
- Massey, D., & Wield, D. (2003). *High-tech fantasies: Science parks in society, science and space*. London: Routledge.
- Mora-Valentín, E. M., Ortiz-de-Urbina-Criado, M., & Nájera-Sánchez, J. J. (2018). Mapping the conceptual structure of science and technology parks. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 43(5), 1410–1435. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-018-9654-8.

- Ng, W. K. B., Appel-Meulenbroek, R., Cloodt, M., & Arentze, T. (2022). Exploring science park location choice: A stated choice experiment among Dutch technology-based firms. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 182, 121796. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2022.121796.
- Niaros, V., Kostakis, V., & Drechsler, W. (2017). Making (in) the smart city: The emergence of makerspaces. *Telematics and informatics*, 34(7), 1143–1152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2017.05. 004.
- Nuvolari, A., Verspagen, B., & Von Tunzelmann, N. (2011). The early diffusion of the steam engine in Britain, 1700–1800: a reappraisal. *Cliometrica*, 5, 291–321. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11698-011-0063-6.
- Pazaitis, A., & Drechsler, W. (2020). Peer production and state theory: Envisioning a cooperative partner state. In M. O'Neil, C. Pentzold, & S. Toupin (Eds.), *The handbook of peer production* (pp. 359–370). Wiley-Blackwell. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119537151.ch27.
- Pazaitis, A., & Kostakis, V. (2022). Are the most influential websites peer-produced or price-incentivized? Organizing value in the digital economy. *Organization*, 29(4), 757–769. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 13505084211020192.
- Pazaitis, A., Giotitsas, C., Savvides, L., & Kostakis, V. (2021). Do Patents Spur Innovation for Society? Lessons from 3D Printing. The Centre for Postcapitalist Civilisation, méta Working Papers. https://metacpc.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/12/7EN-mWP-3D-printing-Pazaitis-Giotitsas-Savvides-Kostakis.pdf. Accessed 20 June 2024.
- Pazaitis, A., Kostakis, V., & Bauwens, M. (2017). Digital economy and the rise of open cooperativism: the case of the Enspiral Network. *Transfer: European Review of Labour and Research*, 23(2), 177–192. https://doi.org/10.1177/1024258916683865.
- Poonjan, A., & Tanner, A.N. (2020). The role of regional contextual factors for science and technology parks: a conceptual framework. *European Planning Studies*, 28(2), 400–420. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/09654313.2019.1679093.
- Priavolou, C., Troullaki, K., Tsiouris, N., Giotitsas, C., & Kostakis, V. (2022). Tracing sustainable production from a degrowth and localisation perspective: A case of 3D printers. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 376, 134291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2022.134291.
- Ratinho, T., & Henriques, E. (2010). The role of science parks and business incubators in converging countries: Evidence from Portugal. *Technovation*, 30(4), 278–290. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. technovation.2009.09.002.
- Reilly, R. C. (2010). Participatory case study. In A. J. Mills, G. Durepos, & E. Wiebe (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of case study research* (pp. 658–660). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Robra, B., Pazaitis, A., Giotitsas, C., & Pansera, M. (2023). From creative destruction to convival innovation post-growth perspective. *Technovation*, 125, 102760. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techn ovation.2023.102760.
- Sandoval Hamón, L. A., Ruiz Peñalver, S. M., Thomas, E., & Fitjar, R. D. (2022). From high-tech clusters to open innovation ecosystems: a systematic literature review of the relationship between science and technology parks and universities. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10961-022-09990-6.
- Scholz, T., & Schneider, N. (Eds.). (2016). Ours to Hack and to Own: The Rise of Platform Cooperativism, A New Vision for the Future of Work and a Fairer Internet. New York: OR Books. https:// doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv62hfq7.
- Sinclair, C., & Hayes, S. (2019). Between the post and the com-post: examining the postdigital 'work' of a prefix. *Postdigital Science and Education*, 1(1), 119-131. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s42438-018-0017-4.
- Sofouli, E., & Vonortas, N. S. (2007). S&T Parks and business incubators in middle-sized countries: the case of Greece. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, *32*, 525–544. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-005-6031-1.
- Sovacool, B. K. (2019). The precarious political economy of cobalt: Balancing prosperity, poverty, and brutality in artisanal and industrial mining in the Democratic Republic of the Congo. *The Extractive Industries and Society*, 6(3), 915–939. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exis.2019.05.018.
- Sovacool, B. K., Hook, A., Martiskainen, M., Brock, A., & Turnheim, B. (2020). The decarbonisation divide: Contextualizing landscapes of low-carbon exploitation and toxicity in Africa. *Global Environmental Change*, 60, 102028. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2019.102028.
- Steruska, J., Simkova, N., & Pitner, T. (2019). Do science and technology parks improve technology transfer?. *Technology in Society*, 59, 101127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2019.04.003.

- Vaidyanathan, G. (2008). Technology parks in a developing country: the case of India. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 33, 285–299. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-007-9041-3.
- van Holm, E. J. (2017). Makerspaces and local economic development. Economic Development Quarterly, 31(2), 164–173. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891242417690604.
- Vásquez-Urriago, A. R., Barge-Gil, A., & Rico, A. M. (2016). Science and Technology Parks and cooperation for innovation: Empirical evidence from Spain. *Research Policy*, 45(1), 137–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2015.07.006.
- Vedovello, C. (1997). Science parks and university-industry interaction: geographical proximity between the agents as a driving force. *Technovation*, *17*(9), 491–531. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-4972(97) 00027-8.

Weber, S. (2004). The success of open source. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Xie, K., Song, Y., Zhang, W., Hao, J., Liu, Z., & Chen, Y. (2018). Technological entrepreneurship in science parks: A case study of Wuhan Donghu High-Tech Zone. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 135, 156–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2018.01.021.

Yin, R. K. (2009). Case study research: Design and methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Springer Nature or its licensor (e.g. a society or other partner) holds exclusive rights to this article under a publishing agreement with the author(s) or other rightsholder(s); author self-archiving of the accepted manuscript version of this article is solely governed by the terms of such publishing agreement and applicable law.

Curriculum vitae

Personal data

Name: Date of birth: Place of birth: Citizenship:	Nikiforos Tsiouris 16/08/1989 Ioannina, Greece Greek
Contact data	
E-mail:	nik.tsiouris@gmail.com
Education	
2020–2025	Tallinn University of Technology – PhD in Technology Governance
2010–2019	Aristotle University of Thessaloniki (AUTH) – Integrated MSc in Civil Engineering <i>Defended thesis</i> : Risk (cost and time-effective) analysis in the construction of underground metros. The case of Thessaloniki metro

Language competence

Greek	Native speaker
English	Fluent
Dutch	Fluent
Italian	Fluent

Professional employment

2019–2020

P2P Lab, Ioannina, Greece, Research Fellow / Project Manager

Elulookirjeldus

Isikuandmed

Nimi: Sünniaeg: Sünnikoht: Kodakondsus:	Nikiforos Tsiouris 16/08/1989 Ioannina, Kreeka Kreeka
Kontaktandmed	
E-post:	nik.tsiouris@gmail.com
Hariduskäik	
2020–2025	Tallinna Tehnikaülikool – Doktorikraad Tehnoloogia valitsemise erialal
2010–2019	Aristotelese Ülikool Thessaloniki – MSc Ehitusinseneerias <i>MSc lõputöö</i> : Riski (kulu- ja ajaefektiivne) analüüs maa-aluste metroode ehitamisel. Thessaloniki metroo juhtum

Keelteoskus

Kreeka keel	emakeel
Inglise keel	kõrgtase
Hollandi keel	kõrgtase
Itaalia keel	kõrgtase

Teenistuskäik

2019–2020	P2P Lab, Ioannina, Kreeka, Teadustöötaja / Projektijuht
-----------	---

ISSN 2585-6901 (PDF) ISBN 978-9916-80-245-8 (PDF)